2 2

**VOLUME XII, 1960** 

WITH THE

**TRANSACTIONS** 

OF THE

BRITISH PHARMACEUTICAL CONFERENCE

HELD AT

NEWCASTLE UPON TYNE SEPTEMBER 5 to 9, 1960

LONDON: THE PHARMACEUTICAL PRESS 17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, W.C.1

> งเล่นสมร้องสมุล สถาบิทยาตาสตร้ กระนรวจรุตธรรกรรม

•

Editor:

#### G. Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

Assistant Editor:

J. R. Fowler, B.Pharm., F.P.S.

#### EDITORIAL BOARD

H. TREVES BROWN, B.SC., F.P.S., K. BULLOCK, M.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., J. W. FAIRBAIRN, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. E. FOSTER, B.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., F. HARTLEY, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., E. F. HERSANT, B.Pharm., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., W. H. LINNELL, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., A. D. MACDONALD, M.D., M.A., M.SC., A. MCCOUBREY, B.SC., Ph.D., M.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. PATERSON, M.SC., Ph.D., L. SAUNDERS, D.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., E. SHOTTON, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. F. SOMERS, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., J. B. STENLAKE, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., R. E. STUCKEY, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S. SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C.

Editor: George Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

Assistant Editor: J. R. Fowler, B.Pharm., F.P.S.

Annual Subscription 63s. Single Copies 7s. 6d.

17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, LONDON, W.C.1

Telegrams: Pharmakon, Westcent, London Telephone: HOLborn 8967

Vol. XII No. 1

January 1960

PAGE

#### CONTENTS

**Review** Article

Chemical	Τr	ANSMISS	SION IN	THE	Centf	₹AL	Nervous	Systi	EM.	By J.	
Crosslan	ıd,	M.A.,	Ph.D.			• •					1

[Continued on page ii

## British Pharmaceutical Codex 1959

The seventh edition of the British Pharmaceutical Codex, published last month, provides the latest available information on the properties, standards, actions and uses, contraindications, dosage and formulation of nearly 1000 medicinal substances in current use.

There are 70 new monographs—78 new formulæ—3 new appendixes

The Codex has been compiled by the aid of ten committees and subcommittees on which over 100 experts in their particular spheres have served. In addition approximately 50 specialists have prepared and commented on proposed new and amended formulæ.

Pp. xxix+1301. Price 70s. (Packing and postage 2s. 6d., overseas 4s.)

THE PHARMACEUTICAL PRESS 17 Bloomsbury Square, London, W.C.1

January 1960

#### CONTENTS

#### **Research Papers**

Some DERIVATIVES AND ANALOGUES OF MEPHENESIN. By V. Petrow, O. Stephenson and A. M. Wild	37
THE PHARMACOLOGICAL PROPERTIES OF GLYCYRRHETINIC ACID HYDRO- GEN SUCCINATE (DISODIUM SALT). By R. S. H. Finney and A. L. Tárnoky	49
A NOTE ON THE REACTION OF MERCURIC CHLORIDE WITH BACTERIAL -SH GROUPS. By K. J. Steel	59
THE PHENOLIC ACIDS OF URINE—A STUDY OF METHYLATION.ByS. L. Tompsett	62

#### **EDITORIAL BOARD**

A. H. BECKETT, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., H. TREVES BROWN, B.Sc., F.P.S., K. BULLOCK, M.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., J. W. FAIRBAIRN, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.L.S., G. E. FOSTER, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., D. C. GARRATT, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., F. HARTLEY, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., E. F. HERSANT, B.Pharm., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., W. H. LINNELL, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., MARY F. LOCKETT, M.D., M.R.C.P., Ph.D., A. D. MACDONALD, M.D., M.A., M.Sc., G. PATERSON, M.Sc., Ph.D., F. A. ROBINSON, D.Sc., LL.B., F.R.I.C., L. SAUNDERS, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., E. SHOTTON, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. SYKES, M.Sc., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S. SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.Sc., F.P.S., F.R.I.C.

Editor: George Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

Assistant Editor: J. R. Fowler, B.Pharm., F.P.S.

Annual Subscription 63s. Single Copies 7s. 6d.

17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, LONDON, W.C.1

Telegrams: Pharmakon, Westcent, London Telephone: HOLborn 8967

Vol. XII No. 2

February 1960

#### CONTENTS

PAGE

#### **Research Papers**

Some Pharm	MACOLOGICAI	PROPERTIES	OF 5-CH	iloro 2,4-1	Disulpha	MYL	
TOLUNE '	"DISAMIDE"	AN ORALLY	Active	DIURETIC	Agent.	Ву	
A. David	and K. P. F	ellowes					65
POTENTIAL	Reservine	ANALOGUES.	PART	I. Der	IVATIVES	OF	
Τγγρταμι	NE. By M.	A. Karim, V	V. H. Li	innell and	L. K. Sł	narp	74

[Continued on page ii



### PARAHYDROXYBENZOATES

NIPAGIN · NIPASOL NIPACOMBIN · NIPABENZYL

NIPABUTYL · NIPASEPT · NIPA 64

NIPA ESTER Combination '82121'

Neutral Innocuous Preservatives Antiseptics

ESTERS

Prompt personal service always at your disposal.

NIPA LABORATORIES LTD Treforest Industrial Estate, Pontypridd, Glam. Telephone: Treforest 2128/9.

Sole Distributors for the U.K. P. Samuelson & Co., Roman Wall House, I, Crutched Friars, London, E.C.3. Tel: Royal 2117/8.

February 1960

#### CONTENTS

#### **Research Papers**—(continued)

POTENTIAL RESERPINE ANALOGUES. PART II. 3,4,5-TRIMETHOXY- BENZOIC ACID DERIVATIVES. By M. A. Karim, W. H. Linnell and	07
L. K. Sharp ELECTROCARDIOGRAPHIC CHANGES PRODUCED IN RABBITS BY VASO- PRESSIN (PITRESSIN) AND THEIR ALTERATION BY PROLONGED TREAT-	82
ESTERS OF N-METHYL PYRROLIDINYLALKANOLS AS LOCAL ANAESTHETICS. By W. H. Linnell and F. Perks	95
Observations on the Mechanism of Action of Tranquillisers— A Study of their Effect on Monoamine Oxidase, D- and L-Amino Acid Oxidases and Catalase. By B. C. Bose and R. Viiavvargiva	· <del>)</del> 9
THE DEVELOPMENT OF TOLERANCE TO MORPHINE IN RATS CON- CURRENTLY TREATED WITH CHLORPROMAZINE. By Irena M. Mazurkiewicz and F. C. Lu	103
On the Interfacial Tension Between Gelatin and Sodium Alginate Solutions and Benzene. Part I. Effect of Time and Concentration of Interfacial Tension. By E. Shotton and K. Kalyan	109
ON THE INTERFACIAL TENSION BETWEEN GELATIN AND SODIUM Alginate Solutions and Benzene. Part II. The Effect of the Relative Positions of the Two Phases on the Interfacial Tension By F. Shoulon and K. Kalvan	1.6
A STUDY OF BACTERIOLOGICAL MEDIA. THE EXAMINATION OF PROTEOSE-PEPTONE. By A. F. S. A. Habeeb	119
A NOTE ON THE COLORIMETRIC ASSAY OF CORTISONE AND HYDRO- CORTISONE. By (Miss) Sultana Ansari and Riaz Ahmad Khan	122
Pharmacopoeias and Formularies	
INTERNATIONAL PHARMACOPOEIA FIRST EDITION. SUPPLEMENT. Reviewed by K. R. Capper	126
Book Review	128

#### EDITORIAL BOARD

A. H. BECKETT, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., H. TREVES BROWN, B.SC., F.P.S., K. BULLOCK, M.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., J. W. FAIRBAIRN, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.L.S. G. E. FOSTER, B.SC., Ph.D., F.R.S., F.R.I.C., D. C. GARRATT, D.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., F. HARTLEY, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., E. F. HERSANT, B.Pharm., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., W. H. LINNELL, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., MARY F. LOCKETT, M.D., M.R.C.P., Ph.D., A. D. MACDONALD, M.D., M.SC., G. PATERSON, M.SC., Ph.D., F. A. ROBINSON, D.SC., LL.B., F.R.I.C., L. SAUNDERS, D.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., G. F. SOMERS, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., R. E. STUCKEY, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.Sc., F.P.S., F.R.I.C.

Editor: George Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

Assistant Editor: J. R. Fowler, B.Pharm., F.P.S.

Annual Subscription 63s. Single Copies 7s. 6d.

17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, LONDON, W.C.1

Telegrams: Pharmakon, Westcent, London Telephone: HOLborn 8967

Vol. XII No. 3

March 1960

#### CONTENTS

#### **Review** Article

[Continued on page ii



If you would like to know more about the pharmacological properties of this drug—it has important applications in general medicine, anaesthesia and psychiatry—write to us asking for the 'Largactil' Pharmacology Booklet.

We shall also be pleased to answer any enquiries or send you, free of charge, booklets on any other of our medical products in which you are interested.

MANUFACTURED BY



MAY & BAKER LTD

MA5803/120

An M&B brand Medical Product

DISTRIBUTORS: PHARMACEUTICAL SPECIALITIES (MAY & BAKER) LTD · DAGENHAM

March, 1960

#### CONTENTS

#### **Research Papers**

OF GLUCOSE BY MOUSE SKIN <i>in vitro</i> . By B. G. Overell, (Miss) S. E. Condon and V. Petrow	150
WATER-SOLUBLE CELLULOSE DERIVATIVES. USES AS PRIMARY EMULSI- FYING AGENTS. PART I. BY R. E. M. Davies and J. M. Rowson	154
ON THE PHARMACOLOGY OF PETALINE CHLORIDE, A CONVULSANT ALKALOID FROM <i>Leontice leontopetalum</i> LINN. By K. Ahmad and J. J. Lewis	163
POLAROGRAPHIC ESTIMATION OF AMPHENONE B AND SU 4885. By Luboš Stárka and Ivan Buben	175
Spasmolytic Esters of <i>N</i> -Substituted α-Aminophenylacetic Acids. By B. K. Edwards, A. A. Goldberg and A. H. Wragg	179
Pharmacopoeias and Formularies	
THE BRITISH PHARMACEUTICAL CODEX 1959. Reviewed by Edward G. Feldmann	187
Letters to the Editor	
THE PAIRED TRACHEAL CHAIN PREPARATION. By R. W. Foster	189
Relation Between Dispersibility and Adherence of Powdered Medicinal Substances in Liquid Medium. By H. Žáček	191

#### EDITORIAL BOARD

A. H. BECKETT, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., H. TREVES BROWN, B.Sc., F.P.S., K. BULLOCK, M.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., J. W. FAIRBAIRN, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.L.S., G. E. FOSTER, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., D. C. GARRATT, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., F. HARTLEY, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., E. F. HERSANT, B.Pharm., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., W. H. LINNELL, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., MARY F. LOCKETT, M.D., M.R.C.P., Ph.D., A. D. MACDONALD, M.D., M.A., M.Sc., G. PATERSON, M.Sc., Ph.D., F. A. ROBINSON, D.Sc., LL.B., F.R.I.C., L. SAUNDERS, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., E. SHOTTON, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. SYKES, M.Sc., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S. SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.Sc., F.P.S., F.R.I.C.

PAGE

1

Editor: George Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

Assistant Editor: J. R. Fowler, B.Pharm., F.P.S.

Annual Subscription 63s. Single Copies 7s. 6d.

17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, LONDON, W.C.1.

Telegrams: Pharmakon, Westcent, London. Telephone: HOLborn 8967

Vol. XII No. 4

April 1960

#### CONTENTS

#### **Review** Article

MOLECULAR SIZE AND	SHAPE	. A Re	VIEW (	of the Li	GHT-SCAT	TERING	
Method Applied	TO SOM	іе Імроб	RTANT	BIOLOGIC	AL AND	OTHER	
Macromolecules.	Part	II. By	N. F	Robinson,	M.Sc.,	Ph.D.,	
A.R.I.C							193



April. 1960

#### CONTENTS

#### **Research Papers**

POUNDS. PART V. QUANTITATIVE ASPECTS OF THE ANTAGONISM OF THE ANTIBACTERIAL ACTION OF MERCURIC CHLORIDE. By A. M. Cook and K. J. Steel	2
THE STABILITY OF OILY CREAM B.P. By E. W. Clark and G. F. Kitchen	7
A NOTE ON AUTOXIDATION AND ITS INHIBITION IN WOOL ALCOHOLS B.P. By E. W. Clark and G. F. Kitchen	-
WATER-SOLUBLE CELLULOSE DERIVATIVES. USES AS PRIMARY EMULSI- FYING AGENTS. PART II. BY R. E. M. Davies and J. M. Rowson	-
A NOTE ON CORIANDER OF COMMERCE. By Douglas C. Harrod	2
Book Reviews	
Letters to the Editor	
ANALGESIC-ANTIPVRETICS. By S. S. Adams	
THE SEPARATION OF MIXED PHOSPHATIDES. By J. Perrin and L. SAUNDERS	
The Separation of Mined Phosphatides. By J. Pertin and L. Saunders	

#### EDITORIAL BOARD

A. H. BECKETT, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., H. TREVES BROWN, B.SC., F.P.S., K. BULLOCK, M.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., J. W. FAIRBAIRN, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.I.S., G. E. FOSTER, B.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., D. C. GARRATT, D.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., F. HARTLEY, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., E. F. HERSANT, B.Pharm., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., W. H. LINNELL, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., MARY F. LOCKETT, M.D., M.R.C.P., Ph.D., A. D. MACDONALD, M.D., M.A., M.SC., G. PATERSON, M.SC., Ph.D., F. A. ROBINSON, D.Sc., LL.B., F.R.I.C., L. SAUNDERS, D.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., E. SHOTTON, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. SYKES, M.Sc., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.Sc., F.P.S., F.R.I.C.

Editor: George Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

Assistant Editor: J. R. Fowler, B.Pharm., F.P.S.

Annual Subscription 63s. Single Copies 7s. 6d.

17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, LONDON, W.C.1.

Telegrams: Pharmakon, Westcent, London. Telephone: HOLborn 8967

Vol. XII No. 5

May 1960

#### CONTENTS

#### **Review Article**

[Continued on page ii

#### REPRINTS

Medical Knowledge of William Shakespeare (1951), S. Alstead, 1s.
Modern Apparatus for Sterilisation (1955), J. H. Bowie, 2s. 6d.
Etnylene and Propylene Glycols(1951), J. Rae, 2s. 6d.
Development of Veterinary Pharmaccutics (1954), A. G. Fishburn and C. F. Abbott, 2s. 6d.
Pharmacy and Therapeutics in the Age of Elizabeth I (1953), E. Ashworth Underwood, 2s. 6d.
Pharmacy and Medicine in Old Edinburgh (1953), C. G. Drummond, 2s. 6d.
Assay and Detection of Pyrogens (1954) A Symposium, 3s. 6d.
Vessels for Apothecaries (1953), A. Lothian, 2s. 6d.
All Reprints are sent Post Free
THE PHARMACEUTICAL PRESS 17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE,

LONDON, W.C.1

#### \_GRIFFIN\_

Established in 1820

PASCALINE DAUDEL Chargée de Recherches Radium Institute, Paris

#### RADIOACTIVE TRACERS IN CHEMISTRY AND INDUSTRY

Translated by ULLI EISNER, Ph.D., D.I.C.

This English version of Mme Daudel's monograph-specially revised and enlarged for publication in this country-meets the need for an introductory text. Aspects of the subject discussed include the preparation of radio-indicators, their use in investigating the mechanism of chemical reactions, and their special advantages in chemical analysis on a micro scale. Send for Prospectus

212 pages. Very full bibliographies. 30 diagrams, 9 tables and 3 plates. Price 36s. net. Postage 1s. CHARLES GRIFFIN & CO LTD

42 DRURY LANE WC2

#### CONTENTS

Research Papers	
THE CRITICAL MICELLE CONCENTRATION OF CETOMACROGOL 1000. ByP. H. Elworthy	293
GLYCYRRHETINIC ACID—A TRITERPENE WITH ANTI-OESTROGENIC AND Anti-Inflammatory Activity. By Shirley D. Kraus	300
THE CONTRIBUTION OF SURFACE CHARACTERS TO THE WETTABILITY OF LEAVES. By S. B. Challen	307
Toxic Actions of Oestrogens on the Liver. By Judith Kulcsár- Gergely and Andrós Kulcsár	312
Preliminary Chemical Investigations on Some Indian Substitutes of Male Fern. By T. C. Mittal and P. N. Mehra	317
Book Review	320

#### **EDITORIAL BOARD**

A. H. BECKETT, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., H. TREVES BROWN, B.Sc., F.P.S., K. BULLOCK, M.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., J. W. FAIRBAIRN, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.L.S., G. E. FOSTER, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., D. C. GARRATT, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., F. HARTLEY, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., E. F. HERSANT, B.Pharm., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., W. H. LINNELL, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., MARY F. LOCKETT, M.D., M.R.C.P., Ph.D., A. D. MACDONALD, M.D., M.A., M.Sc., G. PATERSON, M.Sc., Ph.D., F. A. ROBINSON, D.Sc., LL.B., F.R.I.C., L. SAUNDERS, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., E. SHOTTON, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. F. SUCKEY, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. SYKES, M.Sc., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.Sc., F.P.S., F.R.I.C.

Editor: George Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S. Assistant Editor: J. R. Fowler, B.Pharm., F.P.S.

Annual Subscription 63s. Single Copies 7s. 6d.

17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, LONDON, W.C.1.

Telegrams: Pharmakon, Westcent, London. Telephone: HOLborn 8967

Vol. XII No. 6

June 1960

#### CONTENTS

Review Article				
TOXICOLOGICAL ANALYSIS.	By A. S. Curry, M.A., Ph.D.	•••		321

[Continued on page ii



#### CONTENTS

#### PAGE

#### **Research Papers**

The Oxidation of Solubilised and Emulsified Oils. Part II. Solubility of Benzaldehyde, Cyclohexene and Methyl Lino- leate in Potassium Laurate and Cetomacrogol Solutions. By J. E. Carless and J. R. Nixon	340
THE OXIDATION OF EMULSIFIED AND SOLUBILISED OILS. PART III. THE OXIDATION OF METHYL LINOLEATE IN POTASSIUM LAURATE AND CETOMACROGOL DISPERSIONS. By J. E. Carless and J. R. Nixon	348
A NOTE ON THE PRESENCE OF NORADRENALINE AND 5-HYDROXYTRYPT- AMINE IN PLANTAIN ( <i>Musa sapientum</i> , var. <i>Paradisiaca</i> ). By J. M. Foy and J. R. Parratt	360
Phytolacca acinosa Roxb., An Adulterant of Indian Belladonna. By K. L. Khanna and C. K. Atal	365
THERMAL STABILITY OF INSULIN MADE FROM ZINC INSULIN CRYSTALS. By N. R. Stephenson and R. G. Romans	372
A NOTE ON ROYAL JELLY. A CRITICAL EVALUATION. By A. D. Dayan	377
Book Review	384

#### EDITORIAL BOARD

A. H. BECKETT, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., H. TREVES BROWN, B.Sc., F.P.S., K. BULLOCK, M.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., J. W. FAIRBAIRN, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.I.S., G. E. FOSTER, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., D. C. GARRATT, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., F. HARTLEY, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., E. F. HERSANT, B.Pharm., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., W. H. LINNELL, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., MARY F. LOCKETT, M.D., M.R.C.P., Ph.D., A. D. MACDONALD, M.D., M.A., M.Sc., G. PATERSON, M.Sc., Ph.D., F. A. ROBINSON, D.Sc., LL.B., F.R.I.C., L. SAUNDERS, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., E. SHOTTON, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. SYKES, M.Sc., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. SYKES, M.SC., F.R.I.C., G. F. P. LOCKET, B. MACHANG, D.S., F.R.I.C., G. F. SOMERS, D.SC., P. D., F.P.S., B.SC., PH.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., MARY F. LOCKEY, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., M.S., F.R.I.C., G. SYKES, M.SC., F.R.I.C., G. F.F., F.F., F.F., S.R. F.F., S.R. F.F., S.R. F.F.S., F.R.I.C., M.S., F.R.I.C., G. F.F.S., F.R.I.C., G. F.F.S., F.R.I.C., G. START, B.S., F.R.I.C., F.F.F., F.F.S., F.F., S.R. F.F.S., F.R.I.C., G. START, B.S., F.R.I.C., F.F., F.F.S., F.F.S

SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.Sc., F.P.S., F.R.I.C.

Editor: George Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

Assistant Editor: J. R. Fowler, B.Pharm., F.P.S.

Annual Subscription 63s. Single Copies 7s. 6d.

17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, LONDON, W.C.1

Telegrams: Pharmakon, Westcent, London. Telephone: HOLborn 8967

Vol. XII No. 7

July 1960

PAGE

#### **CONTENTS**

#### **Research Papers**

THE INTERACTION OF CHELATING AGENTS WITH BACTERIA. PART II. CATION BINDING AND THE ANTIBACTERIAL EFFECTS OF 8-HYDROXY-QUINOLINE (OXINE). BY ANN E. Robinson, A. H. Beckett and R. N. Dar 385

The Synthesis of Some Potential Antimetabolites of Phenylalanine. Part II. The Synthesis of Some  $\beta\beta$ -Dialkyl- $\alpha$ -Aminopropionic Acids. By B. J. Meakin, F. R. Mumford and E. R. Ward 400

[Continued on page ii

## BRITISH NATIONAL ----FORMULARY

#### **Alternative Edition**

In this edition the formulæ are grouped under the pharmacological action of the ingredients and preceding each group is a description of the action and uses of the drugs included in the section. Much of this information is additional to that given in the Standard Edition.

Pp. 292

Price 8s. (postage 9d.)

Interleaved copies 12s. 6d. (postage 1s.)

The Pharmaceutical Press (Joint Publishers with the British Medical Association)

17 Bloomsbury Square, London W.C.1

#### CONTENTS

	PAGE
Research Papers—continued	
THE EFFECT OF CORTICOSTEROID ANALOGUES ON THE THYMUS GLAND OF THE IMMATURE RAT. By N. R. Stephenson	411
The Importance of the 19-Methyl and the C(20)Ketone Groups for the Thymolytic Activity of the Adrenocortical Steroids. By N. R. Stephenson	416
<ul> <li>STUDIES IN THE FIELD OF DIURETIC DRUGS. PART II. 5-CHLORO-2,4- DISULPHAMYLTOLUENE (DISULPHAMIDE). By B. G. Boggiano, (Miss)</li> <li>S. Condon, M. T. Davies, G. B. Jackman, B. G. Overell, V. Petrow, O. Stephenson and A. M. Wild</li> </ul>	419
A NOTE ON THE INFLUENCE OF ULTRASONIC VIBRATIONS ON PYROGEN MATERIALS IN DISTILLED WATER. By A. M. Marčetić, D. M. Živanović, K. B. Velašević and O. S. Vitorović	426
EFFECTS OF GIBBERELLIC ACID ON THE GROWTH AND ALKALOIDAL CONTENT OF Datura stramonium L. By F. Fish	428
New Apparatus	
A CONTINUOUS EXTRACTOR FOR USE IN TOXICOLOGICAL ANALYSIS. By A. S. Curry and S. E. Phang	437
Pharmacopoeias and Formularies	
BRITISH VETERINARY CODEX SUPPLEMENT 1959. Reviewed by Alastair	
N. Worden	442
Book Reviews	443
Letters to the Editor A Simple Device for Testing the Spreadability of Pharmaceutical	_
SUSPENSIONS FOR EXTERNAL USE. By H. Žáček	445
THE CRITICAL MICELLE CONCENTRATION OF POLYETHYLENEGLYCOL- MONOCETYLETHER. By W. B. Hugo and J. M. Newton	. 447

#### EDITORIAL BOARD

A. H. BECKETT, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., H. TREVES BROWN, B.Sc., F.P.S., K. BULLOCK, M.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., J. W. FAIRBAIRN, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.L.S., G. E. FOSTER, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., D. C. GARRATT, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., F. HARTLEY, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., E. F. HERSANT, B.Pharm., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., W. H. LINNELL, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., MARY F. LOCKETT, M.D., M.R.C.P., Ph.D., A. D. MACDONALD, M.D., M.A., M.Sc., G. PATERSON, M.Sc., Ph.D., F. A. ROBINSON, D.Sc., LL.B., F.R.I.C., L. SAUNDERS, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., E. SHOTTON, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. SYKES, M.Sc., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.Sc., F.P.S., F.R.I.C.

Editor: George Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

Assistant Editor: J. R. Fowler, B.Pharm., F.P.S.

Annual Subscription 63s. Single Copies 7s. 6d.

17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, LONDON, W.C.1

Telegrams: Pharmakon, Westcent, London. Telephone: HOLborn 8967

Vol. XII No. 8

August 1960

#### CONTENTS

#### **Research Papers**

ANALGESIC PROPERTIES OF 4-ETHOXYCARBONYL-1-(2-HYDROXY-3-PHENOXYPROPYL)4-PHENYLPIPERIDINE (B.D.H. 200) AND SOME RELATED COMPOUNDS. By Camillo Bianchi and Alan David ... 449

[Continued on page ii

#### THE PHARMACEUTICAL POCKET BOOK

Seventeenth Edition, 1960

The major aim of the extensive revision shown in the new edition of the Pharmaceutical Society's Pocket Book has been to increase its usefulness to pharmacists in the day-to-day practice of their profession.

All the material which has been retained has been brought up to date, and in many cases re-arranged and re-written.

For the student the book provides a useful introduction to the fundamental principles and technical activities on which the practice of pharmacy is based.

Pp. xii + 576 Price 30s. (postage 1s. 3d. overseas 2s. 3d.) (Remittance with order is requested)

#### THE PHARMACEUTICAL PRESS

17, Bloomsbury Square, London, W.C.1

#### CONTENTS

#### PAGE

#### **Research Papers**—continued

The use of S-Alkyl-N-Phenylthiuronium Picrates, Styphnates and Picrolonates for the Characterisation of Alkyl Halides. By J. Thomas and W. A. Baker	460
An Ultra-violet Spectrophotometric Method for the Determina- tion of Picrate, Styphnate and Picrolonate in S-Alkyl-N- Phenylthiuronium Salts. By J. Thomas and W. A. Baker	466
ANATOMICAL STUDIES IN THE GENUS <i>Rubus</i> . PART III. THE ANATOMY OF THE LEAF OF <i>Rubus loganobaccus</i> L. H. BAILEY. By K. R. Fell and J. M. Rowson	473
A STUDY OF THE TOXICITY OF SULPHITE. I. By Mary F. Lockett and I. L. Natoff	488
STUDIES IN THE FIELD OF DIURETICS. PART III. SOME SYMMETRICAL BENZENE-1,3-DISULPHONALKYLAMIDES. By B. G. Boggiano, V. Petrow, O. Stephenson and A. M. Wild	497
The Anticonvulsant Properties of 2-Methyl-3- <i>p</i> -Bromophenyl- 3 <i>H</i> -4-Quinazolone Hydrochloride (B.D.H. 1880) and some Related Compounds. By Camillo Bianchi and Alan David	501
AN INVESTIGATION OF THE ALKALOIDS OF SOME BRITISH SPECIES OF <i>Equisetum.</i> By J. D. Phillipson and C. Melville	506
New Apparatus	
A Two-Stage Micro-Evaporator. By E. G. C. Clarke and A. E. Hawkins	509
Book Review	512

#### EDITORIAL BOARD

H. TREVES BROWN, B.SC., F.P.S., K. BULLOCK, M.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., J. W. FAIRBAIRN, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.L.S., F.R.I.C., G. E. FOSTER, B.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., F. HARTLEY, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., E. F. HERSANT, F.Pharm., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., W. H. LINNELL, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., A. D. MACDONALD, M.D., M.A., M.SC., A. MCCOUBREY, B.SC., Ph.D., M.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. PATERSON, M.SC., Ph.D., L. SAUNDERS, D.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., E. SHOTTON, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., R. E. STUCKEY, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S. SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. SUKES, M.SC., PH.D., F.P.S., S. SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., C. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., C. SUKES, M.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., C. SUKES, B.SC., SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., C. SUKES, M.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., C. SUKES, M.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., C. SUKES, B.SC., SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., C. SUKES, M.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., SUKES, M.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., C. SUKES, M.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., SUKES, F.R.S., F.R.S., F.R.S., F.R.S., F.R.S., SUKES, F.R.S., SUKES, F.R.S., F.R.S., F.R.S., SUKES, F.

Editor: George Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

Assistant Editor: J. R. Fowler, B.Pharm., F.P.S.

Annual Subscription 63s. Single Copies 7s. 6d.

17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, LONDON, W.C.1

Telegrams: Pharmakon, Westcent, London. Telephone: HOLborn 8967

Vol. XII No. 9

September 1960

#### CONTENTS

**Research** Papers

CHROMATOGRAPHIC STUDIES OF THE EFFECT OF INTRAVENOUS INJEC-TIONS OF TYRAMINE ON THE CONCENTRATIONS OF ADRENALINE AND NORADRENALINE IN PLASMA. By Mary F. Lockett and K. E. Eakins 513 [Continued on page ii]



ointments and pharmaceutical-medicinal preparations.

We shall be happy to send you full technical details on request.



Sole Distributors for the United Kingdom: P. SAMUELSON & CO., Roman Wall House, I Crutched Friars, E.C.3. Telephone: Royal 2117/8.

#### CONTENTS

#### **Research Papers**—continued

INTERMEDIATES FOR THE SYNTHESIS OF ANALOGUES OF ADRENAL CORTICAL HORMONES, By L. E. Coles, V. S. Gandhi and D. W.	
Mathieson	518
A TECHNIQUE FOR THE EVALUATION OF EMULSION STABILITY. By Witold Saski and Marvin H. Malone	523
Some 2.3-DISUBSTITUTED 3 <i>H</i> -4-QUINAZOLONES AND 3 <i>H</i> -4-THIOQUIN- AZOLONES. By G. B. Jackman, V. Petrow and O. Stephenson	529
THE INFLUENCE OF SEX ON THE CATABOLISM OF GRISEOFULVIN. By Dorothy Busfield, K. J. Child, B. Basil and E. G. Tomich	539
The Colorimetric Determination of Santonin in Artemisia. By Riaz Ahmed Khan and Hasan Mohiuddin	544
MEVALONIC ACID AS A PRECURSOR IN THE BIOGENESIS OF DIGITOXI- GENIN. By Egil Ramstad and Jack L. Beal	552
THE BIOLOGICAL ASSAY OF <i>RAUWOLFIA SCHUELI</i> . By Martha Cabut, George L. Saiger and Juan Carlos Fasciolo	557
ISOTONICITY OF FRUCTOSE, GALACTOSE AND MANNOSE SOLUTIONS. By E. Menczel, M. Rabinovitz and Y. Goldberg	562
A PHYTOCHEMICAL SURVEY OF THE HONG KONG MEDICINAL PLANTS. By H. R. Arthur and H. T. Cheung	567
New Apparatus	
A DIFFUSION CELL FOR THE PRODUCTION OF VERY SHARP BOUNDARIES. By P. H. Elworthy	571
Book Review	576

#### **EDITORIAL BOARD**

H. TREVES BROWN, B.SC., F.P.S., K. BULLOCK, M.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., J. W. FAIRBAIRN, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.L.S., F.R.I.C., G. E. FOSTER, B.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., F. HARTLEY, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., E. F. HERSANT, B.Pharm., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., W. H. LINNELL, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., A. D. MACDONALD, M.D., M.A., M.SC., A. MCCOUBREY, B.SC., Ph.D., M.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. PATERSON, M.SC., Ph.D., L. SAUNDERS, D.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., E. SHOTTON, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., R. E. STUCKEY, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S. SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., S., F.R.I.C., SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C.

Editor: George Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

Assistant Editor: J. R. Fowler, B.Pharm., F.P.S.

Annual Subscription 63s. Single Copies 7s. 6d.

17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, LONDON, W.C.1

Telegrams: Pharmakon, Westcent, London. Telephone: HOLborn 8967

Vol. XII No. 10

October 1960

#### **CONTENTS**

Review Article					PAGE
THE CHOLINERGIC RECEPTOR.	By Peter G. Waser	•••	• •	• •	577

**Research** Papers

THE IMPORTANCE OF EXTINCTION RATIOS IN THE SPECTROPHOTOMETRIC ANALYSIS OF MIXTURES OF TWO KNOWN ABSORBING SUBSTANCES. By A. L. Glenn ... 595 . . . .

[Continued on page ii

### General Medical Council ADDENDUM 1960

to the

#### BRITISH PHARMACOPIEIA 1958

Publication date, October 3, 1960

Official from March 1, 1961

The Addendum contains important amendments to the British Pharmacopœia 1958, and 49 new monographs on drugs including antibiotics, immunological products, corticotrophin and other hormone preparations, antineoplastic agents and various synthetic drugs. There are also monographs on tablets and injections of the drugs. Postage 1s. (overseas 1s. 10d.)

Pages xxi - 83

Price 30s. net

Price 63s. net

×

×

¥

×

Postage 2s. 3d. (overseas 4s.)

#### × BRITISH PHARMACOPŒIA 1958

Pages xxvi + 1012

1

Published for the

General Medical Council

By THE PHARMACEUTICAL PRESS, 17 Bloomsbury Square, London, W.C.1

#### CONTENTS

Research Papers—(continued)	
	PAGE
Surface Interaction of Lecithin and Lysolecithin. By N. Robinson	609
FURTHER STUDIES ON THE BIOSYNTHESIS OF 5-HYDROXYTRYPTAMINE. By Shirley A. P. Price and G. B. West	617
THE COLORIMETRIC DETERMINATION OF PHENACETIN IN TABLET MIX- TURES. By Lee Kum-Tatt and Chan Chian-Seng	624
DETERMINATION OF XENOPUS INDEX AND HAEMOLYTIC INDEX IN FRUITS OF Sapindus mukorossi GAERTN. (SAPINDACEAE) AND THE SEEDS OF Entada scandens BENTH. (MIMOSACEAE). By Marthe Blyberg	631
Pharmacopoeias and Formularies	
THE PHARMACOPEIA OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA. SIXTEENTH REVISION. Reviewed by A. D. Macdonald	635
Book Review	637
Letters to the Editor	
EFFECTS OF GENTISATE ON THE URINARY EXCRETION OF SALICYLATE IN THE RAT. By M. J. H. Smith, M. Sandiford and V. Moses	638
New Possibilities for the Biological Assay of Digitalis. By V. Kuševič and J. Petrićić	639

#### **EDITORIAL BOARD**

H. TREVES BROWN, B.Sc., F.P.S., K. BULLOCK, M.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., J. W. FAIRBAIRN, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. E. FOSTER, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., F. HARTLEY, B.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., E. F. HERSANT, B.Pharm., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., W. H. LINNELL, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., A. D. MACDONALD, M.D., M.A., M.Sc., A. MCCOUBREY, B.Sc., Ph.D., M.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. PATERSON, M.Sc., Ph.D., L. SAUNDERS, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., J. B. STENLAKE, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., R. E. STUCKEY, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S. SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.Sc., F.P.S., F.R.I.C.

Editor: George Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

Assistant Editor: J. R. Fowler, B.Pharm., F.P.S.

Annual Subscription 63s. Single Copies 7s. 6d.

17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, LONDON, W.C.1

Telegrams: Pharmakon, Westcent, London. Telephone: HOLborn 8967

Vol. XII No. 11

November 1960

#### CONTENTS

#### **Research** Papers

PAGE

[Continued on page ii



We shall be happy to send you full technical details on request.

Sole Distributors for the United Kingdom: P. SAMUELSON & CO., LTD. Roman Wall House, I Crutched Friars, E.C.3. Telephone: Royal 2117/8.

PAGE

#### CONTENTS

#### Research Papers-(continued)

STUDIES IN THE FIELD OF DIURETICS. PART IV. THE CONDENSATION OF SOME HALOGENO-2,4-DISULPHAMYLBENZENE DERIVATIVES WITH BASIC REAGENTS. By G. B. Jackman, V. Petrow, O. Stephenson and A. M. Wild	648
THE EFFECT OF PYROGEN FROM <i>E. coli</i> ON THE ACTIVITY OF SUCCINIC ACID DEHYDROGENASE IN LIVER MITOCHONDRIA. By Jan Venulet and Anna Desperak-Naciazek	656
THE ANTI-INFLAMMATORY ACTION OF GRISEOFULVIN IN EXPERIMENTAL ANIMALS. By P. F. D'Arcy, E. M. Howard, P. W. Muggleton and Shirley B. Townsend	659
THE IDENTIFICATION AND DETERMINATION OF NITROGENOUS ORGANIC BASES WITH AMMONIUM REINECKATE. By Lee Kum-Tatt	666
Some Observations on the Pharmacology of 10-Methoxydeserpi- dine. By B. J. Mir and J. J. Lewis	677
MICELLAR SIZE AND SURFACE ACTIVITY OF SOME $C_{18} \alpha$ -Monoglycerides in Benzene. By N. Robinson	685
THE ABSORPTION AND ELIMINATION OF METABISULPHITE AND THIOSUL- PHATE BY RATS. By B. Bhaghat and Mary F. Lockett	690
A NOTE ON SODIUM SALICYLATE AND TISSUE 5-HYDROXYTRYPTAMINE IN THE RAT. By M. Medaković and B. Radmanović	695
STABILITY OF ATROPINE SOLUTIONS: BIOLOGICAL AND CHEMICAL ASSAYS. By F. C. Lu and B. C. W. Hummel	698
Book Review	703
CLAUDOGENS—A NEW TERM FOR ANTIFERTILITY STEROIDS. By V. Petrow	704

#### EDITORIAL BOARD

H. TREVES BROWN, B.SC., F.P.S., K. BULLOCK, M.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., J. W. FAIRBAIRN, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.L.S., F.R.I.C., G. E. FOSTER, B.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., F. HARTLEY, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., E. F. HERSANT, B.Fharm., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., W. H. LINNELL, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., A. D. MACDONALD, M.D., M.A., M.SC., A. MCCOUBREY, B.SC., Ph.D., M.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. PATERSON, M.SC., Ph.D., L. SAUNDERS, D.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., E. SHOTTON, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. F. SOMERS, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., J. B. STENLAKE, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., R. E. STUCKEY, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S. SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C.

Editor: George Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S.

Assistant Editor: J. R. Fowler, B. Pharm., F.P.S.

Annual Subscription 63s. Single Copies 7s. 6d.

17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, LONDON, W.C.1

Telegrams: Pharmakon, Westcent, London. Telephone: HOLborn 8967

#### Vol. XII No. 12

December 1960

#### CONTENTS

#### **Research Papers**

 STUDIES IN THE FIELD OF DIURETIC AGENTS.
 PART V. A New Route

 to Disulp namyl Derivatives of Benzene.
 By V. Petrow, O. Stephenson and A. M. Wild

 son and A. M. Wild
 ...
 ...
 ...
 705

 [Continued on page ii



ointments and pharmaceutical-medicinal preparations.

We shall be happy to send you full technical details on request.

Sole Distributors for the United Kingdom: P. SAMUELSON & CO., LTD. Roman Wall House, | Crutched Friars, E.C.3. Telephone: Royal 2117/8.

December 1960

PAGE

#### CONTENTS

Research Papers—continued	
THE RELEASE OF SYMPATHETIC AMINES BY TYRAMINE FROM THE AORTIC WALLS OF CATS. By Mary F. Lockett and K. E. Eakins	720
RESPIRATORY TRACT FLUID AND INHALATION OF PHOSGENE. By Eldon M. Boyd and William F. Perry	726
Assay of Digitalis. By J. G. Bhatt and A. D. Macdonald	733
PHARMACOGNOSTIC STUDY OF <i>Valeriana pyrolaefolia</i> Decaisne. By C. K. Atal and K. L. Khanna	739
INFLUENCE OF HALOPERIDOL (R 1625) AND OF HALOPERIDIDE (R 3201) ON AVOIDANCE AND ESCAPE BEHAVIOUR OF TRAINED DOGS IN A "JUMPING BOX". By Carlos J. E. Niemegeers and Paul A. J. Janssen	744
A New Colorimetric Method for the Determination of Chloral Hydrate. By A. W. Archer and E. A. Haugas	754
A NOTE ON THE OXIDATIVE DEAMINATION OF ISOMERS OF 5-HYDROXY- TRYPTAMINE AND OTHER INDOLEALKYLAMINES. By V. Erspamer, R.	7(1
Ferrini and A. Glasser	/01
Book Reviews	765
Letters to the Editor	
INDOLE COMPOUNDS AND GROWTH. By G. B. West	766
THE EXCRETION OF SCILLAREN A BY RATS. By M. Simon and S. E. Wright	767
CARCINOID TUMOURS AND PINEAPPLES. By G. B. West	768

#### EDITORIAL BOARD

H. TREVES BROWN, B.SC., F.P.S., K. BULLOCK, M.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., J. W. FAIRBAIRN, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. E. FOSTER, B.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., F. HARTLEY, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., E. F. HERSANT, B.Pharm., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., W. H. LINNELL, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., A. D. MACDONALD, M.D., M.A., M.SC., A. MCCOUBREY, B.SC., Ph.D., M.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. PATERSON, M.SC., Ph.D., L. SAUNDERS, D.SC., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., E. SHOTTON, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. F. SOMERS, B.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., J. B. STENLAKE, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., R. E. STUCKEY, D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S., F.R.I.C., G. B. WEST, B.Pharm., D.SC., Ph.D., F.P.S. SECRETARY: F. W. ADAMS, B.SC., F.P.S., F.R.I.C.

Editor: George Brownlee, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.P.S. Assistant Editor: J. R. Fowler, B. Pharm., F.P.S.

Annual Subscription 63s. Single Copies 7s. 6d.

17 BLOOMSBURY SQUARE, LONDON, W.C.1

Telegrams: Pharmakon, Westcent, London Telephone: HOLborn 8967

Vol. XII Supplement December	, 1960
CONTENTS	
BRITISH PHARMACEUTICAL CONFERENCE	PAGE
Report of Proceedings	2 <i>T</i>
Symposium on Chemical Disinfection	
Some Aspects of the Dynamics of Disinfection. By S. E. Jacobs, D.Sc., Ph.D., A.R.C.S	9 T
Dip.Bact., F.P.S., F.R.I.C. CHEMICAL STERILISATION. By J. G. Davis, D.Sc., Ph.D., F.R.I.C., M.I.Biol., F.R.S.H.	19 T 29 T
Science Papers	
ALKALOIDS OF Voacanga schweinfurthii Stapf. PART I. VOACAMINE AND VOBTUSINE. By F. Fish, F. Newcombe and J. Poisson	41 <i>T</i>
PART XI. FURTHER WORK ON THE ALOIN-LIKE SUBSTANCE OF Rhamnus purshiana DC. By J. W. Fairbairn and S. Simic	45 T
ANATOMY OF THE INFLORESCENCE OF <i>D. Identa</i> L. By P. S. Cowley and J. M. Rowson	52 T
SIDAL CONTENT OF BRITISH CLONES OF Digitalis purpurea. By J. M. Rowson	66 T
STUDIES IN THE GENUS DIGITALIS. PART VII. VARIATIONS IN GLYCO- SIDAL CONTENT WITHIN CLONES OF Digitalis purpurea. By J. M. Rowson	73 T
THE STRENGTH OF COMPRESSED TABLETS. PART I. THE MEASURE- MENT OF TABLET STRENGTH AND ITS RELATION TO COMPRESSION FORCES. By E. Shotton and D. Ganderton.	87 T
THE STRENGTH OF COMPRESSED TABLETS. PART II. THE BONDING OF GRANULES DURING COMPRESSION. BY E. Shotton and D. Ganderton THE USE OF LAMINAR LUBRICANTS IN COMPACTION PROCESSES. By D.	93 T
The EMULSIFYING PROPERTIES OF GUM ACACIA. By E. Shotton and	97 T
RHEOLOGY OF ACACIA-STABILISED EMULSIONS. By E. Shotton and R. F. White	103 T 108 T
A NOTE ON THE STABILITY OF SOLUTIONS OF PHENYLEPHRINE. By G. B. West and T. D. Whittet	113 T
PAPER CARRIERS. By A. M. Cook and M. R. W. Brown	116 T

PAGE

#### Science Papers—(continued)

cience rupers (commuta)	
Mould Spore Suspensions and Powders for Use in Fungicidal Kinetic Studies. Part I. Preliminary Experiments with	
Rhizopus nigricans AND Penicillium digitatum. By M. R. W. Brown	
AND KENNETH BUILOCK MOULD SPORE SUSPENSIONS AND POWDERS FOR USE IN FUNGICIDAL KINETIC STUDIES. PART II. PREPARATIONS USING Penicillium	1197
spinulosum. By H. N. Gerrard, Ann V. Harkiss and Kenneth	127 T
THE FREECT OF PIDETTING ON THE CONCENTRATION OF HOMOGENEOUS	12/1
SPORE SUSPENSIONS. By H. N. Gerrard and G. S. Porter NEUROMUSCULAR BLOCKING AGENTS. PART VII. LINEAR POLYONIUM ETHERS. By D. Edwards, J. J. Lewis, D. E. McPhail, T. C. Muir and	134 T
J. B. Stenlake	137 T
K. Martindale, G. F. Somers and C. W. M. Wilson	153 T
AN ENZYMATIC METHOD FOR THE DETERMINATION OF PREDNISOLONE	
PHOSPHATE IN PHARMACEUTICAL PREPARATIONS. By P. F. G. BOON THE PRECISION OF SOME PROCEDURES IN PHARMACEUTICAL ANALYSIS.	159 T
PART II. TITRATIONS. By A. R. Rogers	164 T
PHYSICO-CHEMICAL STUDIES OF (1-METHYL-2-PYRROLIDYL) METHYL	
BENZILATE METHYL METHOSULPHATE. PART I. THE DETERMINA-	
METHOSULPHATE IN THE PRESENCE OF ITS BREAKDOWN PRODUCTS.	
By D. O. Singleton and (Miss) G. M. Wells	171 T
SEPARATION AND ESTIMATION OF PURINE AND PYRIMIDINE BASES FROM A	
HEATED SUSPENSION OF Micrococcus flavus. By K. W. Gerritsma	176 7
AN INVESTIGATION INTO THE EFFECTIVENESS OF VARIOUS ANTOXIDANES	1/0/
ON THE PRESERVATION OF FRESH GROUNDNUT OIL (FOOD GRADE)	
B.P. By G. A. Birchall and R. I. Felix	186 T
AN EXAMINATION OF THE DECOMPOSITION OF DEXTROSE SOLUTION	
DURING STERILISATION. By W. T. Wing	191 T
A SHORTER STERILISING CYCLE FOR SOLUTIONS HEATED IN AN AUTO-	
CLAVE. By G. R. Wilkinson, F. G. Peacock and E. L. Robins	197 <i>T</i>
SUME FACTORS INVOLVED IN MULTIPLE SPOT FORMATION IN THE PAPER	
OF ACIDS. By A. H. Beckett, M. A. Beaven and Ann E. Robinson	203 T
THE ASSAY OF STILBOESTROL BY THE ISOTOPE DILUTION TECHNIQUE.	
By R. Fleming	217 T
THE DETERMINATION OF n-VALUES FOR SOME AMINOACRIDINES BY CON-	
TROLLED POTENTIAL COULOMETRIC REDUCTION. By MISS F. P.	220 T
THE DETERMINATION OF THE RELATIVE CONFIGURATION OF MORPHINE	220 1
LEVORPHANOL AND Laevo-PHENAZOCINE BY STEREOSELECTIVE	
ADSORBANTS. By A. H. Beckett and Patricia Anderson	228 T
PREPARATION OF A <sup>35</sup> S LABELLED TRIMEPRAZINE TARTRATE SUSTAINED	
ACTION PRODUCT FOR ITS EVALUATION IN MAN. By Earl Rosen and	<b>227</b> T
Joseph V. Swintosky	23/1
THE ASSIMILATION AND ELIMINATION OF TRON ADMINISTERED URALLY	
SULPHATE By H D C Ranson A A G Lewis and Jean M	
Coops	245 T
PHOSPHATIDE MEMBRANES. By L. Saunders	253 T
DETECTION OF LYSOLECITHIN IN A SAMPLE OF EGG LECITHIN. By L.	
Saunders and J. Perrin	257 T
THE SIZE, SHAPE AND HYDRATION OF CETOMACROGOL 1000 MICELLES.	260 T
	20U I

### **REVIEW ARTICLE**

## CHEMICAL TRANSMISSION IN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM\*

#### BY J. CROSSLAND, M.A., Ph.D.

Lecturer in Physiology, University of St. Andrews

THE human brain is an assemblage of some 10<sup>10</sup> nerve cells. Large groups of neurones are functionally-though not anatomically-connected through the interlacing of their elongated processes, so that an impulse, starting in one cell, is presented with a choice of pathways along which it can be propagated to influence activity in other parts of the central nervous system. The actual path taken on any occasion is determined by the previous history of the brain, by concurrent events in it and by the inborn organisation of its neurones. In such ways arise the wide variations in behaviour and achievement which are the outward signs of the extreme plasticity of the human brain. The complexity of the brain, indeed, requires no emphasis and if those aberrations of behaviour which constitute mental illness had their basis solely in abnormalities of neurone organisation, there would be little immediate hope of developing a rational treatment of mental disease, the biggest challenge facing medicine today. Fortunately, a basic simplicity underlies the complexity, for all neurones are essentially alike in their structure and physiological behaviour, while the mechanism by which a nerve impulse is transmitted across the gap, or synapse, between one neurone and the next appears to be fundamentally the same throughout the nervous system. Until recently, the process of synaptic transmission was often considered to be an electrical process, analogous to that which maintains the nerve impulse. There is now, however, widespread support for the view that this transmission is achieved by chemical means: as the impulse approaches the end of one nerve, it liberates, from the fine termination of the nerve fibre, a minute jet of a chemical substance which, passing across the synapse, stimulates the next nerve cell in the chain. It is true that the nerve impulse itself, an "electrical" event in the sense that it is a change or polarisation propagated by local action currents, rests on chemical processes. It might also be argued that the arrangement of neurones in a brain is chemically determined since it is dependent on the individual's protein organisation. But, according to current ideas, synaptic transmission is much more immediately chemical in nature since it depends on the continuing synthesis, release and destruction of specific chemical substances. It is natural to believe that such a mechanism will be more easily upset by minor biochemical changes in the brain, and more susceptible to pharmacological intervention, than one which depends on the passage of action currents from one cell to the next and is only more remotely supported by chemical events. Thus the more general acceptance

\* Based partly on a lecture delivered in Edinburgh on February 18, 1959, to the Scottish Department of the Pharmaceutical Society.

#### J. CROSSLAND

of the hypothesis of chemical transmission has led to a biochemical view of mental illness and to a renewed hope that its rational treatment may soon become a matter of applied pharmacology. These beliefs have inspired a remarkable volume of research and the past decade has seen the recognition of neurochemistry, with which we may include neuropharmacology, as a discipline in its own right. Much of this recent work has been concerned with attempts to identify the substances involved in central transmission and this will form the chief topic of this review.

A complete survey of all recent work in this field, even were it possible, would be of doubtful value to the reader. Instead, the claims of the several candidates for transmitter status will be critically considered and attention will be focussed on those experimental results and theoretical considerations which, in the writer's opinion, are most likely to point the way to a true assessment of the parts played in central nervous function by the several active compounds which can be extracted from brain tissue.

The enthusiastic worker in any field tends to direct his critical faculty towards the work of others and away from his own, and readers of this review may reasonably complain that the writer's own results and opinions are accorded a prominence out of proportion to their importance. Those who wish to preserve a sense of balance are recommended to consult other general reviews<sup>1-3</sup> as well as those which relate to the individual compounds discussed here. These are referred to in the appropriate sections of this review.

#### CHEMICAL TRANSMISSION IN THE NERVOUS SYSTEM

Biologists are prone to extend the scope of definitions beyond their legitimate limits and there is an unfortunate tendency to apply the term "transmitter" rather loosely to a variety of substances for whose transmitter status there is no real evidence. In order to clarify the nature of the transmission process, and because much of the material ir. later sections of this review is more easily interpreted with its aid, a brief account of the development of the chemical hypothesis of synaptic transmission is required.

Du Bois-Reymond (in 1877) seems to have been the first to consider the possibility that nerves might exert their excitatory action on muscle cells by liberating a chemical substance but it was Elliott<sup>4</sup>, in the early years of this century, who first firmly proposed the chemical hypothesis in the form we know today.

Elliott was struck by the similarity of the effects of sympathetic stimulation and adrenaline injection and he suggested that sympathetic nerves mediated their action by the liberation of adrenaline. Direct evidence in favour of this hypothesis was delayed until 1921, when there appeared the first of a series of papers by Loewi and his colleagues, the details of which are so widely known that they need no repetition here. Loewi demonstrated that the effects of vagus and sympathetic nerve stimulation in the frog were brought about by the liberation of chemical substances named, respectively, "Vagusstoff" and "Acceleransstoff". "Vagusstoff"

#### CHEMICAL TRANSMISSION IN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

was soon identified as acetylcholine but the nature of "Acceleransstoff" remained obscure for many years in spite of Elliott's original suggestion and the fact that adrenaline is liberated from the adrenal glands under just those conditions which also involve sympathetic stimulation. The parallelism between the actions of adrenaline and sympathetic stimulation was close but not sufficiently close to allow a positive identification of the sympathetic transmitter with adrenaline. The recent discovery that nor-adrenaline is an important constituent of sympathetic nerves has gone far to resolve this difficulty. Those who require a fuller account of the early development of the chemical transmission hypothesis would be well rewarded by reading the accounts by Dale<sup>5</sup> and Newton<sup>6</sup>.

The obvious interpretation of Loewi's experiments was immediately accepted by physiologists. It is important to realise, however, that his results were applicable only to the postganglionic fibres of the autonomic nervous system. These nerves control viscera and blood vessels which normally respond by slow and prolonged movements in contrast to skeletal muscle-which reacts to stimulation of its nerves by rapid twitches-and to the central nervous system in which impulses flash from cell to cell. To many, a chemical mechanism, adequate for transmission to the sluggish viscera, seemed entirely inappropriate for the rapid transmission of information which is required outside the autonomic nervous They regarded chemical transmission as a primitive mechanism, system. superseded in most parts of the body, even in the ganglia of the autonomic system, by an altogether faster, electrical transmission system in which the action currents in a nerve were the means of stimulating neighbouring muscle or nerve cells. Loewi himself did not believe that a humoral mechanism could account for the transmission of impulses from a motor nerve to striated muscle<sup>7</sup>.

The first extension of the chemical hypothesis was made by Dale and his colleagues who sought evidence for humoral transmission at the junction of motor nerve and striated muscle fibres<sup>\*</sup>. They showed that stimulation of motor nerves liberated acetylcholine, that acetylcholine, appropriately injected, caused twitches in voluntary muscle and that inhibition of muscle cholinesterase—whose physiological substrate is acetylcholine—led to changes in the response of the muscle consistent with preservation of a transmitter substance<sup>8-11</sup>. A similar series of experiments on autonomic ganglia produced suggestive evidence of the participation of acetylcholine in ganglionic transmission, too<sup>12-14</sup>. The conclusion that the results of these studies justified an extension of the humoral hypothesis of chemical transmission was strongly challenged by many authorities, led by Eccles<sup>15</sup>, and a sharp division of opinion arose and persisted for a decade.

Resolution of this dispute began when Eccles, Katz and Kuffler showed that the nerve impulse in a motor fibre gave rise in the muscle to an end plate potential (e.p.p.) which itself was the origin of the propagated

<sup>\*</sup> This junction is usually referred to as the "neuro-muscular junction" and it will be so described throughout this paper. The term should be understood to exclude the less specialised junction between autonomic nerves and smooth muscle.

muscle action potential. Thus the end plate potential is the essential intermediary between the two propagating impulses<sup>16</sup>. Kuffler demonstrated that the e.p.p. could only have been produced by a chemical substance liberated from the motor nerve and persisting transiently in the neuromuscular space<sup>17</sup>, while Eccles and MacFarlane showed that the behaviour of the e.p.p. towards a number of compounds with anti-cholinesterase activity was consistent with its production by acetyl-choline<sup>18</sup>. Since that time abundant evidence in favour of the acetyl-choline hypothesis of neuromuscular transmission has accumulated. Experimental support for the participation of acetylcholine in ganglionic transmission is perhaps not quite so complete but few would be prepared to deny its transmitter function here too.

The electrical hypothesis has been almost forgotten since its most active supporter became a fervent protagonist of the theory he once attacked. Nevertheless, it is well to remember that, however misguided their conclusions, some of the arguments of the erstwhile opponents of chemical transmission are not without their relevance today. Thus not all workers recognise clearly enough that the pharmacological effects of a naturally-occurring compound do not necessarily mirror its physiological action, nor that the effects of enzyme inhibitors are not necessarily or completely attributable to preservation of their presumed substrate.

The assertion that chemical transmission is a primitive mechanism has now lost much of its force and the idea of chemical transmission at central synapses has become more readily acceptable to those who had previously been dissatisfied with the evidence in its favour. It is, indeed, a little alarming to those (like the writer) who have always championed the cause of chemical transmission, to find that the hypothesis is now being so uncritically accepted and it falls to them to caution the newly-converted and to emphasise that the fact of chemical transmission in the peripheral nervous system does not of itself provide any solid evidence for its occurrence in the central nervous system. The neuromuscular junction is anatomically rather simple: branches of the motor nerve fibre divide into a few terminal twigs, which come into relationship with guite widely separated points on the end plate of the muscle. Action potentials travelling along these twigs could affect only a small area of the end plate but acetylcholine can diffuse over a sufficiently large area to depolarise the end plate and thus initiate a propagated action potential. At central synapses a more complicated situation exists, for a large number of fibres, derived from several nerve cells, allow a more dense collection of terminal twigs on the surface of the nerve cell body. It is theoretically possible that the action currents from this large number of fibres could produce a sufficiently large area of depolarisation to make the intervention of a chemical transmitter unnecessary or to reduce its importance at some synapses. Recently, however, direct evidence in favour of chemical transmission at central synapses has become available.

Eccles and his colleagues have used micro-electrodes to impale individual motor neurones of the spinal cord<sup>19</sup>. They have been able to show that potential changes in the nerve cell membrane accompanying reflex

#### CHEMICAL TRANSMISSION IN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

excitation and inhibition arise in the membrane itself: that is to say, they are not merely passive changes induced by action currents stemming from the stimulated afferent nerves. If they are not due to action currents, they must be due to chemical agents. Recently Grundfest<sup>20</sup> has brought together a formidable mass of evidence, derived from his own work and that of others, that the synaptic regions of central neurones are not excitable by electrical means. If this is so, and if it can be shown to be a general property of those portions of the nerve cell body which take part in the formation of synapses, there can be no possibility of anything but chemical transmission throughout the nervous system.

#### CHOLINERGIC TRANSMISSION IN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

The brain and spinal cord contain acetylcholine, the enzyme which synthesises it, choline acetylase, and both "true" and "pseudo" cholinesterase. Acetylcholine and choline acetylase occur together but the distribution of cholinesterase does not entirely coincide with that of choline acetylase, since it is clearly necessary for a cell to be able to dispose of acetylcholine in its neighbourhood whether it has been made there or merely transported from another site.

The evidence that central transmission is chemical in nature strengthens the possibility that the presence of choline acetylase in the central nervous system betokens a transmitter role for acetylcholine. The work of Feldberg and his colleagues, however, has shown that not all neurones are capable of synthesising acetylcholine. There is a tendency for neurones with high choline acetylase activity to alternate with cells from which the enzyme is absent<sup>21,22</sup>. Thus sensory impulses reach the brain by a three neurone pathway, the first and third of which are deficient in choline acetylase while the second has a high acetylcholine-synthesising power. It is reasonable to believe that this alternation of neurones with different enzyme activities corresponds to an alternation of cholinergic and non-cholinergic elements. While there are many exceptions to this general concept, as its author has been prompt to point out, it is a useful one, for it emphasises that acetylcholine is probably the mediator of transmission across a large number of widely scattered synapses throughout the central nervous system.

The evidence in favour of this view has been very completely reviewed by Feldberg on several occasions during the past 14 years<sup>23-27</sup>. It must be admitted that surprisingly little new direct evidence in favour of central cholinergic transmission has accumulated over the years, but the indirect evidence summarised in these reviews has greater weight when it is assessed in the circumstances of the more favourable climate of opinion which prevails today<sup>\*</sup>.

In view of the thoroughness of the surveys by Feldberg it is not necessary here to mention more than a few relevant pieces of experimental work.

<sup>\*</sup> In the first of the reviews mentioned, an unfortunate misprint attributes to Feldberg the opinion—in 1945!—that "the role of acetylcholine in the central nervous system is all but settled". The wording intended was "the role of acetylcholine . . . is anything but settled".

It will be recalled that, as evidence in support of their claim that neuromuscular transmission is chemically mediated, Dale and his colleagues showed that acetylcholine was liberated on stimulation of the motor nerve and that it was capable of stimulating the muscle. Similar, if less definite, evidence is available for the brain. Tower and McEachern, for instance, recovered acetylcholine from the cerebrospinal fluid of patients experiencing convulsions<sup>28</sup>, and MacIntosh and Oborin<sup>29</sup> demonstrated that acetylcholine accumulated in a small saline-filled cup placed in contact with the exposed cerebral cortex of a cat. The rate of accumulation of acetylcholine fell as anaesthesia deepened. Finally, the observation of Richter and Crossland<sup>30</sup> that the acetylcholine content of brain bears an inverse relation to the degree of prevailing cerebral activity can most easily be explained by assuming that, while its synthesis remains constant, acetylcholine is released in amounts proportional to the extent of stimulation.

It has frequently been shown that acetylcholine has a stimulating action on the brain. Most of these experiments are open to the objection, insofar as they are intended to demonstrate a physiological role for acetylcholine, that very large doses have to be employed. This criticism can hardly be levelled against the work of Bonnet and Bremer<sup>31</sup>, who demonstrated excitatory actions on the cat cortex of as little as  $0.1 \ \mu g$ . of acetylcholine, nor against Pickford<sup>32,33</sup>, who injected acetylcholine and anticholinesterases directly into the supra-optic nucleus of the dog. Stimulation of the nucleus was inferred by the secretion of antidiuretic hormone. These experiments are of particular interest in the context of the present discussion, for not only are the cells of the supraoptic nucleus of the dog particularly sensitive to acetylcholine, but Feldberg's work on the distribution of choline acetylase in the central nervous system indicated that the fibres converging on the supraoptic nucleus are rich in choline acetylase. Thus, cells which are in contact with fibres rich in acetylcholine are themselves highly sensitive to the action of acetylcholine. This relation forms strong evidence of a cholinergic transmission mechanism at least at these synapses. In certain synapses in the spinal cord there is also evidence of a cholinergic mechanism. Collaterals of motor nerves which leave the main fibre close to its origin from the neurone return to the grey matter of the cord to synapse with small neurones (the Renshaw cells) which themselves, on stimulation, inhibit activity in motor neurones. Thus a stimulated motor neurone sets into play a mechanism which tends to inhibit its own activity, an arrangement which may serve to limit the extent of convulsions. Since the motor nerve itself is cholinergic, it is safe to assume that its collaterals are also cholinergic, that is, transmission of impulses from these collaterals to the Renshaw cells is mediated by acetylcholine. Eccles, Fatt and Koketsu<sup>34</sup> have shown that the response of the synapses to pharmacological agents is consistent with this interpretation. Thus the intraarterial injection of eserine increased the Renshaw cell discharge while  $\beta$ -erythroidine, an acetylcholine inhibitor, inhibited it.

The central actions of acetylcholine are complicated by the fact that

#### CHEMICAL TRANSMISSION IN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

under some circumstances it shows inhibitory effects. This is sometimes due to the fact that it is stimulating cells, such as the Renshaw cells, which are themselves inhibitory and sometimes because an excessive accumulation of acetylcholine at a neurone which it has excited will prevent the cell from firing again because it holds the neurone in a depolarised state. A relatively small increase will convert a stimulating dose into a paralysing one. Crossland and Mitchell have shown in addition that a dose which is stimulant to a quiescent cortex becomes inhibitory when the background activity of the brain increases<sup>35</sup>. Α striking example of the inhibitory effects of acetylcholine is provided by the experiments of Feldberg and Sherwood, who injected acetylcholine or cholinesterase inhibitors, which would presumably allow the accumulation of endogeneously-liberated acetylcholine, into the lateral ventricles of a conscicus cat. The injections produced a catatonic-like stupor<sup>36</sup>. Such stupors are a feature of certain types of schizophrenia in man and it is very interesting that, on the few occasions when it has been possible to use it, purified cholinesterase injected into the lateral ventricles of schizophrenics in catatonia has caused a dramatic relief of their stuporous condition<sup>37</sup>.

It is possible that, in the central nervous system, the details of the transmission process may differ from those at the neuromuscular junction. Crossland and Merrick<sup>38</sup> showed that the acetylcholine content of rat brain increased during anaesthesia and that the extent of the change was independent of the nature of the anaesthetic agent used, or the duration of the anaesthesia. These results, together with those obtained with convulsant drugs<sup>39</sup>, suggest that the brain, notwithstanding its high choline acetylase activity is not normally "saturated" with acetylcholine but that the actual acetylcholine content of its cholinergic fibres is determined by the level of activity in those fibres. The physiological significance of this adjustment of acetylcholine content to activity is not clear but it is possible that it represents a mechanism which reduces the total amount of acetylcholine liberated under conditions of increased This might prevent "over-excitation" of the brain, or alternaactivity. tively prevent the local development of inhibitory concentrations. It is interesting in this connection that certain forms of convulsive activity in human beings occur during sleep, or are provoked by anaesthesia, when the amount of acetylcholine in the brain is higher than in the waking state.

Notwithstanding the obvious importance of acetylcholine in the brain, and the attention which it has received over so many years, it remains a disappointing fact that it has not been possible to show any far-reaching relationship between abnormalities of acetylcholine metabolism and the incidence of mental illness or nervous disease. Some years ago, it seemed that epilepsy might be due to the impaired ability of the brain to "bind" acetylcholine<sup>40</sup> but the results on which this supposition were founded have not been confirmed<sup>41</sup>. The changes which occur in the acetylcholine content of brain during convulsive activity<sup>30,39,42</sup> arise secondarily to the convulsions themselves. Nevertheless, so much more precise knowledge

#### J. CROSSLAND

is now available concerning the acetylcholine system that there is every hope that further study of its behaviour in the brain will lead to a real understanding of the basic processes underlying the activity of the higher reaches of the nervous system. It is particularly regrettable that, just when the chemical hypothesis of nervous transmission has been generally accepted, there has been a steep decline in interest in the transmitter role of acetylcholine in the brain. Many workers, including the writer, are now engaged in the search for non-cholinergic transmitter substances, though there is no reason why they should be more likely than acetylcholine to hold the key to our final understanding of transmission in the brain. Much work will have to be done before the final role of many of the substances currently engaging the interests of physiologists is established and substantial rewards of knowledge might well await those prepared to re-direct their energies towards cholinergic transmission problems. It is interesting in this connection that evidence has recently been obtained of a link between the "intelligence" of animals and the activity of their brain cholinesterase<sup>43</sup>.

Finally, it should be noted that the presence of acetylcholine in any tissue does not necessarily pre-suppose its transmitter function. Acetylcholine is present in the nerve-free placenta; its distribution in the intestine is not related to any known disposition of nerves and there is evidence for the view that acetylcholine is responsible, quite independently of its own transmitter action, for the rhythmical activity of the heart<sup>45</sup>.

#### NON-CHOLINERGIC TRANSMISSION IN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

The distribution of choline acetylase indicates, as was pointed out in the preceding section, that not all central neurones transmit their effects to neighbouring cells by the liberation of acetylcholine and there is other evidence that this is so. Sensory nerves contain no acetylcholine and Eccles<sup>46</sup> showed many years ago that acetylcholine can have no part in the transmission process across the synapses of simple monosynaptic reflexes, those, that is, in which the sensory nerve comes into immediate relationship with a motoneurone. Yet it is precisely here that, in the more recent experiments already referred to, he has demonstrated that transmission is chemical in nature. Thus at least one chemical mediator other than acetylcholine is needed and during the past few years many attempts have been made to name the non-cholinergic transmitter substance or substances.

Enthusiasm for chemical transmission has not always been combined with a critical assessment of the results being offered and there has been a tendency to lose sight of the essential qualities of a transmitter substance. The term should be applied only to a substance which, liberated from the end of a stimulated nerve, sets up an action potential in the muscle or nerve cells with which it is functionally connected. It is an essential feature of the definition that the transmitter substance actually *initiates* the action potential in the effector cell and does not merely potentiate or modify a process which could occur, in a different form, in its absence.
There is little doubt that transmission can be modified by neuro-humoral agents which are not themselves transmitter substances. Such modifiers of transmission may be liberated with the transmitter itself from the activated nerve, they may be circulating in the blood or they may be otherwise available at the synapse. It is even possible that a substance may be a transmitter at some sites in the nervous system and a modifier of transmission elsewhere. A particularly good illustration of these points is provided by adrenaline. It, or closely related compounds, is liberated at the termination of the post-ganglionic fibres of the sympathetic nervous system, where it acts as a transmitter substance. It is also liberated, along with acetylcholine, at ganglionic synapses<sup>47</sup>, where it serves to potentiate the transmitter action of acetylcholine. Finally, adrenaline liberated into the blood stream from the adrenal medulla under conditions of intense sympathetic stimulation may potentiate the action of acetylcholine at the neuromuscular junction<sup>48</sup>.

Before any substance can be regarded as a strong candidate for transmitter status, it must be shown to be present in, and synthesised by, nerve cells; it must be liberated from these cells when they are stimulated. and it must be capable of stimulating or inhibiting other neurones standing in synaptic relationship with those from which it is liberated. The amount required to demonstrate this excitatory or inhibitory action must approximate reasonably closely to the amount liberated on physiological stimulation of the nerve after allowing for the fact that experimental injection cannot bring an active substance into such intimate contact with a cell as does physiological liberation. The nervous system must have enzymes at its disposal for destroying the transmitter substance. Finally, the material must have an appropriate action, consistent with its transmitter function, on the membrane potential of the cell it affects. Some workers have added other criteria to those listed here, but it is difficult to escape the suspicion that they have done so because the properties happen to accord with the properties of the substances they are themselves championing.

It will be seen that, at any rate at the neuromuscular junction, acetylcholine has the transmitter properties demanded but care must be taken not to assume that the details of the transmission process are identical throughout the body. Thus the acetylcholine liberated from motor nerves is inactivated, after it has initiated the muscle twitch, by cholinesterase, which is located at the muscle end plate. At the ganglionic synapse, however, cholinesterase is present in the pre-ganglionic fibre, where it is badly placed for hydrolysing acetylcholine which has acted at receptors in the ganglion cell. It appears that, in ganglionic transmission, acetylcholine is removed from its locus of action not by hydrolysis but by diffusion or perhaps by being bound up again in the pre-ganglionic fibre<sup>49,50</sup>. This reservation does not impair the validity of the argument that the nervous sytem must possess enzymes capable of destroying transmitter substances, for even where enzyme destruction is not an essential step in the transmission process, the nervous system still needs a safeguard against the possible accumulation of excessive amounts of

the transmitter substance. The point to be emphasised is rather the danger of assuming that transmission at one site is absolutely analogous with that at another.

Non-cholinergic excitatory transmitter substances must satisfy a further requirement for they should be found in highest concentration in tracts of fibres of low choline acetylase activity. Acetylcholine is widely distributed and there is no reason to expect the existence of more than one, or a limited number, of other transmitters with an equally wide distribution. Table I indicates the extent to which the several substances to be

	Choline acetylase µg./g. powder		Nor- adrenaline µg./g.	5HT ug./g.	Hista- mine µg./g.	Sub- stance P units/g.	Holton's stable vasodilator substance per cent	CEF per cent
Regions which would be expected to contain non-cholinergic transmitter substances								
Deep roots Optic nerves Dorsal columns Internal capsule (post) Cerebellum Puramide	16 33 70 26	<20 0  90	0-01 0-02 	0 0 0-01	$ \begin{array}{c c}     4-11 \\     9 (ox) \\     0.3 (ox) \\     \\     <0.1 \end{array} $	40 6 27 <u>–</u> 1·6	10 1 30 	100 100 0 100 100
i yiannus	42		0.00		. –			15
Regions from which non-cholinergic transmitter substances might be absent								
Ventral roots Sympathetic ganglia	573	11,000	0-06 6	0	6-9 (ox)	6	0	100 0
Other regions								
culate body Mid brain Hypothalamus	325 170	2,600 2,000	0·07 0·37 1·03	0·20 0·28	— — 12			100 0 —
Thalamus	323	3,000	(0.24 Med	0.07  Med	<0.4	12.5	6	100
Area postrema Caudate nucleus	437	13,300	1.04 0-10	0 Lat ) 0·24 0	<02	460 46	100	=
References	21 and 22	71	52	69	85 86	69	103	111

TABLE I

DISTRIBUTION OF PHARMACOLOGICALLY-ACTIVE SUBSTANCES IN SOME PARTS OF THE NERVOUS SYSTEM

discussed below meet this requirement; though it quotes values for only a few parts of the central nervous system, it does fairly reflect the main features in the distribution of the substances under consideration. Further details of the distribution of active substances throughout the brain are available in the review by Paton<sup>3</sup>.

A note on the sub-headings of Table I might be helpful. In the central nervous system, nerve fibres collected into tracts run in the white matter and end in synaptic relationship with the cells of other neurones in grey matter. Thus tracts of fibres containing little choline acetylase (for example, the optic nerves) would be expected to possess a high concentration of non-cholinergic transmitter substance. A similarly high concentration would be expected in areas of the brain, such as the cerebellum, whose grey matter contains a high proportion of non-choliner-gic neurones. Conversely, tracts of fibres rich in choline acetylase might

be deficient in the alternative transmitter. In those many areas of the brain, however, which show the alternation of cholinergic and noncholinergic pathways already referred to, the synaptic regions would be expected to show a high concentration of both transmitter substances. These areas are entered in the Table under the heading "Other regions".

Mention should also be made of the differing amounts of active substances found in nervous tissue. It is usual to say, for example, that 5-hydroxytryptamine is concentrated in the hypothalamus. This is true in the sense that the hypothalamus contains more 5-hydroxytryptamine than any other part of the brain but its absolute concentration in the hypothalamus is still much below that of acetylcholine.

## Adrenaline and Noradrenaline

Although adrenaline has had a long and honourable association with the general hypothesis of chemical transmission, it is only recently that attention has been directed towards its possible transmitter function in the central nervous system. It would be idle to pretend that a satisfactory formulation of the central function of adrenaline and noradrenaline has yet been proposed and no service would be performed by trying to force the experimental data into any such scheme. The best comment on the situation is that of Vogt<sup>51</sup>, herself a distinguished worker in this field: "Our ignorance as regards the function of brain sympathin could not be more complete".

In the brain, as in sympathetic nerves, adrenaline and noradrenaline occur together, with a preponderance of noradrenaline. Following Vogt, it is convenient to call this mixture "sympathin" and to refer to its individual components only when referring to experiments in which they have been specifically employed. It is important to add that the term "sympathin" does not here have the significance it has when the peripheral sympathetic system is under discussion. In the latter context the word refers to the actual transmitter of sympathetic impulses, as applied to the brain—it is merely a convenient way of describing a mixture of pharmacologically-active compounds.

Vogt<sup>52</sup> has studied the distribution of noradrenaline in the central nervous sytem of the dog: she found it in the hypothalamus and, in smaller amounts, in the grey matter of the mid-brain and medulla. It is virtually absent from other areas of the brain and from the spinal cord. More recently a similar distribution of noradrenaline has been noted in the human brain<sup>53</sup>. This distribution, as can be seen by reference to Table I, does not suggest that sympathin is a general non-cholinergic transmitter substance, though its particular localisation in the hypothalamus, a part of the brain which contains the controlling centres of the autonomic nervous system, raises the possibility that it may be concerned in the central regulation of autonomic activity as well as in its peripheral mediation. However, if concentration in the hypothalamus is to be the sole criterion of such a function, several other substances, including acetylcholine, will have to be considered as autonomic regulators.

Vogt found that drugs which cause increased secretion of the adrenal

medulla also cause a loss of sympathin from the hypothalamus. While it is true that even intense stimulation of the post-ganglionic fibres of the sympathetic system causes no detectable depletion of their contained sympathin, it is possible that, in the brain, synthesis of sympathin cannot keep pace with its liberation during stimulation. This is not, in itself, an unlikely possibility, since a similar hypothesis is required, as has already been mentioned, to explain the observation that the amount of acetylcholine in the brain is reduced as cerebral activity increases. Thus Vogt's findings suggest that physiological stimulation of the central nuclei of the sympathetic system causes the liberation of sympathin, which may therefore be involved in transmission in this area of the brain. It is not yet possible to state whether sympathin acts as a true transmitter, whether it modifies the transmission, or whether it is rather more remotely concerned in the events at the synapse. It will be recalled, however, that adrenaline appears to act as a modulator of the undoubtedly cholinergic transmission process at the neuromuscular junction and across ganglionic synapses and that it may even be liberated, together with acetylcholine, from stimulated ganglionic fibres. There is some suggestive evidence that sympathin may have a similar function in the brain. Duke and Pickford, for instance, injected acetylcholine and adrenaline into the supraoptic nucleus of the hypothalamus and found that adrenaline potentiated the action of acetylcholine<sup>54</sup>. The interest of this observation lies in the fact that transmission from other neurones to the supraoptic nucleus is probably cholinergic in type so that the situation here appears to be analogous to that at peripheral cholinergic synapses. Bülbring and Burn also obtained experimental results that may be interpreted on the assumption that adrenaline has a similar action at cholinergic synapses in the spinal cord<sup>55</sup>. Another relevant finding is that intravenously injected adrenaline penetrates the blood-brain barrier of the hypothalamus much more readily than that elsewhere in the brain<sup>56,57</sup>. Endogenouslyliberated adrenaline from the adrenal medulla might therefore reach diencephalic regions, a possibility which is more consonant with the idea of adrenaline as a modulator rather than as a mediator of transmission, for synaptic transmission is a delicately-balanced process which is likely to be upset by the sudden arrival of quantities of transmitter material from an extra-synaptic source.

The areas of the brain containing sympathin are also closely related to the brain-stem nuclei of the reticular formation. This system, which has only recently attracted the attention of physiologists, consists of a diffuse system of ascending and descending fibres in the spinal cord and brain stem. The ascending fibres arise as collaterals of sensory fibres, so that sensory information normally passes to the central nervous system along two routes: one the well-defined, anatomically discrete lemnisci and the other, the diffuse reticular pathway. Impulses travelling by the latter route reach nuclei in the brain stem, whence they are related to the cortex which is thereby kept in an awake or "alerted" condition. Animals in which sensory input to the still-living cortex has been cut off, by a spinal cord or brain stem section, which leaves the blood supply to the

brain intact (the cerveau isolé and encéphale isolé preparations of Bremer) appear to be sleeping and show the characteristic electroencephalographic sleep pattern. Stimulation of the reticular formation in such animals has an arousal effect. The recticular system also has a descending component, which receives impulses from higher parts of the central nervous system and cerebellum and which exerts, through its two divisions, facilitatory or inhibitory effects on muscle tone. Bonvallet, Dell and Hiebel have shown<sup>58</sup> that adrenaline produces an "alerting reaction" similar to that produced by stimulation of the ascending reticular system. The same group of workers have adduced evidence that adrenaline also stimulates neurones of the descending reticular system<sup>59</sup>. Rothballer has confirmed these observations and has shown that noradrenaline behaves like adrenaline in its actions on the reticular formation<sup>60</sup>. While there is, therefore, little doubt that there are sympathin-receptive neurones in the reticular nuclei, it is again impossible to say whether they are indicative of an adrenergic mechanism of transmission. The arguments already put forward for the view that sympathin merely *modifies* transmission in the central autonomic nuclei apply equally to the reticular formation. Moreover, if an alerting response involves the stimulation of sympathin-sensitive neurones by fibres which liberate sympathin, it might be supposed that some of the reticular fibres would themselves contain sympathin. There is, however, no evidence that this is so: the spinal cord, for instance, contains no noradrenaline. On the other hand, the work of Bradley<sup>61,62</sup> seems to show that acetylcholine, which also stimulates the reticular system, affects different receptors from those stimulated by adrenaline. It is thus possible that adrenaline, if it is not itself a mediator of transmission, might here be modifying a non-cholinergic transmission process.

The technique used by Feldberg and Sherwood enables drugs to be introduced into the ventricular system of conscious, unrestrained cats. Material introduced into animals in this way comes into immediate contact with the very regions of the brain rich in sympathin. In view of the results just described it is, at first sight, puzzling to find that intraventricular adrenaline produces, instead of an alerting response, a condition resembling light anaesthesia. It is, however, a common experience in pharmacology to find that a substance which in low concentrations is excitatory becomes inhibitory when its concentration increases (this is a very fortunate circumstance, for it can be used to explain away all inconsistencies in drug action) and there is evidence that adrenaline can have depressant actions, even when it is administered intravenously. Thus in Rothballer's experiments<sup>60</sup> "de-activation" as well as activation of the cortex was observed. Though very small doses of adrenaline (5-80  $\mu$ g, per cat) were used in the experiments of Feldberg and Sherwood<sup>36</sup>, it is possible that the effective concentration of the drug was increased by reason of its virtually direct application to the neurones upon which it was acting.

Although there is suggestive evidence that brain sympathin may play a part in transmission processes in the diencephalic region, it is clear

that insufficient information is available to enable a comparison to be made of its characteristics with those listed above as being necessary attributes of a chemical mediator of synaptic transmission. It is perhaps necessary to add that it is not yet known whether brain sympathin is contained in nervous or merely in glial (connective) tissue.

Marrazzi has put forward a rather different view of adrenaline action in the brain<sup>63</sup>. He stimulates the cerebral cortex of one side of the brain and records the potentials evoked on the contralateral side. These evoked potentials are potentiated by acetylcholine and inhibited by adrenaline and on this basis Marrazzi proposes a general inhibitory function for adrenaline throughout the central nervous system. It should be mentioned that Marrazzi also believes that adrenaline exerts a primary inhibitory action at the neuromuscular junction and at ganglionic synapses. Other authorities, however<sup>47,48</sup>, maintain that the primary action of adrenaline at these sites is potentiation of transmitter action and that the inhibition which frequently occurs is due to excessive potentiation, the adrenaline having converted the stimulant dose of acetylcholine into an inhibitory one. Adrenaline, however, can hardly be a transmitter in the cerebral cortex, where it is present in minute amounts if at all, while in view of what is known about the permeability of the blood-brain barrier it seems unlikely that circulating adrenaline can affect cortical transmission. Moreover, it is not easy to see how such circulating adrenaline, even if it reached the cortex, could exert the very localised and nicely-graded effect that would be required for co-ordinated central inhibition.

Finally, mention should be made of the fact first reported by Osmond and Smythies<sup>64</sup> and since developed by others, that oxidation products of adrenaline cause psychosis-like states on administration to man. This has led to the view that some types of mental disorder may be due to abnormalities of adrenaline metabolism. Discussion of this problem can more conveniently take place in the section which follows.

# 5-Hydroxytryptamine (Serotonin)

Erspamer detected a pharmacologically-active substance, to which he gave the name Enteramine, in acetone-extracts of the intestine. It attracted little attention until it was shown to be identical with 5-hydroxy-tryptamine, which Page and his colleagues extracted from blood serum. Under certain experimental conditions, 5-hydroxytryptamine has pressor effects and its discoverers proposed that its trivial name should be serotonin. Most British writers use instead the abbreviation 5-HT (or just HT) but as a protest—which is likely to prove quite ineffectual—against the tendency to allow neurochemical papers to take on the appearance of a reporter's notebook, the abbreviation will be avoided in this discussion. Those who feel, with Page<sup>66</sup>, that the repeated use of the word 5-hydroxytryptamine produces the irritating sound of fat spitting in the frying pan, might prefer to return to the use of the inoffensive "Serotonin".

During the past ten years 5-hydroxytryptamine has attracted far more

attention than any other pharmacologically-active substance and in his review, covering work published during only four recent years, Page found it necessary to quote 529 references<sup>66</sup>. Serotonin is not confined to the nervous system and it has actions on a wide variety of tissues: general accounts of its occurrence, metabolism and properties are to be found in two exhaustive reviews by Page<sup>65,66</sup>, in a shorter one by Lewis<sup>67</sup> and in the proceedings of a recent symposium<sup>68</sup>.

In the brain the distribution of 5-hydroxytryptamine is very similar to that of noradrenaline<sup>69,70</sup> though the latter is present in considerably larger amounts (Table I). There is a close, though not perfect, correlation between the distribution of 5-hydroxytryptamine and 5-hydroxytryptophan decarboxylase, the enzyme responsible for its final elaboration<sup>72</sup>. The presence of 5-hydroxytryptamine in areas of the brain particularly concerned in emotional responses has quickened interest in the psychogenic effects of substances which are believed to interfere with its metabolism. Among those who have been particularly interested in the central function of serotonin, two general schools of thought have emerged and these will be dealt with separately.

Lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) antagonises the action of 5-hydroxytryptamine on some pharmacological preparations: administered to human beings in very small doses it produces hallucinations and a psychotic-like state which in some ways resembles schizophrenia<sup>73</sup>. Woolley and his colleagues have shown that a number of naturally occurring drugs, such as yohimbine and harmine also antagonise the action of serotonin and cause abnormalities of behaviour in experimental animals suggestive of a disturbance of their mental state<sup>74</sup>. These observations suggest that a link exists between 5-hydroxytryptamine and hallucinogenic activity but this has not been established beyond doubt. Some substances which antagonise the actions of 5-hydroxytryptamine are not hallucinogens (the best known example is 2-bromo(+)-lysergic acid diethylamide<sup>75</sup>) and some compounds with hallucinogenic properties are inactive against 5-hydroxytryptamine. Among this latter group are included, as mentioned earlier, certain oxidation products of adrenaline.

Even if we provisionally accept the proposition that the effects of the hallucinogens on the brain can be related to 5-hydroxytryptamine metabolism, it is still difficult to say whether they operate by mimicking its actions, by inhibiting the enzyme (amine oxidase) which normally destroys it or by blocking its effects and thus creating a virtual deficiency. The structural similarities between these compounds and 5-hydroxytryptamine are such as to make all three actions theoretically possible and indeed they can be demonstrated on the appropriate pharmacological preparations in very much the same way that ephedrine can be shown both to simulate and to block the action of adrenaline. It ought to be possible to solve the problem easily by studying the effects on the brain of 5-hydroxytryptamine alone and in combination with a hallucinogen. Unfortunately, an increased brain content of 5-hydroxytryptamine does not follow its parenteral injection, due presumably to the obstruction offered by the blood-brain barrier.

15

กระบบงงาคเกิดรรม

แผนกทองกับค กรุงบายาศาสสร

Feldberg and Sherwood found that intraventricular injection of 5-hydroxytryptamine in the cat caused muscular weakness, sometimes accompanied by profuse salivation<sup>36</sup>; Woolley used very much larger doses and noted signs of violent central stimulation sometimes accompanied by convulsions74. Boydanski, Weissback and Udenfriend76 ingeniously avoided the blood brain barrier to 5-hydroxytryptamine by intravenously administering large amounts of 5-hydroxytryptophan, which does pass the barrier and is then decarboxylated to 5-hydroxytryptamine in the brain. The increased amounts of 5-hydroxytryptamine in brain were again accompanied by signs of central stimulation. These apparently excitatory actions of 5-hydroxytryptamine are similar, though by no means identical, to those of lysergic acid, whose actions on the brain may be partly due to its mimicking the actions of 5-hydroxytrypamine. On the other hand, Olds and his collaborators demonstrated an antagenism of lysergic acid and 5-hydroxytryptamine in the brain<sup>77</sup> and Lewis maintains that the predominant action of 5-hydroxytryptamine is a depressant one<sup>67</sup>.

Woollev does not, apparently, believe that 5-hydroxytryptamine acts as a transmitter substance. Instead, he has turned his attention to the oligodendrocytes of brain. These components of glial tissue show a pulsating movement which persists in cells in tissue culture. They contract strongly under the influence of 5-hydroxytryptamine and normal pulsation can be restored by the addition of antagonists of 5-hydroxytryptamine; some of the actions of lysergic acid are similar to those of 5-hydroxytryptamine. Woolley believes that the normal pulsation of oligodendrocytes serve to stir the extracellular fluid in the relatively poorly-vascularised brain and thus help to maintain the exchange of metabolites<sup>74</sup>. If this is so, interference with their normal action might produce general impairment of cerebral metabolism. This is an attractive hypothesis, if only because it is a brave attempt to escape from the all too common assumption that the only function of humoral substances in the nervous system is to act as mediators of synaptic transmission. Against the hypothesis has to be placed the doubts which many have expressed whether oligodendrocytic movements are rapid or powerful enough to exert any significant agitatory action. Moreover, if the normal function of 5-hydroxytryptamine is bound up with the activities of cells which have so general an effect, it is difficult to explain the localisation of 5-hydroxytryptamine in restricted areas of the brain.

The other approach to the problem of the function of 5-hydroxytryptamine in brain is provided by Brodie and his associates. Brodie and Shore have suggested that 5-hydroxytryptamine is a synaptic transmitter in the central levels of the parasympathetic system<sup>78</sup>. They have drawn up a list of the qualities that should be exhibited by a transmitter substance and they have attempted to show that 5-hydroxytryptamine meets these requirements. In the writer's opinion the list is an inadequate one and is insufficient to establish the transmitter status of 5-hydroxytryptamine.

Brodie and his associates have been particularly interested in the actions of reserpine, a tranquillizing drug which appears to impair the

ability of the brain to bind 5-hydroxytryptamine. It is suggested that reserpine, by liberating 5-hydroxytryptamine from its binding sites, allows its accumulation in small amounts which stimulates the parasympathetic centres and thus cause sedation. If the amine oxidase of brain is inhibited by the administration of iproniazid, a subsequent dose of reserpine causes violent central stimulation rather than sedation. Brodie and Shore explain this effect by suggesting that the iproniazid has allowed the accumulation of 5-hydroxytryptamine to an inhibitory concentration: inhibition of a sedating system would be expected to lead to excitation. However, these results could just as easily be explained on the hypothesis that 5-hydroxytryptamine has an excitatory effect on the sympathetic centres. Reserpine, by depleting these centres of their transmitter, would lead to depression and iproniazid, by preserving 5-hydroxytryptamine, would allow it to accumulate and exert an effect which represented an exaggeration of its normal physiological role, just as a cholinesterase inhibitor may precipitate convulsions. It is difficult to see how 5-hydroxytryptamine can persist in the brain after its liberation by reserpine in the presence of uninhibited amine oxidase. The problem is not made any easier by the facts that reserpine also leads to a loss of sympathin from the brain<sup>79</sup> and that it, as well as 5-hydroxytryptamine, is hydrolysed by amine oxidase. Thus the explanation just offered for the action of reserpine and iproniazid would be equally valid if the central sympathetic transmitter were sympathin.

In an effort to include in one theory the effects of reserpine on both 5-hydroxytryptamine and sympathin, Olds has suggested<sup>80</sup> that sympathin is the excitatory transmitter of impulses in the central nuclei of both the sympathetic and parasympathetic systems, while 5-hydroxytryptamine is the inhibitory transmitter. On this view, reserpine depletes both systems of their transmitter substances and leads to a general depression of central activity; iproniazid and reserpine together allow the accumulation of both mediators but, presumably, the excitatory system is prepotent. Marrazzi has taken this idea of 5-hydroxytryptamine action a stage further. It has already been mentioned that he assigns a general inhibitory role to adrenaline. Since, in his preparations, 5-hydroxytryptamine is more potent than adrenaline<sup>63</sup> he supposes that it too, plays the part of inhibitory transmitter and that it may be more important in this respect than adrenaline itself. Criticisms which apply to Marrazzi's theory of adrenaline inhibition are no less valid against his theory of 5-hydroxytryptamine inhibition.

The brain certainly possesses inhibitory neurones, and apparent sedation can arise either from stimulation of an inhibitory system or inhibition of an excitatory one. To this must be added the fact that a substance which in low doses, or under special circumstances, stimulates neurones may in higher doses or other circumstances inhibit these same neurones. While these are undoubted facts, it is clear that they allow experimental evidence to be fitted into almost any theory the investigator chooses, as the foregoing discussion of the actions of 5-hydroxytryptamine amply illustrates. If 5-hydroxytryptamine is a transmitter substance it

would seem to exert its action over a very narrow area of the central nervous system. It can hardly be responsible for general non-cholinergic transmission. Indirect experiments which attempt to decide the function of a substance by studying the effects of inhibitors and analogues cannot lead to unequivocal conclusions and a more direct attack on the 5-hydroxy-tryptamine problem is needed. A convincing demonstration that it is liberated when specific tracts of fibres are stimulated or that it can alter the membrane potential of a neurone to which it is applied would do more for its neurophysiological respectability than any number of studies with hallucinogenic agents, important as they will no doubt become when they can be interpreted in the light of a tenable theory.

The most embarrassing feature of 5-hydroxytryptamine is its relationship with adrenaline. The similarity of their structures, distribution and metabolism makes it difficult to decide which is involved in any experimental situation, and also raises the question whether 5-hydroxytryptamine and adrenaline may not reflect different aspects of a common process. On the other hand, it must be remembered that 5-hydroxytryptamine is found in many tissues of the body, that it acts on many organs and that it is widely distributed in the animal and vegetable worlds, where it tends to be associated with those substances and processes we look upon as fundamental. Its importance can hardly be questioned and it is possible that it may ultimately be shown to be concerned in the brain in some basic cellular regulation.

## Histamine

Until recently, few were prepared to accept the idea of chemical transmission in the central nervous system and those who were, thought in terms of acetylcholine, then the only substance with obvious transmitter potentiality. It is a measure of his remarkable prescience that, as long ago as 1935, Sir Henry Dale not only foresaw the possibility of noncholinergic transmission but also indicated a way in which its chemical mediator might be identified<sup>81</sup>.

Stimulation of sensory fibres to the skin—as, for example, by scratching -causes vasodilatation in the stimulated area. The mechanism involved is an unusual one, stemming from the fact that the sensory nerve fibres from the skin also receive branches from the neighbouring blood vessels. Impulses from the skin pass along the sensory fibres into the spinal cord in the usual way but, on reaching the point of branching they also pass, in the "wrong" direction, down the branch, to the blood vessel. Arriving at the vessel, they cause vasodilatation, probably by the liberation of a chemical substance. Because the vasodilatation is effected by impulses which travel in the opposite direction to that normally taken in sensory nerves, it is spoken of as an antidromic vasodilatation. Dale pointed out that a nerve is unlikely to liberate different materials from its two ends. Thus the material which causes antidromic vasodilatation might also appear at the termination of the fibre in the spinal cord on the arrival there of sensory impulses. In the cord, however, it would act as a chemical transmitter to the next neurone—a non-cholinergic transmitter,

since sensory fibres contain no acetylcholine. Dale's suggestion has been acted upon by many workers who have sought vaso-active material in extracts of sensory nerves or dorsal roots. It has proved much easier to find vasodilator substances than it has to provide evidence that any one of them is a transmitter substance. This may be because the power of causing vasodilatation is a characteristic of so many substances that it is not easy to say whether any particular constituent of nervous tissue is more likely than another to be the mediator of antidromic vasodilatation. A rather more detailed examination of Dale's view and of the experiments which justify the candidature of histamine, substance P and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) as mediators of antidromic vasodilatation is presented in an earlier review by the writer<sup>82</sup>.

The possibility that histamine may be involved in antidromic vasodilatation was suggested, many years ago, by the experiments of Lewis<sup>83</sup>, and this view was developed by Kwiatkowski<sup>84</sup>, who detected histamine in quantity in sensory nerves. The evidence against histamine as a mediator of antidromic vasodilatation is now considerable, but since it is a constituent of nervous tissue, it still warrants consideration in any discussion of chemical transmission.

Kwiatkowski studied the distribution of histamine in the central nervous system; though the amounts he found were generally small, he reported a much higher concentration in the cerebellum<sup>84</sup>. This was a particularly interesting finding, since, though the cerebellum seems to employ noncholinergic transmission, it has yielded little of interest to the pharmacologist. Unfortunately, in a subsequent investigation, Harris, Jacobsohn and Kahlson<sup>85</sup> were unable to detect histamine in the cerebellum, though they agreed with Kwiatkowski's estimate of the histamine content of the brain as a whole. The latter group of workers found particularly large amounts of histamine (up to 30  $\mu$ g./g.) in the hypothalamus but little elsewhere. Since our own experiments had shown that histamine has an excitatory action on the electrical activity of the cerebellum (see below) it seemed advisable to try and resolve the discrepancy between Kwiatkowski's results and those of Harris and his colleagues. This was the more important since other groups of workers had estimated the histamine content of whole brain with widely divergent results. Accordingly, Dr. Garven and myself studied the histamine content of the brains of several species of animals. We took animals of different ages and in different physiological states. We found that the usual methods of extraction, so well tried for other tissues, were not applicable, without modification, to nervous tissue. We uncovered several factors which may have led other workers to obtain too high an estimate of the histamine content of nervous tissue, but none of our experiments produced any evidence for the presence of histamine in the cerebellum, though we were able to confirm its presence, in quantity, in the hypothalamus.

Yet another compound, therefore, has to be added to the list of those found in largest amounts in the hypothalamus. The localisation of histamine in this region of the brain suggests that it may be involved in the regulation of sympathetic activity, a possibility that is strengthened

by its occurrence in large quantities (up to 100  $\mu$ g./g.) in postganglionic sympathetic fibres<sup>86</sup> and by Trendelenburg's demonstration that histamine will stimulate both the hypothalamus<sup>87</sup> and the superior cervical ganglion<sup>88</sup>. It is possible that the sedating actions of antihistamine drugs is related to this effect of histamine.

Histamine has also been found in dorsal roots and the optic nerve<sup>89</sup>. These are both fibres of low choline acetylase activity but there is no confirmed evidence that cells standing in synaptic relationship with these fibres can be stimulated by histamine while all other central areas of low choline acetylase activity contain no histamine. Apart from the hypothalamus, the cerebellum is the only portion of the central nervous sytem which is stimulated by histamine in a way that might follow the administration of pharmacological doses of a transmitter substance. Since the cerebellum itself possesses no histamine, however, there is little likelihood that transmission across its synapses is mediated by histamine. The significance of its occurrence in optic nerves and dorsal roots remains a mystery and it is impossible to state precisely its relationship with the processes of transmission in the peripheral sympathetic nervous system which already seems to have a satisfactory complement of proved transmitters and modulators of transmission.

In many parts of the body histamine is found in the mast cells of connective tissue: if it is similarly located in the nervous system its release might serve as a local regulator of blood flow, either in response to injury or, perhaps, to changing physiological conditions. Such a regulation would be particularly valuable in the hypothalamus whose normal function depends on the maintenance of a large blood supply. Mast cells also contain 5-hydroxytryptamine, whose actions are in many ways complementary to those of histamine. It may be that their functions in the nervous system are similarly related, an interesting possibility in view of Woolley's hypothesis of 5-hydroxytryptamine action.

# Substance P

Hellauer and Umrath found that the vasodilator activity of saline extracts of dorsal roots was greater than that of ventral root extracts, similarly prepared<sup>90,91</sup>. The vasodilator activity appeared to be due to a substance similar to substance P, the polypeptide found in brain and intestine and first described by von Euler and Gaddum<sup>92</sup>. Hellauer and Umrath also showed that the vasodilator activity of dorsal roots could be abolished, presumably by enzymic action, on incubation of the extracts with nervous tissue. This enzymic inactivation could be prevented by the addition of strychnine and a variety of other convulsant drugs to the incubation mixture<sup>93</sup>. If the mediator of antidromic vasodilatation is also a chemical mediator of non-cholinergic central transmission these last-noted results are interesting in that they suggest that substances which precipitate convulsions may do so by virtue of their ability to allow the accumulation of excitatory transmitter substance. Holton has denied that strychnine has any effect on antidromic vasodilatation<sup>94,95</sup> but this does not entirely invalidate Hellauer and Umrath's

results since, although both used the rabbit ear preparation, the technical details of their respective methods differ so much that the two groups may well have been measuring different substances. Hellauer and Umrath do not directly attribute the activity of their dorsal root extracts to They believe that the substance P of dorsal roots holds the substance P. sensory transmitter in a "bound" form and that acetylcholine is similarly bound to the substance P of ventral roots. In support of this view Umrath has reported that incubation of substance P from dorsal roots releases an active vasodilator substance<sup>96</sup> and he has provided some evidence that substance P from ventral roots differs from that of dorsal roots<sup>97</sup>. The attraction of this hypothesis lies in its avoiding the necessity of postulating a transmitter role for a substance with as high a molecular weight as substance P. Against it must be laid the criticism that, if substance P is the "anchor" substance for both acetylcholine and the sensory transmitter, it ought to be widely distributed in the nervous system. Its distribution in fact is rather patchy.

Many of those who believe that substance P is involved in nervous activity think of it as a transmitter substance in its own right<sup>98</sup>. They regard its vasodilator activity and its presence in the dorsal roots and the dorsal columns of the spinal cord as evidence of its participation in transmission from the first sensory neurone<sup>69</sup>.

The central actions of substance P are not, however, very striking; there is no substantial evidence that it is liberated from stimulated sensory nerves and there is doubt whether its vasodilator activity matches that produced by antidromic stimulation of sensory nerves (see below).

Again, the distribution of substance P in the central nervous system is an obstacle to its acceptance as a non-cholinergic transmitter substance for, apart from its presence in the first sensory neurone, it is not found extensively in areas of low choline acetylase activity. The other areas of high substance P activity are the hypothalamus, mid-brain, caudate nucleus and the floor of the fourth ventricle. Zettler and Schlosser<sup>99</sup> have adopted an ingenious manoeuvre in an effort to prove that central transmission is shared between acetylcholine and substance P, but the argument which leads to this conclusion is of doubtful validity<sup>82</sup>.

## Adenosine Triphosphate (ATP)

Holton and her colleagues have made use of a sensitive photoelectric method to follow changes in the calibre of blood vessels in the ear of the living rabbit<sup>94,100</sup>. This refined technique enabled them to draw a much more complete picture of the course of antidromic vasodilatation than had hitherto been possible and they demonstrated that the character of the vasodilatation produced by histamine and substance P differed from that evoked by antidromic impulses. On the other hand, suspensions of acetone-dried powders of both dorsal and ventral spinal roots were found to contain material capable of producing a vasodilatation similar in its character and time course to that following stimulation of cutaneous sensory nerves. Of the various known compounds tested, only adenosine di- and tri-phosphates had a vasodilator activity resembling

that of the root extracts and with the aid of a very convincing differential bioassay technique, Holton and Holton<sup>101</sup> were able to present strong evidence that the activity of root extracts was indeed due to their contained ATP and ADP. ADP appears only in tissue extracts as a postmortem breakdown product of ATP and the Holtons therefore tentatively suggested that, in the living animal, antidromic vasodilatation is mediated by ATP. Recently Holton has been able to demonstrate the actual liberation of ATP from stimulated sensory nerves<sup>102</sup>.

ATP is well-known as a high energy phosphate donor and, as such, it is found throughout the nervous system, which has a constantly high rate of energy expenditure. The idea that ATP may serve two entirely independent functions in the body is not, in itself, unacceptable: calcium is an important structural constituent of bone and is also involved in the maintenance of the excitability of muscle and nerve; acetylcholine seems to have non-transmitter as well as transmitter functions. The fact that, for metabolic reasons, ATP is required throughout the central nervous system makes its distribution irrelevant to the question of its transmitter function but Holton has indicated a simple means of differentiating between neurones which make use of ATP as a transmitter substance and those which do not.

Watery extracts of acetone-dried powders of both dorsal and ventral roots were shown to possess an enzyme capable of destroying their vasodilator material. On the other hand, simple saline extracts of fresh dorsal roots at room temperature-prepared without preliminary drying of the nerves-had a much higher vasodilator activity than had extracts of ventral roots prepared in the same way<sup>95</sup>. The evidence suggested that the loss of vasodilator power in the ventral root extracts was due to the activity of an enzyme. But the behaviour of extracts of acetone powders indicated that this enzyme was present in dorsal roots, too. The superior vasodilator activity of extracts of fresh dorsal roots had thus to be attributed to some acetone-soluble material which either inhibited the enzyme or annulled its effects by promoting the rapid synthesis of the vasodilator substance. It seemed a possible conclusion that, if ATP is a transmitter substance, those nerve fibres from which it is liberated in the performance of this function might be characterised by the presence of an inhibitor-or of a stimulant to synthesis-of the kind proposed for dorsal roots. Accordingly, Harris and Holton measured the vasodilator activity of fresh saline extracts of different parts of the central nervous system<sup>103</sup>. These results gave no evidence of a pattern of distribution of vasodilator activity regular enough to support the idea of widespread transmission by ATP, though the persistence of vasodilator activity throughout the first sensory neurone, from dorsal roots to the gracile and cuneate nuclei is evident (Table I). These results themselves, it should be added, form insufficient grounds for rejecting the notion of transmission by ATP since the error may lie simply in the test proposed for detecting neurones which use this mechanism.

Torda maintains that ATP has an excitatory action, similar to that of

acetylcholine, on the cerebral cortex of the rat<sup>104</sup>, though Robinson and Hughes found that, on the cortex of the cat, the two substances had antagonistic effects<sup>105</sup>. There is evidence that ATP can stimulate some neurones in the spinal cord: although large doses have to be used to provoke it, the excitatory action is certainly more obvious than that exerted by substance P, histamine, noradrenaline or 5-hydroxytryptamine<sup>106</sup>. Nevertheless, the central actions of ATP are not striking.

Two questions have to be answered. Is ATP the substance responsible for antidromic vasodilatation and, if so, is it also a central synaptic transmitter substance? If the obvious interpretation of Dale's proposition is correct, the answers to both questions should be the same. Yet while most of the available evidence suggests that ATP is indeed the mediator of antidromic vasodilatation, substantial experimental support for a central transmitter function is lacking. It was this difficulty of accepting ATP as a synaptic transmitter substance that made the writer, when last reviewing this problem, reject it also as a mediator of antidromic vasodilatation. A way out of this particular intellectual difficulty has now been suggested by Holton<sup>102</sup>. There is evidence that, in sympathetic nerves, ATP binds noradrenaline<sup>107</sup> and it is possible that the two substances are liberated together during sympathetic activity. If this is so it is equally possible that ATP binds the transmitter substance in sensory nerves. Stimulation of the nerves would then release both substances at both the peripheral and central ends of the nerves: at the periphery, ATP could then exert its undoubted vasodilator action, though the actual transmission of the nerve impulse to the next neurone in the spinal cord would be effected by the transmitter substance. Although this view is admittedly speculative, it does point a way not inconsistent with Dale's proposition, of accepting ATP as a mediator of vasodilatation, even if it has to be rejected as a likely candidate for transmitter status.

## The Cerebellar Factor

The work summarised in the foregoing discussion has led to the recognition of substances which may well serve an important function in a few discrete regions of the central nervous system, but it is difficult to believe that any one of them has a transmitter function at non-cholinergic synapses outside these restricted areas. None of them exerts widespread excitatory effects such as are produced by acetylcholine and they are absent from many of those parts of the central nervous system which contain little acetylcholine and where transmission is presumably noncholinergic in type. Since it seemed that the methods hitherto used had failed to detect at least one transmitter substance we decided to approach the problem of its identification from a new direction.

The cerebellum is an important organ accounting for some 5 per cent of the brain's total weight. It contains acetylcholine in a concentration of no more than one-tenth of that found in the rest of the brain<sup>38</sup> though its neurone density is high. Thus there is, in the cerebellum, apparently, no tendency to an alternation of cholinergic and non-cholinergic neurones:

synaptic processes would seem to be almost exclusively mediated by substances other than acetylcholine. There is evidence, too, that the cerebellum has no inhibitory neurones<sup>108</sup> though there is no reason to believe that the basic transmission process is otherwise different from that at other central synapses. The weight of the cerebellum, its high neurone density, its lack of inhibitory neurones and of cholinergic fibres, all point to the likelihood of its being a particularly rich source of noncholinergic excitatory transmitter material. Such material, when extracted from the cerebellum, should have an excitatory action, when suitably administered, on the cerebellum of another animal.

We therefore made extracts of three large portions of the brain of the rabbit—the cerebral hemisphere, the mid-brain and the cerebellum and injected small amounts of the extracts, by way of the carotid artery, into the brains of decerebrate rabbits, the electrical activity of whose cerebellum was being continuously recorded. In the early studies it was necessary to use crude brain extracts, since more elaborate extraction processes might have involved the loss of active material. Simple, etherwashed, trichloroacetic acid extracts were therefore employed. These suffer from the obvious disadvantage of being chemically heterogeneous and the effects of irrelevant material had to be carefully controlled. Full details of the experimental methods adopted to overcome this and other difficulties are to be found in the paper by Crossland and Mitchell<sup>109</sup>, from which two sets of records are reproduced in Figures 1 and 2.

It can be seen (Fig. 1b) that the injection of an extract of as little as 20 mg. of cerebral hemispheres was sufficient to evoke an outburst of increased electrical activity in the cerebellum. This effect of the cerebral extract was probably due to its contained acetylcholine, for it was mimicked by the injection of an amount of acetylcholine equal to that known to be



FIG. 1. Pen-oscillograph records of the electrical activity of the cerebellum of a decerebrate rabbit before and 16 sec. after the intra-carotid injection of (a) 0-1 ml. control solution; (b) a trichloroacetic acid extract of 20 mg. of rabbit cerebral hemispheres; (c) the ACh equivalent  $(0.05\mu g.)$  of the extract; (d) trichloroacetic acid extract of 20 mg. of cerebral hemispheres after removal of ACh by brief boiling at pH 11.

(From Crossland and Mitchell by permission of the J. Physiol.)



FIG. 2. Same rabbit as in Fig. 1. Effects of an extract of cerebellum. Note the lack of any effect of the ACh equivalent of 20 mg. of cerebellum (c) and the activity of the alkali-treated cerebellar extract (d). (From Crossland and Mitchell by permission of J. Physiol.)

present in the extract (Fig. 1c). Moreover, brief alkali boiling of the extract destroyed its acetylcholine and abolished its excitatory action (Fig. 1d). Similar results were obtained with extracts of mid-brain. Extracts of cerebellum exerted a similar excitatory action on cerebellar activity (Fig. 2b), but this could not be due to acetylcholine, for the amount of acetylcholine present in excitatory doses of the extract was too small to modify cerebellar activity (Fig. 2c) and alkali treatment of cerebellar extracts left its excitatory action unimpaired (Fig. 2d). The excitatory action of cerebellar extracts was therefore attributed to an alkali-stable substance which, it soon became clear, could not be identified with any known chemical component of brain. Until it can be finally identified, this material has been called the cerebellar excitatory factor (CEF).

The cerebellar factor and acetylcholine are equipotent in their action on cerebellar activity, in the sense that an extract of, say, 20 mg. of cerebral hemisphere has an excitatory action which is indistinguishable from that produced by an extract of 20 mg. of cerebellum. Yet the action of the one extract is due to acetylcholine and that of the other to the cerebellar factor.

The intra-carotid injection of acetylcholine increases the electrical activity of the cerebral cortex, though its action is fleeting compared with that evoked in the cerebellum. The cerebellar factor behaves in exactly the same way and here again it is equipotent with acetylcholine<sup>110</sup>. On the other hand, it is quite inactive on a wide range of pharmacological preparations, many of which are sensitive to acetylcholine. This serves to underline the individuality of the cerebellar factor and probably explains why it has hitherto escaped detection, since most workers examine extracts of nervous tissue on smooth muscle preparations. At the same time this inactivity towards conventional pharmacological test objects has seriously hindered attempts to develop a simple, rapid and

reliable assay method on which the final purification and identification of the cerebellar factor will depend.

Although the cerebellar factor has not been identified, a few of its chemical and physical characteristics have been established<sup>111</sup>. Though stable to brief boiling in alkali, it is unstable at 100° in an acid medium. It is insoluble in acetone and acetone-dried powders form a useful starting point for an extraction process which results in a pharmacologically "pure" solution, one, that is, which contains no known active material other than the cerebellar factor. It is readily dialysable and its behaviour on adsorbent columns of various kinds suggest that it is basic in nature. It is not hydrolysed by trypsin or chymotrypsin. Although this information is scant enough, it serves to distinguish the cerebellar factor from other components of nervous extracts.

The cerebellar factor quickly loses its activity on incubation at  $37^{\circ}$  with homogenates of nervous tissue. The inactivation appears to be enzymic in nature. It is interesting, in view of Hellauer and Umrath's experiments discussed above, that this enzymic destruction of the cerebellar factor is prevented by the addition of strychnine (40  $\mu$ M) to the incubation mixture. Picrotoxin, however, seems to have no inhibitory action.

Although the original experiments were carried out with rabbit brain extracts, the active material has since been extracted from the cerebellum of the cat, dog, sheep and horse and there is no reason to doubt its presence in species as yet unexamined.

The investigation which established the existence of the cerebellar factor led simply to the conclusion that it was present in the cerebellum in a higher concentration than in the other large sub-divisions of the brain. Although extracts of extra-cerebellar tissue had no excitatory action after removal of their acetylcholine, this did not exclude the possibility that the cerebellar factor was present in small amounts. Further, a low overall concentration in a part of the brain as large as the mid-brain, for example, is not incompatible with a high concentration in localised regions of this larger area. We therefore looked for the cerebellar factor in other parts of the central nervous system. Since the identity of the excitatory material is unknown, we provisionally defined it as being "an alkalistable, acid-unstable material, present in aqueous extracts of acetone-dried powders of nervous tissue and capable, on intra-arterial injection, of increasing the electrical activity of the cerebellum". This definition is quite adequate to exclude all pharmacologically-active material, other than the cerebellar factor, hitherto detected in tissue extracts, though we cannot yet be certain that any material which behaves in accordance with the definition given is necessarily chemically identical with the cerebellar factor. A roughly quantitative assay method was used. The minimum quantity of an extract required to cause a detectable augmentation of the electrical activity of the cerebellum in a decerebrate rabbit was expressed as a percentage of the minimum amount of cerebellar extract (pooled from all the dogs used) required to produce a similar cerebellar effect in the same rabbit. The very nature of the cerebellar response

—a burst of activity of about 30 seconds' duration which seems to be self propagating once it has been "triggered" by the active extract—makes it unsuitable as a basis for serious quantitative work and the results quoted in Table I should perhaps be regarded as simple indications of the presence or absence of the cerebellar factor in the tracts and nuclei mentioned.

We found excitatory material in the optic nerves, dorsal roots, spinocerebellar tracts, cerebellar peduncles and internal capsule and in grey matter (such as the lateral geniculate bodies, thalamus, sensory cortex, etc.) in which these fibres arise or terminate. These are some of the areas in which the non-cholinergic transmitter may be expected to occur (Table I). The cerebellar factor was not, however, found in all areas of low choline acetylase activity. Thus it was absent from the dorsal columns of the spinal cord and present in only small amounts in the pyramidal tracts. Nevertheless, it does seem to be more widespread, and its distribution coincides more closely to that of the postulated non-cholinergic transmitter substance, than any of the other substances so far considered in this review.

The absence of the cerebellar factor from the dorsal columns of the cord is interesting in relation to the fact that these tracts, and dorsal root fibres, contain substance P whose distribution does not otherwise coincide with that expected of a non-cholinergic transmitter substance. It should also be remembered that the dorsal columns consist of dorsal root fibres which have passed into the spinal cord without synaptic interruption. It follows that these fibres contain no cerebellar excitatory factor, though dorsal roots as a whole are rich in the material. Thus it seems that dorsal roots are not chemically homogeneous: some (those which end in synaptic relationship with the spino-thalamic and spinocerebellar tracts) contain the cerebellar factor while others (those which are destined to participate in the formation of the dorsal columns) do It may well prove that the substance P content of dorsal roots is not. due to those latter fibres only and that substance P and the cerebellar factor may have complementary roles in the process of sensory transmission.

The cerebellar factor is absent from the peripheral fibres of the autonomic nervous sytem, which one would expect to be deficient in transmitter substances other than acetylcholine and noradrenaline. It has, however, been found in ventral roots whose choline acetylase activity, related to the known cholinergic nature of the neuro-muscular transmission mechanism, is very high indeed. It is not yet known whether all ventral roots contain both acetylcholine and the cerebellar factor or whether ventral roots, like dorsal roots, are chemically inhomogeneous. There is no reason why structures grouped on an anatomical basis should be chemically identical, though it must be admitted that there is no evidence known to the writer which suggests that neuro-muscular transmission does not everywhere involve the intervention of acetylcholine.

Such facts as are known about the cerebellar factor encourage us to believe that it may have an important part to play in the processes of non-cholinergic transmission: it is a low molecular weight compound, found in at least some parts of the nervous system deficient in acetylcholine; it has well-marked excitatory properties and it is destroyed by an enzyme found in nervous tissue. The fragmentary nature of the information we possess, however, prevents any final assessment, at this stage, of its function in the central nervous system.

The sensitivity of the electrical activity of the cerebellum to acetylcholine and to the cerebellar factor suggested that it might be equally easily affected by other active compounds. This expectation was not fulfilled, for a range of substances of pharmacological interest-including 5-hydroxytryptamine, adrenaline, substance P and ATP-were without effect on the cerebellum, even in relatively large doses. The one exception was histamine which, in amounts of as little as  $0.05 \,\mu g$ , stimulated cerebellar activity, although a delay of about 70 seconds intervened between the injection of histamine and the appearance of a change in the cerebellar record. When this observation was first made, it seemed possible that the cerebellar factor might itself be related to histamine. For this reason, the report by Kwiatkowski, already referred to, that the cerebellum contains appreciable quantities of histamine, was of particular interest. Kwiatkowski's finding could not, however, be confirmed and it soon became clear that the properties of the cerebellar factor were such as to make it unlikely that it could be in any way related to histamine. Nevertheless, the action of histamine on cerebellar activity remains Removal of certain parts of the cerebellum completely interesting. protects the dog-normally a notoriously susceptible animal-against motion sickness<sup>112</sup>. It is now well known that antihistamine compounds can also offer a certain amount of protection against motion sickness and it may be that this distressing condition is initiated by the action of circulating histamine on the motion sickness "centre" of the cerebellum. Recently we have found that the cerebellum contains an enzyme-not "histaminase" (diamine oxidase)-which rapidly destroys small amounts of histamine though it is very much less active against larger quantities. This enzyme, which is not found in the cerebral cortex, may protect the cerebellum against the stimulating effect of exogenous histamine. It is of interest, in this connection, that the cerebellum contains cholinesterase<sup>113</sup>, even though it seems to be but sparsely provided with cholinergic neurones. This cholinesterase might similarly protect the cerebellum against the stimulating action of circulating acetylcholine.

It is probable that not all the compounds so far discussed will be found to play equally important parts in central synaptic transmission; it is also likely that other active components of nervous tissue will be identified. Nevertheless, it is surprising that an area like the hypothalamus contains so many pharmacologically interesting substances while some other parts of the brain, the cerebellum for instance, seem to contain so few. It is difficult to imagine that future research will redress the balance by revealing a number of new substances restricted to the pharmacologically arid regions of the central nervous system. If we are to accept the idea of universal chemical transmission, how can we reconcile ourselves to this unbalanced distribution of chemical agents?

The hypothalamic region of the brain is of extraordinary importance in the regulation of the emotional and affective state of the individual; it contains the autonomic centres whose activity produces the overt manifestations of emotion; it has extensive connections with the cerebral cortex, which it influences in response to signals from the viscera (not without reason did the ancients localise the soul in the diaphragm) and it is itself affected by those cortical events which represent the physical basis of changes of mood. It is closely linked with the pituitary and hence with the whole endocrine system and it now seems likely that the hypothalamus itself elaborates some of the hormones liberated by the pituitary, as well as manufacturing others more peculiar to itself. The old view of the hypothalamus as an endocrine organ is at last coming into its own. Finally, it is connected with the reticular formation, whose activity regulates the general tone of both higher and lower levels of the nervous system. It is not surprising, then, that interference with the metabolism of compounds localised to the hypothalamus should have such profound effects on the psychic state of an individual. Nor is it surprising that the hypothalamus, so closely involved with the main organ of regulation of the body's chemistry, should take on the appearance of a chemical factory. But a factory does not necessarily make use of its own products and its very activity is likely to result in the accumulation of side products, which are themselves of relatively small importance. The close similarities between adrenaline and 5-hydroxytryptamine, to which attention has been drawn, may be significant in this connection. Even those hypothalamic compounds which are of functional importance are not necessarily transmitter substances in the sense in which the words should be properly used; there is indeed no apparent reason why the most important transmitter substance in the hypothalamus should not, after all, be acetylcholine. It should not be forgotten that this region of the brain contains seven times as much acetylcholine as 5-hydroxytryptamine.

While not attempting to deny or minimise the importance of the hypothalamic products, the writer is of the opinion that those searching for non-cholinergic transmitter substances should turn to areas of the nervous system whose metabolic activities are more modest, for in such areas chemical activity is likely to be more obviously related to the transmission process. It is well to remember, too, that many of the substances considered in this review are active on smooth muscle preparations but behave in a much less impressive fashion when they are tested on nerve cells. The use of the central nervous system itself, or of isolated nervous elements, might be more satisfactory for the initial detection of central nervous transmitters. For these reasons, it is felt that the cerebellar excitatory factor deserves further study.

Most of the substances dealt with in this article do not show the wide distribution to be expected of the non-cholinergic transmitter substance and, in spite of the interest they have attracted, none of them has satisfied the few simple requirements demanded of transmitter substances. The nature of the transmitter substance at non-cholinergic synapses remains as obscure as it was when Dale first sensed its existence, nearly a quarter of a century ago.

INHIBITORY TRANSMISSION IN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

Discussion so far has centred on the several substances which may have to be considered as excitatory transmitters and inhibition has been mentioned only parenthetically as a possible alternative function of some of these substances. Yet inhibition of activity in neurones is as important an aspect of the integrative action of the nervous sytem as is their excitation. Even the simplest movement of a muscle can be successfully carried out only if the neurones which control its antagonists are simultaneously inhibited, while the inhibitory action of the higher centres of the nervous system is reflected in the increased muscular tone of the decerebrate animal and in the unrestrained behaviour of the drunk.

It is theoretically possible for a substance to mediate excitatory transmission at some synapses and inhibitory transmission at others (acetylcholine, after all, inhibits heart muscle and stimulates intestinal muscle) but it is now generally believed that the central nervous system utilises specific inhibitory transmitters. Mention has already been made of one of the mechanisms by means of which excessive motor neurone activity is restrained. Impulses in collaterals of motor nerves do not directly inhibit their cells of origin but stimulate Renshaw cells which presumably liberate an inhibitory substance, which is certainly not acetylcholine. Eccles has shown that the action of the inhibitory transmitter is inhibited by strychnine and in his opinion strychnine convulsions are due to inhibition of inhibitory transmission. Considerations such as this have led neurophysiologists to believe that neurones liberating a specific inhibitory transmitter substance are a feature of all synapses where inhibition occurs.

During the past few years, the experiments of several groups of workers have independently directed attention to a class of substances which seem to be important regulators of inhibitory activity. Florey found in 1953 that extracts of mammalian brain contained both excitatory and inhibitory substances which he named Factor E and Factor I respectively<sup>114</sup>. Factor E may well be identical with substance P and need not be considered further. Factor I inhibits the discharge of crustacean stretch receptors and antagonises the action of acetylcholine on pharmacological preparations. Florey and McLennan observed inhibition of the stretch reflex on topical application of Factor I to the spinal cord of the cat: the flexor reflex was augmented and the hypoglossal nucleus excited<sup>115</sup>. It was particularly interesting, in the light of Eccles' concept of strychnine action, that Factor I seemed to be able to protect mice against the convulsant action of strychnine.

The crayfish stretch receptor preparation forms the basis of a very convenient method of assaying Factor I and by 1956 Bazemore, Elliott and Florey were able to obtain crystalline material from beef-brain extracts. This material possessed Factor I activity and was identified as  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid<sup>116</sup>. As soon as it seemed that the intriguing

pharmacological effects of an impure extract of brain could be explained in terms of an identifiable chemical compound, widespread interest was aroused and a considerable mass of information concerning the action of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid has already been published: it has been well reviewed by Elliott<sup>117</sup> and by Elliott and Jasper<sup>118</sup>.

McLennan has criticised the conclusion that the Factor I activity of brain extracts is due to their contained  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid. He bases his objections on the grounds of discrepancies between the properties of Factor I and  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid<sup>119</sup> and on the fact that a brain extract which still showed Factor I activity apparently contained no  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid<sup>120</sup>; more recently, he has advanced chromatographic evidence that Factor I activity is due in part to  $\gamma$ -guanidinobutyric acid<sup>121</sup>, which is known to be a normal constituent of brain<sup>122</sup>.

Another approach to the problem of inhibitory transmission comes from the work of Hayashi and his group in Japan, who studied the protective effect of various substances, applied directly to the cortex or injected into the carotid artery, against chemically induced seizures in the dog. They found that  $\gamma$ -amino- $\beta$ -hydroxybutyric acid had a more potent anticonvulsant activity than  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid<sup>123</sup> and Hayashi proposes it as the "real inhibiting factor in brain"<sup>124</sup>.

From Hungary, Lissak and Endrocizi have also reported the preparation of an inhibitory factor, whose action appears to be due to the conjoint operation of two or more substances, one of which may be  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid<sup>125</sup>. Finally, another group of Japanese workers has obtained evidence for the presence of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyryl choline in brain and has shown that it exerts some anti-acetylcholine action<sup>126</sup>.

Thus at least four different compounds have been named as responsible for the inhibitory action of brain extracts. It seems to the writer that the inhibitory action may well be due to the operation of more than one of these compounds and that the relative amounts of each may vary according to the method of preparation of the extracts. Preparation of Factor I does involve long chemical manipulations and the final concentration of the inhibitory components of the extract may bear little relationship to that in the living brain. Thus it may easily happen that samples of Factor I may contain  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid on some occasions but not on others; if all the related compounds have similar actions, the loss of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid may well be overlooked in the absence of a chemical check on the nature of the extract. A much more important question concerns the underlying physiology of this action. The rest of this discussion will therefore concern  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid with but an occasional sideways glance at the other compounds. It is chosen in preference to the other substances named, because it has been investigated in more detail and because its actions are sufficiently close to those of Factor I as originally described.

 $\gamma$ -Aminobutyric acid is present in the brain in large amounts (about 200  $\mu$ g./g. in the cat) where it seems to be formed from glutamate. The glutamine-glutamic acid system has long been suspected of exerting an anti-convulsant action.

There is suggestive evidence that  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid acts as a transmitter of inhibitory impulses to the crustacean stretch receptor. Nerves to this receptor which are known to have inhibitory fibres also contain Factor I.  $\gamma$ -Aminobutyric acid has a hyperpolarising effect on the membrane of the stretch receptor, as has stimulation of the inhibitory nerves and the membrane change due to  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid is indistinguishable in its properties from that due to inhibitory nerve stimulation<sup>127</sup>. This evidence is admittedly incomplete, but it is strikingly more powerful than any that can be offered on behalf of the possible excitatory transmitter substances, save acetylcholine, discussed earlier.

The role of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid in synaptic events in the mammalian spinal cord and brain is less clear; since nervous transmission in invertebrates differs in many respects from that in mammals, the likelihood that  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid has a transmitter function in crustacea is of little value as presumptive evidence of its function elsewhere. Florey's original finding that Factor I offers a measure of protection against strychnine convulsions has not been confirmed, either for brain extracts known to contain Factor I<sup>128</sup> nor for  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid itself<sup>129</sup>. However, since the latter does not apparently cross the blood brain barrier, this is not surprising and does not necessarily suggest that  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid does not have the anti-strychnine action that would be expected of an inhibitory transmitter. On the other hand, experiments on mammalian cortex indicate that  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid and strychnine act at different loci<sup>130,131</sup>. Moreover, Curtis, Phillips and Watkins<sup>132</sup> have shown that, in the spinal cord, strychnine does not antagonise the action of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid on motor neurones, in those very circumstances in which Eccles has shown that the inhibitory transmitter is antagonised by strychnine<sup>34</sup>. They have also shown that the inhibitory post-synaptic potential in these neurones, which seems to represent the fundamental neuronal response underlying inhibition, is not augmented by  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid. Instead, y-aminobutyric acid depresses all membrane responses, excitatory and inhibitory alike and this action is shared by a large number of other compounds, including at least one, and probably more, of those mentioned above as possibly contributing to Factor I activity. Thus some doubt must arise as to whether  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid is a transmitter substance in the mammalian central nervous system, though it must be added that our knowledge of the basic mechanism of inhibition is still fragmentary. Nevertheless, the most impressive work in this field, so far, has linked inhibitory transmission with the development of the inhibitory post-synaptic potentials which do not seem to be attributable to  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid or its congeners. Attempts have been made to place the inhibitory action of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid elsewhere (by blocking impulses in excitatory fibres for instance) but there is as yet little sound evidence that this could form an inhibitory transmission system. Yet a deficiency of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid does seem to be a factor in causing the convulsions of pyridoxine deficiency, as would be expected if it were indeed a mediator of central inhibition. This dilemma might ultimately be resolved by the demonstration that the true inhibitory

substance is a derivative of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid or, perhaps more likely, that  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid itself is being continually liberated into the nervous sytem to exert a general controlling effect on nervous activity, quite outside the operation of the normal inhibitory system. It seems inevitable that, as with excitatory transmission, many more substances will be put forward-and most of them rejected-as inhibitor transmitter substances before the chemical background of synaptic transmision can be fully described.

# CONCLUSION

In the interests of keeping this review and its bibliography within reasonable bounds, much important work has inevitably been ignored; it is hoped that the omissions have not led to a serious misrepresentation of the current trends of neurochemical opinion. If the writer's views seem over-critical, it is because he feels that, in a situation where too many experiments are chasing too few basic ideas, a deflationary policy is of more value to the ultimate good of the subject than one which merely encourages the haphazard accumulation of experimental information.

A summary adjudication of the claims of the several candidates for transmitter status is quite impossible. There is powerful circumstantial evidence that acetylcholine is a transmitter substance at central synapses but the identity of the mediators and modulators of non-cholinergic transmission remains obscure. If this review helps the reader to recognise significant contributions to the solution of the problem among the increasing load of papers with which he will be confronted, it will have served its purpose. It will have done far more than this—and more than its author dare hope—if in addition it advances in any small way the day on which the roll of transmitter substances can be finally called.

Acknowledgements. I wish to express my gratitude to Professor A. E. Ritchie, who created the conditions which have allowed the unhindered development of my views and experimental work. The latter would have been impossible without the valuable assistance of my former colleague, Dr. J. D. Garven (Mrs. Doyle) and students, Dr. J. F. Mitchell and Mr. P. R. Carnegie. Grateful acknowledgement is due to D.S.I.R. and to the Scottish Hospitals Endowment Research Trust for maintenance grants (to J.F.M. and J.D.G. respectively) and to the last-named body, the Government Grants Committee of the Royal Society and the Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain for grants towards the purchase of equipment.

#### REFERENCES

References marked with an asterisk refer to review articles which should be consulted by those requiring a complete survey of the several topics considered in this review.

- \*Perty, Ann. Rev. Physiol., 1930, 18, 279.
   \*Marrazzi, Hart and Cohn, Progress in Neurol. & Psychiat., 1956, 11, 565.
   \*Paton, Ann. Rev. Physiol., 1958, 20, 431.
   Elliott, J. Physiol., 1904, 31, XXP.
   \*Dale, J. Mt. Sinai Hosp., 1938, 4, 401 'Reprinted in Adventures in Physiology, Pergamon Press, London, 1953, p. 611).

<sup>1. \*</sup>Perry, Ann. Rev. Physiol., 1956, 18, 279.

- 6. \*Newton, in Evans' Recent Advances in Physiology, Fifth Edn, Churchill, London, 1936, p. 285.
- 7. \*Loewi, Harvey Lectures, 1933, 27, 218.
- Dale, Feldberg and Vogt, J. Physiol., 1936, 86, 353. 8.
- 9. Brown, Dale and Feldberg, ibid., 1936, 87, 394.
- 10.
- 11.
- 12.
- Brown, *ibid.*, 1937, **89**, 220. Bacq and Brown, *ibid.*, 1937, **89**, 45. Feldberg and Gaddum, *ibid.*, 1934, **81**, 305. Feldberg and Vartianen, *ibid.*, 1934, **83**, 103. 13.
- Brown and Feldberg, ibid., 1936, 86, 265 and 290. 14.
- Eccles, Ergebn. Physiol., 1936, 38, 339. 15.
- Eccles, Katz and Kuffler, J. Neurophysiol., 1941, 4, 362. Eccles and Kuffler, *ibid.*, 1941, 4, 486. Eccles and MacFarlane, *ibid.*, 1949, **12**, 59. 16.
- 17. 18.
- 19.
- Brook, Coombs and Eccles, J. Physiol., 1952, 117, 431. Grundfest, Physiol. Rev., 1957, 37, 337. 20.
- 21.
- Feldberg and Vogt, J. Physiol., 1948, 107, 372. Feldberg, Harris and Lin, ibid., 1951, 112, 400. 22.
- \*Feldberg, Physiol. Rev., 1945, 25, 596. 23.
- 24. \*Feldberg, Brit. med. Bull., 1950, 6, 312.
- \*Feldberg, Arch. int. Physiol., 1951, 59, 544. 25.
- \*Feldberg, Pharmacol. Rev., 1954, 6, 87.
   \*Feldberg, in Metabolism of the Nervous System, edit. Richter, Pergamon Press, London, 1957, p. 493.
- 28.
- Tower and McEachern, Can. J. Research, 1949, E27, 120. MacIntosh and Oborin, Abstr. XIX Int. Physiol. Congr., 1953, p. 380. Richter and Crossland, Amer. J. Physiol., 1949, 159, 247. Bonnet and Bremer, C.R. Soc. Biol. Paris, 1937, 126, 1271. Pickford, J. Physiol., 1947, 106, 264. Duke, Pickford and Watt, ibid., 1950, 111, 81. Eccles, Fatt and Koketzu, ibid., 1954, 126, 524. Crossland and Mitchell Nature Lond, 1955, 175, 121 29.
- 30.
- 31.
- 32.
- 33.
- 34.
- Crossland and Mitchell, *Nature*, *Lond.*, 1955, 175, 121. Feldberg and Sherwood, *J. Physiol.*, 1954, 123, 148. Sherwood, *Brain*, 1952, 75, 68. 35.
- 36. 37.
- Crossland and Merrick, J. Physiol., 1954, 125, 56. 38.
- 39. Crossland, J. Ment. Sci., 1953, 99, 247.
- Tower and Elliott, J. appl. Physiol., 1952, 4, 669. Pappius and Elliott, *ibid.*, 1958, 12, 319. \*Stone, Amer. J. Phys. Med., 1957, 36, 222. 40.
- 41. 42.
- Rosenzweig, Krech and Bennett, in Neurological Basis of Behaviour, Churchill, 43. London, 1958.
- 44. Feldberg and Lin, J. Physiol., 1950, 111, 96.
- Burn, Functions of Autonomic Transmitters, Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore. 45. 1956, p. 18.
- 46. Eccles, J. Neurophysiol., 1947, 10, 197.
- 47.
- Bülbring, J. Physiol., 1944, 103, 55. Bülbring and Burn, *ibid.*, 1939, 97, 250. Ogston, *ibid.*, 1955, 128, 222. 48.
- 49.
- 50. Abdon and Bjarke, Acta pharm. tox. Kbh., 1955, 1, 1.
- 51. Vogt, in Metabolism of the Nervous System, edit. Richter, Pergamon Press, London, 1957, p. 564.
- 52.
- Vogt, J. Physiol., 1954, 123, 451.
  Sano, Gamo, Kakimoto, Tanignehu, Takesada and Nishinuma, Biochim. biophys. acta, 1959, 32, 586. 53.
- 54. Duke and Pickford, J. Physiol., 1951, 114, 325.
- 55. Bülbring and Burn, ibid., 1941, 100, 337.
- 56. Quadbeck in Metabolism of the Nervous System, edit. Richter, Pergamon Press. London, 1957, p. 565.
- 57. Weil-Malherbe, Axelrod and Tomchick, Science, 1959, 129, 1226.
- 58. Bonvallet, Dell and Hiebel, EEG Clin. Neurophysiol., 1954, 6, 119.
- 59. Dell, Bonvallet and Hugelin, ibid., 1954, 6, 599.
- 60. Rothballer, ibid., 1956, 8, 603.
- 61. Bradley, ibid., 1953, 5, 471.
- 62. Bradley and Elkes, in Metabolism of the Nervous System, edit. Richter, Pergamon Press, London, 1957, p. 515.

- 63. Marrazzi, in Brain Mechanisms and Drug Action, edit. Fields, Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Illinois, 1957, p. 45.
- Osmond and Smythies, J. ment. Sci., 1952, 98, 309. 64.

- 65. \*Page, Physiol. Rev., 1954, 34, 563.
  66. \*Page, ibid., 1958, 38, 277.
  67. \*Lewis, J. Pharm. Pharmacol., 1958, 10, 529.
- 68. \*5-Hydroxytryptamine, edit. G. P. Lewis, Pergamon Press, London, 1958.
- 69. Amin, Crawford and Gaddum, J. Physiol., 1954, 126, 596.
- 70. Paasonen and Vogt, *ibid.*, 1956, **131**, 617. Hebb and Silver, *ibid.*, 1956, **134**, 718.
- 71.
- Gaddum and Giarman, Brit. J. Pharmacol., 1956, 11, 88. Stoll, Schweiz. Arch. Neurol. Psychiat., 1947, 68, 279. 72.
- 73. 74. Woolley, in Hormones, Brain Function and Behavior, edit. Hoagland, Academic Press, New York, 1957, p. 127.
- 75. Cerletti and Rothlin, Nature, Lond., 1955, 176, 785. 76.
- Bogdanski, Weissback and Udenfriend, J. Pharmacol., 1957, 122, 182. Olds, Kellam and Eiduson, in *Psychotropic Drugs*, edit. Garattini and Ghetti; Elsevier, New York, 1957, p. 335.
   Brodie and Shore, *Ann. New York Acad. Med.*, 1957, 66, 631. 77.
- 78. 79.
- Muscholl and Vogt, J. Physiol., 1957, 136, 7. 80.
- Olds, Ann. Rev. Physiol., 1959, 21, 397. 81.
- Dale, Proc. Roy. Soc. Med., 1935, 26, 319. 82. \*Crossland, in The Metabolism of the Nervous System, edit. Richter, Pergamon Press, London, 1957, p. 523
- Lewis and Marvin, Heart, 1927, 14, 27. 83.
- 84. Kwiatkowski, J. Physiol., 1943, 102, 32.
- 85. Harris, Jacobsohn and Kahlson, Ciba Foundation Colloquia on Endocrinology, No. 4, Churchill, London, 1952, p. 186.
- Euler, in Histamine Symposium, Churchill, London, 1956, p. 235. Trendelenburg, J. Physiol., 1955, **129**, 337. Trendelenburg, Brit. J. Pharmacol., 1954, 9, 481. 86.
- 87.
- 88.
- Werle and Weicken, Biochem. Z., 1949, 319, 457. 89.
- 90. Hellauer and Umrath, Pflügers Arch. ges. Physiol., 1948, 249, 619.
- 91.
- 92.
- Umrath and Hellauer, *ibid.*, 1948, **250**, 737. Euler and Gaddum, *J. Physiol.*, 1931, **72**, 74. Umrath, *Arch. Exp. Path.*, *Pharmakol.*, 1953, **219**, 148. Holton and Perry, *J. Physiol.*, 1951, **114**, 240. 93.
- 94.
- Holton and Holton, ibid., 1952, 118, 310. 95.
- 96. Umrath, Pflügers Arch. ges. Physiol., 1953, 258, 230.
- 97. Umrath, ibid., 1956, 262, 368.
- Lembeck, Arch. Exp. Path. Pharmak., 1953, 219, 197. Zettler and Schlosser, *ibid.*, 1955, 224, 159. Hilton and Holton, J. Physiol., 1954, 125, 138. 98.
- 99.
- 100.
- 101. Holton and Holton, ibid., 1954, 126, 124.
- 102. Holton, *ibid.*, 1959, 145, 494.
- 103.
- 104.
- 105.
- Harris and Holton, *ibid.*, 1953, **120**, 254. Torda, Amer. J. Physiol., 1954, **178**, 123. Robinson and Hughes, J. Neurophysiol., 1951, **14**, 387. Buckthal, Engbaek, Sten-Kundsen and Thomasen, J. Physiol., 1947, **106**, 3P. 106.
- 107. Schumann, Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak., 1958, 233, 296.
- 108. Purpura and Grundfest, J. Neurophysiol., 1957, 20, 494.
- 109.
- Crossland and Mitchell, J. Physiol., 1956, 132, 392. Crossland and Mitchell, Unpublished experiments. 110.
- Crossland, Garven and Mitchell, J. Physiol., 1959, Proceedings of May 23. 111.
- Wang and Chinn, Amer. J. Physiol., 1956, 185, 617. 112.
- Burgen and Chipman, J. Physiol., 1951, 114, 269. 113.
- 114.
- Florey, Arch. Int. Physiol., 1954, 62, 33. Florey and McLennan, J. Physiol., 1955, 130, 446. 115.
- Bazemore, Elliott and Florey, J. Neurochem., 1957, 1, 334. \*Elliott, Revue Canadienne de Biologie, 1958, 17, 367. 116.
- 117
- 118. \*Elliott and Jasper, Physiol. Rev., 1959, 39, 383.
- Florey and McLennan, J. Physiol., 1959, 145, 66. 119. 120.
- McLennan, Nature, Lond., 1958, 181, 1807. McLennan, J. Physiol., 1959, 146, 358. 121.
- 122.
- Irreverre, Evans, Hayden and Silber, Nature, Lond., 1957, 180, 704. 123.

- Hayashi, J. Physiol., 1959, 145, 570. 124.
- 125.
- Hayashi, J. Physiol., 1959, 145, 570. Lissak and Endroezi, Acta, Physiol. Acad. Sci. Hung., 1956, 9, 111. Kuriaki, Noro, Yakushiji, Shimuzu and Saji, Nature, Lond., 1958, 181, 1336. Edwards and Kuffler, J. Neurochem., 1959, 4, 19. Brockman and Burson, Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. N.Y., 1957, 941, 450. Elliott and Hobbiger, J. Physiol., 1959, 146, 70. Purpura, Girado, Smith and Gomez, Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N.Y., 1958, 97, 348. Jasper, Gonzalez and Elliott, Fed. Proc., 1958, 17, 79. Curtis, Phillips and Watkins, J. Physiol., 1959, 146, 185. Purpura, Cirado and Grundfest, Science, 1957, 125, 1200. 126.
- 127.

- 128. 129. 130.
- 131.
- 132.
- 133.

# **RESEARCH PAPERS**

## SOME DERIVATIVES AND ANALOGUES OF MEPHENESIN

BY V. PETROW, O. STEPHENSON AND A. M. WILD

From The British Drug Houses Ltd., Graham Street, City Road, London, N.1.

Received September 24, 1959

The preparation of some miscellaneous types formally related to mephenesin is reported.

RECENT publications from this laboratory have dealt with hydroxyalkyl ethers<sup>1</sup>, ureas<sup>2</sup> and 3-arylpropane-1,2-diols<sup>3</sup> related to 3-o-tolyloxypropane-1,2-diol ("Mephenesin", I; R = H, R' = OH). The preparation of some further types formally derived from (I; R = H, R' = OH) is herein reported.

Mephenesin  $\alpha$ -carbamate<sup>4,5</sup> (I; R = H, R' = OCONH<sub>2</sub>) has been shown to possess a lower acute toxicity and longer duration of action than mephenesin. We therefore prepared the  $\beta$ -carbamate (I; R = CONH<sub>2</sub>, R' = OH) for comparison. This was effected by controlled acid hydrolysis of mephenesin  $\alpha$ -acetate- $\beta$ -carbamate (I; R = CONH<sub>2</sub>, R' = O.CO.Me), itself obtained by reaction of the  $\alpha$ -acetate (I; R = H, R' = O·CO·Me) with phosgene followed by ammonia.

 $\beta$ -Mephenesin<sup>6</sup> (II; R = R' = H) was obtained as a water-soluble oil by reduction of the corresponding diethyl malonate with lithium aluminium hydride. It was converted into the crystalline dicarbamate (II; R = CONH<sub>2</sub>, R' = H). The dicarbamate of the ethyl analogue (II); R = CONH<sub>2</sub>, R' = Et) was similarly prepared.

With the object of obtaining derivatives of mephenesin with longer duration of action, some esters derived from aliphatic, aromatic and heterocyclic carboxylic acids were prepared by reaction of 1,2-epoxy-3-o-tolyloxypropane (III) with the appropriate acid in the presence of a basic catalyst. The glycollate ester (I; R = H,  $R' = O \cdot CO \cdot CH_2OH$ ) was obtained by an alternative route which involved heating mephenesin with ethyl glycollate.

In addition, a series of 1,3-dioxolanes (IV) were prepared by reaction of mephenesin with ethyl orthoformate, aldehydes, acetals and ketones using toluene-*p*-sulphonic acid or hydrogen chloride as condensing agents.

Several 3-aryloxy-2-hydroxypropyl chlorides<sup>7</sup> (cf. I; R = H, R' = Cl) were converted into their carbamates.

2-Hydroxy-3-o-tolyloxy and 3-o-chlorophenoxy-2-hydroxypropyl chloride were converted into the corresponding fluorohydrins by reaction with anhydrous potassium fluoride in ethanediol. The main by-product in this reaction was the hydroxyethyl ether<sup>1</sup> (I;  $R = H, R' = O \cdot CH_2 \cdot CH_2 OH$ ), but this was readily removed by fractional distillation under reduced pressure. The fluorohydrins were characterised by the preparations of phenylurethanes. The o-tolyloxy analogue was converted into the carbamate.

#### V. PETROW, O. STEPHENSON AND A. M. WILD

The preparation of chlorohydrins (V; R = alkyl, aralkyl, alicyclic or heterocyclic, R' = H, R'' = Cl) by reaction of the appropriate alcohols with 2,3-epoxypropyl chloride using stannic chloride as catalyst<sup>8</sup> was reinvestigated with special emphasis upon tertiary alcohols. Optimum conditions were developed for the preparation of 3-t-butoxy-2hydroxypropyl chloride (V;  $R = Me_3C$ , R' = H, R'' = Cl). Highest yields of chlorohydrin were obtained with a two to four molar excess of the alcohol. With less than two moles of the alcohol the yield of secondary product (V;  $R = Me_3C$ ,  $R' = CH_2 \cdot CHOH \cdot CH_2Cl$ , R'' = Cl) increased appreciably. The t-butoxy chlorohydrin was converted into its ethyl and guaiacyl ethers. A few of the new chlorohydrins obtained by this method were hydrolysed to the corresponding 1,2-diols using sodium formate in ethanediol as described previously<sup>3</sup>.

Condensation of 1,2-epoxy-3-o-tolyloxypropane (III) and of the corresponding *p*-chlorophenoxy epoxide with butane-2,3-diol, hexane-2,5-diol and hexyne-2,5-diol were carried out using conditions described earlier<sup>1</sup> to yield compounds of type (VI).

Reaction of 1,2-epoxy-3-o-tolyloxypropane (III) with sodium acetylide in liquid ammonia furnished the novel acetylide (I; R = H,  $R' = C \equiv$ CH). The corresponding o-chlorophenoxy derivative was similarly obtained.

Dicarbamates were prepared from 1,1-bishydroxymethylcyclopentane and 4,4-bishydroxymethylcyclohex-1-ene<sup>9</sup>.



## SOME DERIVATIVES AND ANALOGUES OF MEPHENESIN

2-Amino-2-methylpropane-1,3-diol was converted into 4-methyl-4hydroxymethyl oxazolid-2-one (VII; R = OH) by reaction with ethyl carbonate in the presence of sodium ethoxide<sup>2</sup>. This intermediate was transformed into the carbamate (VII;  $R = O \cdot CO \cdot NH_2$ ) using dioxan as solvent as it proved to be too insoluble in benzene-chloroform for the normal preparative procedure to be employed.

The discovery by Okamoto<sup>10</sup> that some basically substituted 1,3-diaryloxypropan-2-ols possessed useful anticonvulsant and muscle-relaxant properties led us to prepare two derivatives of type (I; Ar = o-tolyloxy or *o*-methoxyphenoxy, R = H and R' = o-aminophenoxy). These were obtained by reaction of the appropriate epoxide (*cf.* III) with *o*-acetamidophenol using a basic catalyst, or alternatively by reaction of 1,2-epoxy-3-*o*-acetamidophenoxypropane with *o*-cresol or with guaiacol, followed by acid hydrolysis of the acetamido-group.

The above compounds were kindly examined for muscle relaxant properties by Dr. A. David and his colleagues. Although slight activity was shown by many of the products, only 2-ethoxy-5-o-tolyloxymethyl-1,3-dioxolane, 2-methyl-5-o-tolyloxymethyl-1,3-dioxolane, mephenesin  $\beta$ -carbamate and 2-(4,5-dihydroxy-2-oxapentyl)5,6-benz-1,4-dioxan approached mephenesin in potency.

## EXPERIMENTAL

## Mephenesin $\beta$ -carbamate

( $\beta$ ) Mephenesin  $\alpha$ -acetate- $\beta$ -carbamate. To a solution of 1-acetoxy-2hydroxy-3-o-tolyloxypropane (mephenesin  $\alpha$ -acetate, 36.9 g.) in benzene (150 ml.) was added a solution of phenazone (16.4 g.) in the minimum of chloroform, followed by a solution of phosgene (16.4 g.) in benzene (100 ml.), added in portions with shaking and cooling. The mixture was left at room temperature for 30 minutes and was then filtered. The filtrate was cooled in ice, saturated with ammonia gas, concentrated to half-bulk and diluted with light petroleum (b.p. 60° to 80°). The product (29.6 g.) had m.p. 95° to 97° after crystallisations from benzene-light petroleum (b.p. 60° to 80°) and then from methanol. Found: C, 58.4; H, 6.1; N, 4.7. C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>12</sub>O<sub>5</sub>N requires C, 58.4; H, 6.4;; N, 5.2 per cent.

(b) The foregoing compound (10 g.) dissolved in ethanol (30 ml.) was treated with concentrated hydrochloric acid (10 drops) and the solution heated on the steam bath for 30 minutes with slight concentration. Dilution with water furnished the *product* which had m.p. 117° to 118° after crystallisation from benzene. Found: C, 58.7; H, 6.7; N, 6.1.  $C_{11}H_{15}O_4N$  requires C, 58.6; H, 6.7; N, 6.2 per cent.

Diethyl  $\alpha$ -o-tolyloxymalonate. o-Cresol (38 g.) was added to a solution of sodium (7.7 g.) in ethanol (250 ml.) and the resulting solution treated with diethyl  $\alpha$ -chloromalonate (65 g.) added in portions with shaking. The mixture was heated under reflux for 3 hours, cooled, acidified with acetic acid and diluted well with water. The product (47.8 g.) isolated with chloroform had b.p. 114° at 0.1 mm. Found: C, 63.4; H, 6.9. Calc. for C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>5</sub>: C, 63.1; H, 6.8 per cent. When the foregoing ester (2 g.) in ethanol was treated with ammonia solution (20 ml., d = 0.880) and the solution heated on the steam bath for 1 hour,  $\alpha$ -o-tolyloxymalondiamide separated in high yield. It had m.p. 241° to 242° after crystallisation from ethanol. Found: C, 57.8; H, 6.2; N, 13.4.  $C_{10}H_{12}O_3N_2$ requires C, 57.7; H, 5.8; N, 13.5 per cent.

2-o-Tolyloxypropane-1,3-diol. A solution of the foregoing ester (41.5 g.) in anhydrous ether (200 ml.) was added in portions to a stirred solution of lithium aluminium hydride (9.5 g.) in the same solvent (500 ml.) Reaction was completed at reflux temperature for 1 hour. After the addition of ethyl acetate and dilute hydrochloric acid the aqueous portion was saturated with sodium chloride and extracted with five portions of chloroform. The combined ether and chloroform extracts were dried over anhydrous sodium sulphate, the solvents removed and the *diol* (21.4 g.) obtained as an oil, b.p. 120° at 0.1 mm. Found: C, 65.6; H, 7.5. Calc. for  $C_{10}H_{14}O_3$ : C, 65.9; H, 7.8 per cent.

The diol (1·2 g.) was melted with *p*-nitrobenzoyl chloride (2·4 g.) until evolution of hydrogen chloride ceased. The *bis*-p-nitrobenzoate had m.p. 120° to 121° after crystallisation from benzene-light petroleum (b.p. 60° to 80°). Found: C, 60·1; H, 4·4; N, 5·8.  $C_{24}H_{20}O_9N_2$  requires C. 60·0; H, 4·2; N, 5·8 per cent.

1,3-Dicarbamoyloxy-2-o-tolyloxypropane. A mixture of the foregoing diol (9·1 g.) and phenazone (20·7 g.) in chloroform (150 ml.) was added in portions with shaking to a solution of phosgene (11 g.) in toluene (250 ml.) at  $-10^{\circ}$  over about 5 minutes. The mixture was then left at room-temperature for 16 hours, filtered, the filtrate cooled in ice and treated with a slight excess of ammonia gas. The *product* which separated on short standing formed needles, m.p. 123° to 125° on crystallisation from water. Found: C, 54·1; H, 6·2; N, 10·2.  $C_{12}H_{16}O_5N_2$  requires C, 53·7; H, 6·0; N, 10·4 per cent.

Diethyl  $\alpha$ -ethyl- $\alpha$ -o-tolyoxymalonate. Diethyl  $\alpha$ -o-tolyloxymalonate (77.7 g.) was added to a solution of sodium (6.7 g.) in ethanol (200 ml.) and the resultant solution treated with ethyl iodide (68.5 g.) added in portions. Reaction was completed at reflux temperature for 3 hours, when the solution was diluted with water and the oil extracted with chloroform. The product (68.5 g.) was isolated as an oil, b.p. 114° at 0.3 mm. which solidified on standing. Found: C, 65.4; H, 7.5. C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O<sub>5</sub> requires C, 65.3; H, 7.6 per cent. It was reduced to 2-ethyl-2-o-tolyl-oxypropane-1,2-diol, b.p. 130° to 132° at 0.3 mm. with ethereal lithium aluminium hydride as described earlier. The diol furnished a dicarbamate hemihydrate, m.p. 116° after crystallisation from aqueous methanol. Found: C, 55.4; H, 7.1; N, 9.4. C<sub>14</sub>H<sub>20</sub>O<sub>5</sub>N<sub>2</sub>;  $\frac{1}{2}$  H<sub>2</sub>O requires C, 55.0; H, 6.9; N, 9.2 per cent.

Mephenesin  $\alpha$ -glycollate. A mixture of mephenesin (45.5 g.) and ethyl glycollate (26 g.) containing toluene-*p*-sulphonic acid (1 g.) was heated on the steam bath for 4 hours; a slight vacuum was applied at intervals to remove volatile materials. The residue was dissolved in chloroform, the extract washed with aqueous sodium bicarbonate then with water,

## SOME DERIVATIVES AND ANALOGUES OF MEPHENESIN

the solvent removed and the residual oil distilled under reduced pressure. The *glycollate* was obtained as an oil, b.p.  $175^{\circ}$  at 0.5 mm. after refractionation. Found: C, 59.9; H, 6.6. C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>5</sub> requires C, 60.0; H, 6.7 per cent.

Mephenesin  $\alpha$ -benzoate. A mixture of 1,2-epoxy-3-o-tolyloxypropane (55 g.) and benzoic acid (41 g.) in benzene (100 ml.) was treated with pyridine (6 drops) and the mixture heated at reflux temperature for 12 hours. It was diluted with benzene (100 ml.), washed with aqueous sodium bicarbonate then with water, the solvent removed and the residual oil distilled under reduced pressure to yield the *benzoate* b.p. 178° at 0.2 mm. after refractionation. Found: C, 70.9; H,6.4. C<sub>17</sub>H<sub>18</sub>O<sub>4</sub> requires C, 71.3; H, 6.3 per cent.

Other  $\alpha$ -esters were prepared similarly but solvent was omitted when a homogeneous mixture could be obtained on the steam bath.

The formate had b.p. 118° at 0·1 mm. The acetate, b.p. 124° at 0·2 mm. (n<sub>D</sub><sup>18</sup> 1·5112). The palmitate was a low melting solid, b.p. 215° at 0·1 mm. Found: C, 73·9; H, 10·3.  $C_{26}H_{44}O_4$  requires C, 74·2; H, 10·6 per cent. The phenylacetate had b.p. 176° at 0·1 mm. Found: C, 72·3; H, 6·8.  $C_{18}H_{20}O_4$  requires C, 72·0; H, 6·7 per cent. The furoate had b.p. 176° at 0·3 mm. Found: C, 65·2; H, 5·9.  $C_{15}H_{16}O_5$  requires C, 65·2; H, 5·8 per cent.

1-Carbamoyloxy-3-o-chlorophenoxypropan-2-ol. (a) The diol (39 g.) was dissolved in benzene (260 ml.) and a solution of phosgene (20.5g.) in benzene (190 ml.) added with stirring. The solution was left for 1 hour at room temperature and then treated with a solution of dimethylaniline (24 g.) in benzene (100 ml.) and allowed to stand overnight at room temperature. Ice-water (500 ml.) was added and the benzene layer separated. Evaporation of an aliquot furnished 4-o-chlorophenoxy-methyldioxol-2-one in shining plates, m.p. 109° to 110° after crystallisation from benzene-light petroleum (b.p. 60 to 80°). Found: C, 52-4; H, 4·3; Cl, 15·1. C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>9</sub>O<sub>4</sub>Cl requires C, 52·5; H, 4·0; Cl, 15·5 per cent.

(b) The rest of the benzene solution was cooled to 5°, stirred with ammonia solution (450 ml., d = 0.880) for 6 hours and saturated at intervals with ammonia gas. The *product* which separated had m.p. 96° to 98°, after crystallisation from benzene-light petroleum (b.p. 60° to 80°). Found: C, 49.0; H, 4.9; N, 6.0; Cl, 14.2. C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>12</sub>O<sub>4</sub>NCl requires C, 48.9; H, 4.9; N, 5.7; Cl, 14.5 per cent.

4-o-Methoxyphenoxymethyldioxol-2-one had m.p.  $70^{\circ}$  to  $71^{\circ}$  after crystallisation from aqueous methanol. Found: C, 59.1; H 5.5.  $C_{11}H_{12}O_5$  requires C, 58.9; H, 5.4 per cent.

3-o-Methoxyphenoxypropane-1,2-diol  $\alpha$ -monocarbamate separated from benzene-light petroleum (b.p. 60° to 80°) in needles, m.p. 95° to 97°. Found: C, 54·8; H, 6·2; N, 5·7. C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>15</sub>O<sub>5</sub>N requires C, 54·8; H, 6·3; N, 5·8 per cent. The dicarbamate had m.p. 163° to 165° (from ethanol). Found: N, 9·8. C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>6</sub>N<sub>2</sub> requires N, 9·9 per cent.

## V. PETROW, O. STEPHENSON AND A. M. WILD

2-Ethoxy-4-o-tolyloxymethyl-1,3-dioxolane. A mixture of mephenesin (45.5 g.) and ethyl orthoformate (56 g.) was warmed until homogeneous when toluene-p-sulphonic acid was added as catalyst. The mixture was heated on the steam bath for 30 minutes, ethanol being allowed to distil off. Excess of volatile material was removed under reduced pressure, the residue dissolved in chloroform, washed with dilute aqueous sodium iodide, dilute aqueous sodium bicarbonate then with water. After removal of the chloroform the residue was distilled under reduced pressure to yield the product (57 g.) as an oil, b.p. 102° at 0.5 mm. Found: C,  $65\cdot1$ ; H, 7.6.  $C_{13}H_{18}O_4$  requires C,  $65\cdot5$ ; H, 7.6 per cent.

4-Chloromethyl-2-ethoxy-1,3-dioxolane had b.p.  $40^{\circ}$  at 0.2 mm. Found : C, 42.8; H, 6.5; Cl, 21.5. C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>11</sub>O<sub>3</sub>Cl requires C, 43.2; H, 6.7; Cl, 21.3 per cent.

4-p-Chlorophenoxymethyl-2-ethoxy-1,3-dioxolane, prepared from 3-pchlorophenoxypropane-1,2-diol ("Chlorphenesin") (50.5 g.) and ethyl orthoformate (56 g.) using hydrogen chloride (2 g.) in ethanol (10 ml.) as catalyst, formed an oil, b.p. 120° at 0.4 mm. Found: C, 55.9; H, 5.7.  $C_{12}H_{15}O_4Cl$  requires C, 55.7; H, 5.9 per cent.

2-Ethoxy-4-0-methoxyphenoxymethyl-1,3-dioxolane, had b.p.  $128^{\circ}$  at 0.4 mm. Found: C, 61.5; H, 7.0.  $C_{13}H_{18}O_5$  requires C, 61.4; H, 7.1 per cent.

4-o-n-Butoxyphenoxymethyl-2-ethoxy-1,2-dioxolane had b.p.  $140^{\circ}$  at 0.2 mm. Found: C, 64.3; H, 8.1. C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>24</sub>O<sub>5</sub> requires C, 64.8; H, 8.2 per cent.

4-0-Tolyloxymethyl-1,3-dioxolane. To a mixture of mephenesin (45.5 g.) and paraformaldehyde (15 g.) in benzene (200 ml.) was added toluene-*p*-sulphonic acid and the solution heated in a Dean-Stark apparatus for 3 hours. The solution was washed with aqueous sodium bicarbonate then with water, the benzene distilled off and the residue distilled at reduced pressure to yield the *product* as an oil, b.p. 80° at 0.5 mm. Found : C, 68.5; H, 7.2.  $C_{11}H_{14}O_3$  requires C, 68.0; H, 7.3 per cent.

2-Methyl-4-o-tolyloxymethyl-1,3-dioxolane prepared by reaction of mephenesin with acetal using toluene-*p*-sulphonic acid as catalyst, had b.p.  $85^{\circ}$  at 0.4 mm. Found: C, 69.2; H, 7.6 C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>3</sub> requires C, 69.2; H, 7.8 per cent.

2-Chloromethyl-4-o-tolyloxymethyl-1,3-dioxolane formed a low melting solid, b.p. 114° at 0.5 mm. Found: C, 59.8; H, 6.1; Cl, 15.0.  $C_{12}H_{15}O_3Cl$  requires C, 59.4; H, 6.2; Cl, 14.6 per cent.

2-Dichloromethyl-4-o-tolyloxymethyl-1,3-dioxolane had b.p.  $130^{\circ}$  at 0.5 mm. Found: C, 52.3; H, 5.1; Cl, 25.1.  $C_{12}H_{14}O_3Cl_2$  requires C, 52.0; H, 5.1; Cl, 26.6 per cent.

2-Methyl-2-phenyl-4-o-tolyloxymethyl-1,3-dioxolane prepared by condensation of mephenesin with acetophenone in benzene solution using toluene-p-sulphonic acid as catalyst, was an oil b.p. 128° at 0.05 mm. Found: C, 76.2; H, 7.2.  $C_{18}H_{20}O_3$  requires C, 76.0; H, 7.1 per cent.

## SOME DERIVATIVES AND ANALOGUES OF MEPHENESIN

2-Carbamoyloxy-3-o-tolyloxypropyl chloride prepared by reaction of 2-hydroxy-3-o-tolyloxypropyl chloride with phosgene then with ammonia, had m.p. 87° to 89° after crystallisation from benzene-light petroleum (b.p. 60° to 80°). Found: C, 54·4; H, 5·7; N, 5·6; Cl, 14·7.  $C_{11}H_{14}O_3NCl$  requires C, 54·2; H, 5·8; N, 5·8; Cl, 14·6 per cent.

2-Carbamoyloxy-3-m-tolyloxypropyl chloride had m.p.  $91^{\circ}$  to  $94^{\circ}$  after crystallisation from benzene-light petroleum (b.p.  $60^{\circ}$  to  $80^{\circ}$ ). Found: C, 54.6; H, 5.6; N, 5.7; Cl, 14.5 per cent.

2-Carbamoyloxy-3-p-tolyloxypropyl chloride had m.p. 79° after crystallisation from benzene-light petroleum (b.p.  $60^{\circ}$  to  $80^{\circ}$ ). Found: C, 53.9; H, 5.3; N, 6.1; Cl, 14.7 per cent.

2-Carbamoyloxy-3-o-methoxyphenoxypropyl chloride had m.p.  $107^{\circ}$  to  $108^{\circ}$  after crystallisation from benzene-light petroleum (b.p.  $60^{\circ}$  to  $80^{\circ}$ ). Found: C, 51·2; H, 5·2; N, 5·2; Cl, 13·3. C<sub>11</sub>H<sub>14</sub>O<sub>4</sub>NCl requires C, 50·9; H, 5·4; N, 5·4; Cl, 13·7 per cent.

2-Carbamoyloxy-3-m-methoxyphenoxypropyl chloride, had m.p.  $80^{\circ}$  to  $82^{\circ}$  after crystallisation from aqueous methanol. Found: C,  $51\cdot3$ ; H,  $5\cdot4$ ; N,  $5\cdot1$ ; Cl,  $13\cdot7$  per cent.

2-Carbamoyloxy-3-o-chlorophenoxypropyl chloride, had m.p.  $79^{\circ}$  to  $80^{\circ}$  after crystallisation from benzene-light petroleum (b.p.  $60^{\circ}$  to  $80^{\circ}$ ). Found: C,  $45 \cdot 6$ ; H,  $4 \cdot 2$ ; N,  $5 \cdot 4$ ; Cl,  $26 \cdot 6$ .  $C_{10}H_{11}O_3NCl_2$  requires C,  $45 \cdot 4$ ; H,  $4 \cdot 2$ ; N,  $5 \cdot 3$ ; Cl,  $26 \cdot 9$  per cent.

2-Hydroxy-3-o-tolyloxypropyl fluoride. A mixture of 2-hydroxy-3-o-tolyloxypropyl chloride (100·3 g.) and potassium fluoride (44 g.) in ethane diol (100 ml.) was heated with stirring at 185° to 190° for 2 hours. The mixture was poured into water, the oil isolated with choroform and distilled under reduced pressure. The *product* obtained formed an oil b.p. 84° to 86° at 0·25 mm. Found: C, 65·5; H, 7·0.  $C_{10}H_{13}O_2F$  requires C, 65·2; H, 7·1 per cent. It formed a *phenylurethane*, m.p. 128° to 129° (needles from ethanol). Found: C, 66·9; H, 6·1; N, 4·8.  $C_{17}H_{18}O_3NF$  requires C, 67·3; H, 6·0; N, 4·6 per cent.

The *fluorohydrin* (18·4 g.) was dissolved in benzene (75 ml.) and a solution of phenazone (18·8 g.) in chloroform (30 ml.) added. A solution of phosgene (10 g.) in benzene (90 ml.) was added to the stirred solution which was left at room temperature overnight. The solid was collected and the filtrate cooled slightly and treated with a slight excess of ammonia gas. The *carbamate* which separated was purified by crystallisation from benzene-light petroleum (b.p. 60° to 80°). It had m.p. 80° to 82°. Found: C, 58·2; H, 6·2; N, 6·2.  $C_{11}H_{14}O_3NF$  requires C, 58·1; H, 6·2; N, 6·2 per cent.

3-o-Chlorophenoxy-2-hydroxypropyl fluoride had b.p.  $94^{\circ}$  at 0.2 mm. Found: C, 53·2; H, 5·2. C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>10</sub>O<sub>2</sub>ClF requires C, 52·8; H, 4·9 per cent. It formed a *phenylurethane* which separated from light petroleum (b.p. 80° to 100°) in needles, m.p. 102° to 103°. Found: C, 59·6; H, 4·9; N, 4·0. C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>15</sub>O<sub>3</sub>NClF requires C, 59·3; H, 4·7; N, 4·3 per cent.

#### V. PETROW, O. STEPHENSON AND A. M. WILD

3-t-Butoxy-2-hydroxypropyl chloride. t-Butanol (296 g.) containing stannic chloride (2 ml.) was stirred at room temperature and 2,3-epoxypropyl chloride (92.5 g.) added slowly over 25 minutes, slight watercooling being applied to control the exothermic reaction. The reaction was completed by heating at reflux temperature for 1 hour, and a slight excess of ammonia solution (d = 0.880) then added. The mixture was filtered to remove inorganic material, the filtrate concentrated and the residual oil distilled under reduced pressure to yield the product (81 per cent), b.p.  $36^{\circ}$  at 0.3 mm. Found: C, 50.4; H, 9.2; Cl, 21.0. C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>15</sub>O<sub>2</sub>Cl requires C, 50.4; H, 9.1; Cl ,21.3 per cent. When 3, 2 and 1.5 mole. equivs. of t-butanol were used in the reaction, yields of product were 74.4, 71.4 and 62.1 per cent respectively. A by-product, presumably 6-t-butoxy-1-chloro-5-chloromethyl-2-hydroxy-4-oxa-hexane, (Found: C, 46.6; H, 7.9; C., 28.3.  $C_{10}H_{20}O_{3}Cl_{2}$  requires C, 46.3; H, 7.8; Cl, 27.4 per cent) was isolated as an oil, b.p. 105° at 0.3 mm. in the experiments where smaller amounts of t-butanol were used. 3-t-Butoxy-2-hydroxypropyl chloride reacted with piperazine in ethanol containing an equivalent of potassium hydroxide to yield NN'-bis(3-t-butoxy-2hydroxypropyl) piperazine, which separated from light-petroleum (b.p.  $40^{\circ}$ to  $60^{\circ}$ ) in needles, m.p.  $91^{\circ}$  to  $92^{\circ}$ . Found C, 62.3; H, 10.8; N, 8.0.  $C_{18}H_{38}O_4N_2$  requires C, 62.4; H, 11.0; H, 8.1 per cent.

3-t-Butoxy-1-ethoxypropan-2-ol. The foregoing chlorohydrin (28 g.) was added to a solution of sodium (4.2 g.) in ethanol (100 ml.) and the mixture heated under reflux for 3 hours. The sodium chloride was removed, the filtrate concentrated and the *product* obtained as an oil, b.p. 38° at 0.15 mm. Found: C, 60.9; H, 11.1.  $C_9H_{20}O_3$  requires C, 61.3; H, 11.4 per cent.

1-t-Butoxy-3-o-methoxyphenoxypropan-2-ol was obtained in 66 per cent yield by condensation of 3-t-butoxy-2-hydroxypropyl chloride with the sodium salt of guaiacol in ethanolic solution. It formed an oil, b.p. 124° at 0.4 mm.,  $n_{p}^{18} - 1.5065$ . Found: 66-0; H, 8.8.  $C_{14}H_{22}O_{4}$  requires C, 66-1; H, 8.7 per cent.

3-t-Pentyloxy-2-hydroxypropyl chloride was obtained in 75 per cent yield as an oil, b.p.  $45^{\circ}$  at 0.1 mm. by condensation of 2,3-epoxypropyl chloride with t-pentyl alcohol (2.5 mole. equivs.) using stannic chloride as catalyst. Found: Cl, 20.2.  $C_8H_{17}O_2Cl$  requires Cl, 19.7; per cent.

1-Chloro-2-hydroxy-5,5-dimethyl-4-oxahept-6-yne, was prepared (70 per cent) by condensation of 2-methylbut-3-yn-2-ol (2.5 moles) with 2,3-epoxypropyl chloride using stannic chloride as catalyst. It formed an oil, b.p. 41° at 0.05 mm. Found: C, 54·3; H, 7·4; Cl, 20·5.  $C_8H_{13}O_2Cl$  requires C, 54·4; H, 7·4; Cl, 20·1 per cent. The compound yielded polymeric material on reaction with sodium methoxide in methanol.

3-Cyclohexyloxy-2-hydroxypropyl chloride  $(cf.^{1})$  was obtained (83 per cent) as an oil, b.p. 90° at 0.6 mm. by condensation of cyclohexanol (2 moles) with 2,3-epoxypropyl chloride employing stannic chloride as catalyst.
#### SOME DERIVATIVES AND ANALOGUES OF MEPHENESIN

3-Cyclohexyloxypropane-1,2-diol.—Sodium formate (25.5 g.) was added to a solution of the foregoing chlorohydrin (48.2 g.) in ethanediol (100 ml.) and the mixture heated under reflux for 3 hours, with stirring. The mixture was diluted with water, the oil isolated with chloroform and the product obtained in 75 per cent yield as an oil, b.p. 98° at 0.1 mm. Found: C,61.9; H, 10.2.  $C_9H_{18}O_3$  requires C, 62.0; H, 10.4 per cent.

3-Benzyloxy-2-hydroxypropyl chloride, obtained in 76 per cent yield as an oil, b.p. 104° at 0·1 mm. (Found: Cl, 17·6.  $C_{10}H_{13}O_2Cl$  requires Cl, 17·7 per cent) was converted into 3-benzyloxypropane-1,2-diol. (Found: C, 66·3; H, 8·2.  $C_{10}H_{14}O_3$  requires C, 65·9; H, 7·7 per cent), b.p. 120° at 0·2 mm., by hydrolysis with sodium formate in ethanediol.

1-Chloro-2-hydroxy-7-phenyl-4-oxahept-6-ene was obtained as an oil, b.p. 130° at 0.3 mm., by condensation of cinnamyl alcohol with 2,3epoxypropyl chloride and stannic chloride catalyst. Found: C, 63.4; H, 6.3; Cl, 15.9.  $C_{12}H_{15}O_2Cl$  requires C, 63.5; H, 6.7; Cl, 15.7 per cent.

2-(5-Chloro-4-hydroxy-2-oxapentyl)-5,6-benz-1,4-dioxan was obtained (62 per cent) by condensation of 2-hydroxymethyl-5,6-benz-1,4-dioxan with 2,3-epoxypropyl chloride in toluene using stannic chloride as catalyst. It formed an oil, b.p. 152° at 0.3 mm. Found : C, 56·1; H, 6·0; Cl, 14·1.  $C_{12}H_{15}O_4Cl$  requires C, 55·7; H, 5·8; Cl, 13·7 per cent. Its hydrolysis with sodium formate in ethanediol furnished 2-(4,5-dihydroxy-2-oxapentyl)-5,6-benz-1,4-dioxan (65 per cent) as an oil, b.p. 176° at 0.3 mm. Found : C, 59·8; H, 6·9.  $C_{12}H_{16}O_5$  requires C, 60·0; H, 6·7 per cent.

cis-2-Hydroxy-3-o-phenylcyclohexyloxypropyl chloride b.p. 126° at 0·1 mm. (Found: C, 66·8; H, 7·9; Cl, 13·1.  $C_{15}H_{21}O_2Cl$  requires C, 67·0; H, 7·9; Cl, 13·2 per cent) was formed (40 per cent) by condensation of cis-2-phenylcyclohexanol (2 moles) with 2,3-epoxypropyl chloride. A by-product from the reaction was 1-chloro-5-chloromethyl-2-hydroxy-6-o-phenylcyclohexyl-4-oxahexane an oil, b.p. 180° at 0·2 mm. Found: C, 60·3; H, 7·2; Cl, 19·4.  $C_{18}H_{26}O_3Cl_2$  requires C, 59·8; H, 7·3; Cl, 19·7 per cent.

Hydrolysis of the primary chlorohydrin with sodium formate-ethanediol yielded 3-o-*phenylcyclohexyloxypropane*-1,2-*diol*, b.p. 152° at 0.3 mm., in 78 per cent yield. Found: C, 71.9; H, 8.9.  $C_{15}H_{22}O_3$  requires C, 72.0; H, 8.9 per cent.

3-Methyl-7-o-tolyloxy-4-oxaheptane-2,6-diol prepared (70 per cent) by heating butane-2,3-diol (3 moles) with 3-o-tolyloxy-1,2-epoxypropane at 180° to 190° for 15 hours had b.p. 154° at 0.5 mm. Found: C, 65.9; H, 8.7.  $C_{14}H_{22}O_4$  requires C, 66.1; H, 8.7 per cent.

7-p-Chlorophenoxy-3-methyl-4-oxaheptane-2,6-diol, (71 per cent), had b.p. 158° at 0.2 mm. and m.p. 66° to 68° [from benzene-light petroleum (b.p. 60° to 80°)]. Found: C, 56.9; H, 6.7.  $C_{13}H_{19}O_4Cl$  requires C, 56.8; H, 7.0 per cent.

9-p-Chlorophenoxy-5-methyl-6-oxanonane-2,8-diol, an oil, b.p. 182° to 184° at 0.4 mm. was obtained (82 per cent) by reaction of hexane-2,5-diol (3 moles) with 3-*p*-chlorophenoxy-1,2-epoxypropane at 205° to 210° for 8 hours. Found: C, 59·1; H, 7·7; Cl, 11·6.  $C_{15}H_{23}O_4Cl$  requires C, 59·5; H, 7·7; Cl, 11·7 per cent.

9-p-Chlorophenoxy-5-methyl-6-oxanon-3-yne-2,6-diol, was obtained in poor yield as an oil, b.p. 184° to 188° at 0.4 mm., by condensation of 3-hexyne-2,5-diol with 3-p-chlorophenoxy-1,2-epoxypropane at 190° to 200° for 6 hours. Found: C, 59.7; H, 6.7; Cl, 12.3.  $C_{15}H_{19}O_4Cl$  requires C, 60.3; H, 6.4; Cl, 11.9 per cent.

1-o-Tolyloxypent-4-yn-2-ol. Acetylene was passed slowly into liquid ammonia (500 ml.) and sodium (11.5 g.) added in small portions with stirring. Stirring was continued for 30 minutes after the addition was complete when 1,2-epoxy-3-o-tolyloxypropane (62 g.) was added dropwise, the current of acetylene being maintained during the addition. Excess of ammonia was allowed to evaporate at room temperature, the residue was treated with iced-water then with a solution of tartaric acid (40 g.) in water, and the oil isolated with ether. The ether extracts were washed with aqueous sodium bicarbonate, then with water, the ether removed and the residual oil distilled under reduced pressure to yield a main fraction (47 g.) b.p.  $100^{\circ}$  at 0.5 mm. to  $120^{\circ}$  at 0.8 mm. This was purified in the following way. The oil (40 g.) was dissolved in ethanol (200 ml.) and treated with a solution of silver nitrate (40 g.) in water (100 ml.). The heavy white precipitate was collected and washed with 70 per cent ethanol. The salt was decomposed by the addition of a solution of sodium cyanide (40 g.) in water (200 ml.) and the resultant oil isolated and distilled as above to give the *product*, b.p.  $110^{\circ}$  at 0.6 mm. Found: C,75.6; H, 7.5.  $C_{12}H_{14}O_2$  requires C, 75.8; H, 7.4 per cent.

1-o-Chlorophenoxypent-4-yn-2-ol, had b.p.  $130^{\circ}$  at 2 mm. Found: Cl, 16.9.  $C_{11}H_{11}O_2Cl$  requires Cl, 16.9 per cent.

1,3-Dicarbamoyloxy-2-methylpentane had m.p. 113° after crystallisation from water. Found: C, 46.8; H, 7.7; N, 13.8.  $C_8H_{16}O_4N_2$  requires C, 47.0; H, 7.9; N, 13.7 per cent.

1,3-Dicarbamoyloxy-2-ethylhexane m.p. 114° (from water). Found: C, 51.6; H, 8.6; N, 12.0.  $C_{10}H_{20}O_4N_2$  requires C, 51.7; H, 8.7; N, 12.1 per cent.

1,2-Dicarbamoyloxyoctane m.p. 145° (from water). Found: C, 51·3; H, 8·5; N, 12·5.  $C_{10}H_{20}O_4N_2$  requires C, 51·7; H, 8·7; N, 12·1 per cent.

1,5-Dicarbamoyloxy-6-o-tolyloxy-3-oxahexane, prepared from the diol<sup>1</sup>, had m.p. 127° to 129° after crystallisation from aqueous ethanol. Found: C, 54·0; H, 6·3; N, 9·2.  $C_{14}H_{20}O_6N_2$  requires C, 53·8; H, 6·5; N, 9·0 per cent.

1,1-Bishydroxymethylcyclopentane. A solution of 1,1-bisethoxycarbonylcyclopentane (42.8 g.) in ether (50 ml.) was added dropwise with stirring to a solution of lithium aluminium hydride (10 g.) in ether (200 ml.). When the vigorous reaction had subsided, ether (150 ml.) was added to facilitate stirring. The mixture was cooled, decomposed by

#### SOME DERIVATIVES AND ANALOGUES OF MEPHENESIN

careful addition of dilute hydrochloric acid, the ether extract separated and the aqueous fraction saturated with salt and re-extracted with ether. The combined ether extracts were washed with saturated salt solution and dried with anhydrous sodium sulphate. After removal of the ether the *product* crystallised from benzene-light petroleum (b.p. 60° to 80°) in needles, m.p. 95° to 96°. Found: C, 64.9; H, 10.6. C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>14</sub>O<sub>2</sub> requires C, 64.6; H, 10.8 per cent. The diol formed a bis-*p*-nitrobenzoate which separated from benzene-light petroleum (b.p. 60° to 80°) in nodules, m.p. 163°. Found: C, 59.4; H, 5.0; N, 6.7. C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>20</sub>O<sub>8</sub>N<sub>2</sub> requires C, 58.9; H, 4.7; N, 6.5 per cent. The diol formed a *dicarbamate* which crystallised from aqueous ethanol in needles, m.p. 167°. Found: C, 49.8; H, 7.3; N, 12.0. C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>4</sub>N<sub>2</sub> requires C, 50.0; H, 7.5; N, 13.0 per cent.

4,4-Biscarbamoyloxymethylcyclohex-1-ene prepared from the diol<sup>9</sup> had m.p.  $104^{\circ}$  after crystallisation from water. Found: N, 12.4. C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>4</sub>N<sub>2</sub> requires N, 12.3 per cent.

4-Hydroxymethyl-4-methyloxazolid-2-one. A solution of 2-amino-2methylpropane-1,3-diol monohydrate (24.6 g.) in ethanol-benzene was concentrated to remove water. Ethyl carbonate (47.2 g.) was added followed by a solution of sodium ethoxide prepared from sodium (0.5 g.) in ethanol (10 ml.). The mixture was heated on the steam bath for 2 hours, water was added to clarify it and it was neutralised with acetic acid and solvent removed at reduced pressure. The residual solid crystallised from ethanol-benzene to yield the product (23 g.) in colourless prisms, m.p. 120°. Found: C, 45.8; H, 6.5; N, 10.7. C<sub>5</sub>H<sub>9</sub>O<sub>3</sub>N requires C, 45.8; H, 6.9; N, 10.7 per cent.

4-Carbamoyloxymethyl-4-methyloxazolid-2-one. A solution of phosgene (4 g.) in dioxan (80 ml.) was added in portions to a solution of the oxazolidone (5·2 g.) in dioxan (100 ml.). The mixture was allowed to stand overnight, heated to 50° for 1 hour then aspirated to remove excess of hydrogen chloride and phosgene. Treatment of the mixture with excess of ammonia gas furnished the *carbamate* which had m.p. 117° after crystallisation from ethyl acetate-light petroleum (b.p. 60° to 80°). Found: C, 41·5; H, 5·7; N, 16·3. C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>10</sub>O<sub>4</sub>N<sub>2</sub> requires C, 41·4; H, 5·8; N, 16·1 per cent.

1-o-Acetamidophenoxy-3-p-acetamidophenoxypropan-2-ol. A solution of p-acetamidophenol (7.55 g.) and 1,2-epoxy-3-o-acetamidophenoxypropane (10.35 g.) in ethanol (50 ml.) containing pyridine (3 drops) was heated under reflux for 8 hours. The product (14.8 g., 83 per cent) separated on cooling and had m.p. 178° after crystallisation from ethanol. Found: C, 64.0; H, 6.3; N, 8.2.  $C_{19}H_{22}O_5N_2$  requires C, 63.7; H, 6.2; N, 7.8 per cent. Hydrolysis of the foregoing compound (10 g.) in ethanol (10 ml.) containing conc. hydrochloric acid (20 ml.) for 3 hours under reflux furnished 1-o-aminophenoxy-3-p-aminophenoxypropan-2-ol dihydrochloride which separated from ethanol-ethyl acetate in nodules, m.p. 228° (decomp.). Found: C, 52.3; H, 5.7; N, 7.8; Cl, 19.8.  $C_{15}H_{20}O_3N_2Cl_2$  requires C, 51.8; H, 5.8; N,8.1; Cl, 20.4 per cent.

#### V. PETROW, O. STEPHENSON AND A. M. WILD

1-o-Aminophenoxy-3-o-tolyloxypropan-2-ol hydrochloride. A mixture of o-acetamidophenol (30.2 g.), 1,2-epoxy-3-o-tolyloxypropane (32.8 g.) and pyridine (5 drops) in ethanol (200 ml.) was heated under reflux for 10 hours. The mixture was concentrated to half bulk, conc. hydrochloric acid (40 ml.) added and heating continued for 2 hours. The product (60 g.) separated on cooling and crystallised from ethanol-ethyl acetate in needles, m.p. 181°. Found: C, 62·3; H, 6·5; N, 4·4. C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>20</sub>O<sub>3</sub>NCl requires C, 62.0; H, 6.5; N, 4.5 per cent. The same product was obtained by condensation of o-cresol with 3-o-acetamidophenoxy-1,2-epoxypropane followed by hydrolysis with aqueous-ethanolic hydrochloric acid.

1-o-Aminophenoxy-3-o-methoxyphenoxypropan-2-ol, separated from ethyl acetate-light petroleum (b.p. 60° to 80°) in needles, m.p. 103° to 104°. Found: C, 660; H, 66; N, 49. C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>19</sub>O<sub>4</sub>N requires C, 664; H, 66; N, 4.8 per cent. The hydrochloride crystallised from ethanol in needles m.p. 194° to 196°. Found: C, 58.9; H, 6.5; N, 4.2.  $C_{16}H_{20}O_4NCI$ requires C, 59.0; H, 6.2; N, 4.3 per cent.

#### References

- Petrow and Stephenson, J. Pharm. Pharmacol., 1955,7, 198. 1.
- Beasley, Petrow, Stephenson and Thomas, *ibid.*, 1957, 9, 10. Beasley, Petrow, Stephenson and Wild, *ibid.*, 1959, 11, 36. 2.
- 3.
- Dresel and Slater, *Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. N.Y.*, 1952, **79**, 286. Berger, *J. Pharmacol.*, 1952, **104**, 468. Ludwig and West, *J. Amer. chem. Soc.*, 1952, **74**, 4466. 4.
- 5.
- 6.
- 7. Stephenson, J. chem. Soc., 1954, 1571.
- Van Zyl, Zuidema, Zack and Kromann, J. Amer. chem. Soc., 1953, 75, 5002. 8.
- 9. Shortridge, Craig, Greenlee, Derfer and Boord, ibid., 1948, 70, 946.
- 10. 11.
- Okamoto, J. pharm. Soc. Japan, 1954, 74, 1152. Beasley, Petrow and Stephenson, J. Pharm. Pharmacol., 1958, 10, 47.

# THE PHARMACOLOGICAL PROPERTIES OF GLYCYRRHETINIC ACID HYDROGEN SUCCINATE (DISODIUM SALT)

#### BY R. S. H. FINNEY AND A. L. TÁRNOKY

# From the Department of Biology, Leicester College of Technology, and the Department of Pathology, Royal Berkshire Hospital, Reading

#### Received September 17, 1959

The anti-inflammatory activity, pharmacological properties and biochemical effects of the disodium salt of glycyrrhetinic acid hydrogen succinate have been tested in laboratory animals. Under the conditions of the tests this drug is an active anti-inflammatory agent of low toxicity, while its solubility in water renders it a more versatile drug than the parent compound, glycyrrhetinic acid.

In a previous paper Finney and Somers<sup>1</sup> demonstrated the anti-inflammatory activity of glycyrrhetinic acid and some of its derivatives in laboratory animals. The pharmacological properties of these compounds were subsequently described by Finney, Somers and Wilkinson<sup>2</sup>. The substances then available were sparingly soluble in body fluids, and it was suggested that this would limit the anti-inflammatory activity which, by the cotton pellet test<sup>3</sup>, was shown to be about one-eighth that of hydrocortisone by weight. Soluble derivatives of glycyrrhetinic acid have since been synthesised, and in this paper we describe our results with one of these, the disodium salt of glycyrrhetinic acid hydrogen succinate (GAHS-Na), a substance readily soluble in water.



A summary of part of this paper was read at a meeting of the British Pharmacological Society<sup>4</sup>; early results together with an indication of the clinical investigations now being undertaken have been the subject of a preliminary communication<sup>5</sup>.

#### EXPERIMENTAL

#### Material

GAHS has an equivalent weight of 285, m.p.  $315-7^{\circ}$  and specific rotation  $[\alpha]_{\rm D} + 128^{\circ}$  in chloroform (1 per cent). The disodium salt of GAHS (specific rotation  $(\alpha)_{\rm D} + 117^{\circ}$  in water (1 per cent) was prepared from the acid by Professor E. E. Turner, F.R.S., assisted by Mr. D. E. M. Wotton, and supplied to us through the courtesy of Dr. S. Gottfried of

# R. S. H. FINNEY AND A. L. TÁRNOKY

Biorex Laboratories Ltd. Hydrocortisone was used as a suspension in the form of commercial preparations of the acetates Cortelan (Glaxo) and Cortef (Upjohn) and hydrocortisone hemisuccinate (Biorex) as an aqueous solution.

#### Methods

The anti-inflammatory activity of GAHS-Na was determined in rats by the cotton pellet method of Meier, Schuler and Desaulles<sup>3</sup>, using hydrocortisone and its hemisuccinate for comparison. For the test, small cotton wool dental pellets, weighing about 5 mg., were weighed and then implanted under the skin of male Wistar rats weighing 150 to 200 g. one in the region of each groin and axilla. The rats were injected subcutaneously daily with the preparations under test for 5 days and killed on the sixth day. The pellets were removed, trimmed of extraneous tissue, dried in an oven at  $60^{\circ}$  and weighed again. The difference between the initial and final weight was taken as the amount of granulation tissue formed. The results were assessed statistically.

The acute toxicity of GAHS–Na was determined in albino mice weighing 20 g., by the oral, subcutaneous, intraperitoneal and intravenous routes. For all routes of administration, where possible, the regression of mortality per cent as probits on the logarithm of the dose was found and the LD50 and limits of error (P = 0.95) calculated by the method of Finney<sup>6</sup>.

The chronic toxicity of GAHS-Na was determined in weanling rats by the intraperitoneal and oral routes. In the first experiment one group of nine weanling rats was injected intraperitoneally with 2.5 mg. GAHS-Na twice weekly and the growth compared with a similar group of untreated controls. In the second experiment groups of eight weanling rats were injected subcutaneously or dosed orally with 25 mg. or 50 mg. GAHS-Na daily. The subcutaneous route had to be abandoned because of a necrotic action of GAHS-Na at the site of injection. This is reported more fully under local reactions. Histopathological examinations were made of the major organs and tissues.

Experiments were also made in cats which were given 500 mg. of GAHS-Na orally for 30 days.

Some indications of the absence of hepatotoxicity were obtained in two rabbits. They were injected daily with 2.5 mg./kg. intraperitoneally for 8 days and determinations made of the serum glutamic-oxaloacetic (S.G.O.T.) and glutamic-pyruvic (S.G.P.T.) transaminase by Dr. J. H. Wilkinson, using the spectrophotometric methods of Karmen, Wróblewski and LaDue<sup>7</sup> and of Wroblewski and LaDue<sup>8</sup> described by Pryse-Davies and Wilkinson<sup>9</sup>.

The local toxicity was studied in rats injected subcutaneously with GAHS-Na; specimens of the skin and surrounding tissues being taken for histological examination 24 hours after injection.

The pharmacodynamics of this compound were studied in anaesthetised cats and the effects of the drug on the intestine *in vitro* on the isolated duodenum of the rabbit, and *in vivo* by the charcoal meal test using mice. The renal effects of the compound were determined in rats previously given an oral dose of water (5 mg./100 g.) and in anaesthetised cats in which the bladder was cannulated. Determinations were made of the blood and the urine electrolyte levels by the methods described by Tárnoky<sup>10</sup> and blood levels of glycyrrhetinic acid by a modification of the method of Van Katwijk and Huis in't Veld as previously described<sup>2</sup>. The effect of GAHS-Na on blood glucose levels of rabbits was studied by means of colorimetric glucose estimations<sup>10</sup>.

The effect of GAHS-Na on the urinary excretion of neutral 17-ketosteroids were determined by the method of Norymberski, Stubbs and West<sup>11</sup>, and 17-hydroxycorticosteroids by that of Appleby, Gibson, Norymberski and Stubbs<sup>12</sup> on 24-hour urine specimens from rabbits.

The possibility of a haemolytic effect of GAHS-Na was investigated in three ways; by adding a drop of packed, washed human red blood cells from freshly taken normal blood to aqueous solutions of the drug, by allowing aqueous solutions to act on freshly taken normal whole blood in silicone-coated glass tubes at room temperature, and by repeating the second method at  $37^{\circ}$  with solutions of GAHS-Na in 20 per cent water: 80 per cent serum taken from the same donor on the day before the test.

#### RESULTS

# Anti-inflammatory Activity

GAHS-Na is seen to have a significant anti-inflammatory action in the cotton pellet test (Table I). The results show that a subcutaneous dose of 12.5 mg./200 g. rat was as effective as 5 mg. of hydrocortisone. The response was linearly related to the logarithm of the dose, a greater depression of granulation tissue being obtained with increasing doses of GAHS-Na (Fig. 1).

Treatment	No. of pellets	Granulation tissue mg.	Standard error mg.	Per cent of control	Significance to control
Controls	16	13.3	÷0·34	58.6	P - 0-005
Controls	16	9.8	$\pm 0.13$ $\pm 0.23$		
5.0 mg./day S.C	16	5.8	$\pm 0.17$	59·2	P = 0.001

TABLE ICotton pellet test in rat

Results of a quantitative comparison of GAHS–Na with hydrocortisone hemisuccinate are shown in Table II. This was determined by injecting subcutaneously groups of eight rats at ascending dose levels on a logarithmic scale with GAHS–Na or hydrocortisone hemisuccinate. One group was kept as an untreated control. The validity of the results and the relative potencies together with their limits of error (P + 0.95) were calculated by the method of Bliss and Marks<sup>13</sup> after Pugsley<sup>14</sup>. The results showed that GAHS–Na had 0.23 times the activity of hydrocortisone hemisuccinate, with limits of error 87.6 and 114 per cent. There was no significant deviation from parallelism.

R. S. H. FINNEY AND A. L. TÁRNOKY



FIG. 1. Regression of granulation tissue to doses of disodium salt of GAHS.

TABLE II

COMPARISON OF GAHS-Na AND HYDROCORTISONE HEMISUCCINATE BY COTTON PELLET METHOD

Treatment					Mean weight granulation tissue mg.	Mean weight as per cent control	
1.	Controls					11-4	
2.	GAHS-Na 4 mg.	• •		• •	• • •	9.4	80
3.	GAHS-Na 8 mg.					7.8	68·5
4.	GAHS-Na 16 mg.					5.9	51-5
5.	5. Hydrocortisone hemisuccinate 1 mg.					9-0	79
6.	<ol><li>Hydrocortisone hemisuccinate 2 mg.</li></ol>					7.6	66.5
7.	7. Hydrocortisone hemisuccinate 4 mg.				5.6	49-0	
	-			-			

# Toxicity

Acute. The acute toxicity was low. In mice, single oral and subcutaneous doses as high as 250 mg./kg. have been given without causing deaths. By the intraperitoneal route the LD50 was determined as 101 mg./kg.; limits of error, P = 0.95, 93 mg. to 111 mg./kg., and by the intravenous route 43 mg./kg. (38-49). Single doses of 16 mg./kg. have been injected intravenously into rabbits and single doses of 23 mg./kg. into anaesthetised cats without ill effects.

Chronic. Rats treated with GAHS-Na intraperitoneally increased in weight more quickly than the controls (Fig. 2). By the end of the twelfth week the mean weight of the treated rats was 194 g.  $(\pm 8.3)$  compared with 174 g.  $(\pm 5.1)$  for the controls. This increase in weight was probably caused by oedema, for the drug has an antidiuretic action, and D'Arcy and others<sup>15</sup> reported swelling of the face in rats chronically treated with glycyrrhetinic acid. Evidence of this was further obtained by injecting the controls with GAHS-Na from 12 weeks onwards, by which time their natural growth was slow; the controls then rapidly increased in weight so that at the end of the sixteenth week there was no significant difference between the weights of the two groups.





Rats treated orally with 25 mg. of GAHS-Na daily for 76 days increased in weight (106 g.) normally when compared with the untreated controls (99 g.). Daily injection of 50 mg. GAHS gave an initial loss of about 9 g. after 4 days and the animals then increased in weight (88 g. over 72 days) at the same rate as the controls (86 g. over 72 days). Two rats treated with 50 mg. GAHS-Na orally for 30 days were killed for pathological examination. The following organs were examined microscopically: lung, liver, spleen, stomach, small intestine, ovary, suprarenal, kidney and heart. Of these the gastrointestinal tract showed some shedding of the mucosal cells and there was evidence of kidney tubular damage. Cats were given 500 mg. orally for 30 days without apparent ill-effects.

Rabbits showed no significant increase in the glutamic-oxaloacetic (S.G.O.T.) or in the glutamic-pyruvic (S.G.P.T.) transaminase levels: after seven and eight days respectively S.G.O.T. levels rose from 13 and 10 to 17 and 18 spectrophotometric units; S.G.P.T. concentrations, initially 12 and 10 units, were unchanged at 10 units.

# Local Reactions

Subcutaneous injection of 1 ml. of a solution containing 25 mg./ml. of GAHS-Na was observed in rats to have a necrotic action at the site of the injection which increased with increasing concentration of the solution. It was not present with solutions containing 12.5 mg./ml. GAHS-Na. Histological sections of the skin of rats injected with 50 mg. GAHS-Na in 1 ml. of water showed a marked polymorph and monocyte infiltration and very widespread necrosis.

# R. S. H. FINNEY AND A. L. TÁRNOKY

#### Heart, Circulation and Autonomic Nervous System

GAHS-Na given intravenously had no observed untoward effect on the heart, circulation or autonomic nervous system. In anaesthetised cats doses up to 50 mg./kg. body weight have been given intravenously. These caused a transient fall in blood pressure followed by a complete recovery. Respiration was unaffected. There were no observed effects on the sympathetic and parasympathetic nerves, and the responses to acetylcholine, adrenaline and histamine were not appreciably affected.

#### Intestinal Effects

Like glycyrrhetinic acid<sup>2</sup>, GAHS–Na had little effect on the isolated intestine of the rabbit, a concentration as high as 20 mg. in a 20 ml. bath having no significant action on the normal tone or rhythmic contractions of the duodenum. There was a slight potentiation of the response to acetylcholine and depression of the response to histamine. The rate of transport of a charcoal meal in mice was unaffected by administration of 50 mg. GAHS–Na/kg. by mouth 30 minutes before the meal. The drug therefore has no effect on intestinal motility.

#### Action on the Kidney

A species variation was seen in the renal effects of GAHS-Na. In the rat given water an intraperitoneal injection of 60 mg./kg. had an antidiuretic action, and after 5 hours the total volume of urine produced was only 66 per cent of that of the controls. (Fig. 3.) There was also retention of sodium, 39 per cent of the control excretion, with, by contrast, only a slight fall in the potassium excretion (92 per cent of the controls). (Fig. 3.) The electrolyte figures here refer to the absolute amounts



Fig. 3. Effect of DOCA and GAHS-Na on the urine volume and electrolytes in the rat.

#### GLYCYRRHETINIC ACID HYDROGEN SUCCINATE

excreted. If referred to the rate of urine flow the decrease in potassium excretion becomes a relative rise. This action may be compared with deoxycortone (DOCA) where an intraperitoneal dose of  $250 \,\mu g./kg.$  caused little change in urine volume, a slight drop in sodium excretion (89 per cent of the controls) and an absolute rise in potassium excretion (117 per cent of the controls: Fig. 3).



FIG. 4. Effect of GAHS-Na on urine volume and electrolytes in the cat.

In the anaesthetised cat, a dose of GAHS–Na as high as 50 mg./kg. by the intravenous route caused only a slight reduction in urine flow (Fig. 4). The slight fall in the excretion of sodium and potassium would be expected from the reduction of urine flow. Analysis of the plasma showed a high level of the drug after 84 minutes (68  $\mu$ g./ml.), but little change in the plasma electrolytes.

# Steroid Excretion

A 4-day and a 31-day trial have been completed to date. Two rabbits were used for each experiment and given 25 mg. GAHS-Na intraperitoneally daily. This dose had no effect either on the daily urine volumes or on the 24-hour excretions of neutral 17-ketosteroids or of 17-hydroxy-corticosteriods, all of which merely showed random daily variation (Fig. 5). In the group of analyses performed on animals and man (70 hydroxy-steroid determinations in all) there has been no relation between corticoid output and urine volume, and it seems that the findings of Brown and Asher<sup>16</sup> do not apply to this heterogeneous group.



FIG. 5. Effect of GAHS-Na on urine volume and steroid excretion in a rabbit. ----- 17-ketosteroids. ---- 17-OH-corticosteroids.

#### Effect on Blood Sugar Levels

Repeated tests, in which 20 mg. GAHS–Na was given intravenously to fasting rabbits and to rabbits given 5 g. glucose 5 minutes before or 1 g. glucose 10 minutes after the GAHS–Na, failed to show any definite trend in blood glucose levels for 180 minutes compared with controls. The individual variation within the treated and control groups was too great for any conclusions to be drawn, though the likelihood of a marked effect on the glucose tolerance curve or on gluconeogenesis could be discounted.

#### Haemolytic and Anticoagulant Effects

The investigation of a possible haemolytic effect was prompted by the structural resemblance of glycyrrhetinic acid to the triterpenoid sapogenins. Observations on the effect on blood clotting and clot retraction were incidental findings.

When left at room temperature for 24 hours, solutions containing up to 0.4 mg. GAHS-Na/ml. normal saline had no haemolytic effect on washed packed red blood cells, though lysis appeared at this concentration at 48 hours. The results were the same when drug solutions were allowed to act on whole blood; here the highest concentration which did not cause haemolysis was 0.6 mg. GAHS-Na/ml., a result unchanged after further standing at room temperature and 48 hours incubation at  $37^{\circ}$ . This experiment was conducted in siliconised tubes. The drug concentration exceeded any expected blood levels. Incubation of a series of solutions in aqueous serum at  $37^{\circ}$ , again in silicone-coated tubes, showed no haemolytic effect at 4 mg. GAHS-Na/ml. after 5 hours, and at 1.5 mg/.ml. at

24 hours. GAHS-Na thus shows no sapogenin-like properties either in its speed of action or in the concentration required to produce lysis, and its osmotic haemolytic effect is low.

An anticoagulant effect was noted in the experiments on whole blood haemolysis, at concentrations of 5 mg. GAHS-Na/ml. This strength contains sufficient hydrogen succinate to react with all the calcium present in the serum and may thus act merely in the same way as the standard sodium or ammonium oxalate anticoagulant, though it is of interest that Klosa<sup>17</sup> attributes an anticoagulant activity to glycyrrhizin, which he puts at 20 per cent of the activity of dicoumarol presumably on the basis of onestage prothrombin times of treated animals, since the latter has no effect When whole-blood haemolysis was tested for at room temperain vitro. ture, GAHS-Na concentrations of 2.5 and 1.25 mg./ml. allowed clotting but prevented clot retraction. These findings, like those of lysis, are observed well above clinical levels of drug concentration.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Glycyrrhetinic acid hydrogen succinate as the disodium salt has been shown to have a powerful anti-inflammatory action in experimental conditions in rats. Assessed by the cotton pellet method it had 0.23 times the activity of hydrocortisone hemisuccinate. Its actue toxicity was low and it has been given intravenously in relatively high doses. Subcutaneously, when injected in high concentrations, the drug had a local necrotic effect. In rats it affected water and mineral metabolism but not in cats. It had no effect on the 17-ketosteroid or 17-hydroxycorticosteroid excretion in rabbits. The drug showed a slight haemolytic action in vitro at concentrations well above those injected clinically; at these high concentrations an anticoagulant effect also appeared. The results suggest that the disodium salt of glycyrrhetinic acid hydrogen succinate may be a valuable drug in the treatment of inflammatory conditions in man.

Acknowledgements. We should like to thank Professor E. E. Turner, F.R.S., of Bedford College, University of London, and Dr. S. Gottfried of Biorex Laboratories Ltd., London, E.C.1, for their advice, criticism and generous supply of materials; Dr. J. H. Wilkinson, Westminster Medical School. London, for his measurements of transaminase levels; Dr. E. H. Hemsted, Royal Berkshire Hospital, Reading, for his advice on the haemolysis experiments; and Mr. F. M. Sullivan of Guy's Hospital Medical School, London, for the histological reports.

#### REFERENCES

- Finney and Somers, J. Pharm. Pharmacol., 1958, 10, 613.
   Finney, Somers and Wilkinson, *ibid.*, 687.
   Meier, Schuler and Dessaulles, *Experientia*, 1950, 6, 469.
   Finney and Tárnoky, British Pharmacological Society, London Meeting, 1959.
   Brown, Christie, Colin-Jones, Finney, MacGregor, Morrison-Smith, Smith, Sullivan, Tárnoky, Turner, Wotton and Watkinson, *Lancet*, 1959, 2, 492.
   Finney, *Probit Analysis*, 2nd Edn., Cambridge University Press, London, 1955.
   Karmen, Wróblewski and LaDue, J. clin. Invest., 1955, 34, 126.

# R. S. H. FINNEY AND A. L. TÁRNOKY

- 8.
- 9.
- 10.
- 11.
- 12.
- 13.
- 14.
- Wróblewski and LaDue, Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N.Y., 1956, 91, 569. Pryse-Davies and Wilkinson, Lancet, 1958, 1, 1249. Tárnoky, Clinical Biochemical Methods, Hilger & Watts, London, 1958. Norymberski, Stubbs and West, Lancet, 1953, 1, 1276. Appleby, Gibson, Norymberski and Stubbs, Biochem. J., 1955, 60, 453. Bliss and Marks, J. Pharm. Pharmacol., 1939, 12, 182. Pugsley, Endocrinology, 1946, 39, 161. D'Arcy, Kellett and Somers, British Pharmacological Society, Oxford Meeting, 1957 15. 1957.
- Brown and Asher, Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N.Y., 1958, 99, 642.
   Klosa, Pharmazeut. Z., 1957, 102, 946.

# A NOTE ON THE REACTION OF MERCURIC CHLORIDE WITH BACTERIAL -SH GROUPS

# BY K. J. STEEL\*

#### From the Department of Pharmaceutics, School of Pharmacy, University of London, Brunswick Square, London, W.C.1 Received October 14, 1959

A linear relation is obtained when the logarithm of the number of organisms (*E. coli*) in inocula is plotted against the logarithm of the quantity of mercuric chloride theoretically necessary to produce bacteriostasis, expressed as a percentage of that practically required. No direct relation exists between the number of organisms and the amount of mercuric chloride necessary to produce bacteriostasis. Mercuric chloride is non-specific in its reaction with bacterial sulphydryl groups. Cells of *E. coli* contain about 10<sup>8</sup> –SH groups per cell.

COOK and Steel<sup>1</sup> showed that the amount of mercuric chloride necessary to produce bacteriostasis of *Escherichia coli* increased with an increase in the number of organisms in the inoculum. It was not possible to obtain a relation between these two variables, although in some cases a semilogarithmic relation was apparent. Using *Aerobacter aerogenes*, Poole and Hinshelwood<sup>2</sup> demonstrated that for a given inoculum size there was a critical concentration of mercuric chloride above which no growth occurred.

It is now recognised that the antibacterial action of mercury compounds is due to their interference with essential sulphydryl groups of the organism. Attempts were made to compare the amounts of mercuric chloride which theoretically combine with the sulphydryl groups of bacteria, and the amounts which are practically necessary for bacteriostasis.

It is possible to calculate the amount of mercuric chloride utilised in producing bacteriostasis if the following assumptions are made: (i) mercuric chloride acts by combining with sulphydryl groups, 1 molecule of mercuric chloride combining with 2 sulphydryl groups; (ii) each cell of *E. coli* contains 10<sup>8</sup> sulphydryl groups. McCalla<sup>3</sup> calculated there were 10<sup>8</sup> cation adsorption sites on a cell of this organism; Loureiro and Lito<sup>4</sup> reported *Salmonella typhi* and *Staphylococcus aureus* to contain this number of sulphydryl groups per cell and believed this value was applicable to other organisms.

# EXPERIMENTAL

*Materials.* The test organism, *Escherichia coli* type I, the media, peptone agar and peptone water, and the dropping needles were as previously described<sup>5</sup>.

*Methods.* The liquid dilution method for determining the bacteriostatic value of mercuric chloride was carried out as previously described<sup>5</sup> using inocula containing varying number of organisms. Viable counts were made by the surface-viable technique.

\* Present address: National Collection of Type Cultures, Central Public Health Laboratory, Colindale Avenue, London, N.W.9.

# K. J. STEEL

From the bacteriostatic concentrations of mercuric chloride and the numbers of organisms in the inocula, data such as that shown in Table I were calculated. The value of  $6.02 \times 10^{23}$  was used as Avogadro's Number. By plotting the logarithms of the numbers of organisms in the inocula against the logarithms of the percentages of mercuric chloride utilised (Fig. 1) an approximately linear relation was obtained.



FIG. 1. Graph relating the inoculum size of *E. coli* with the theoretical amount of mercuric chloride utilised for bacteriostasis.

	TA	BL	Æ	Ι
--	----	----	---	---

Calculation of the percentage of mercuric chloride "utilised" in producing bacteriostasis

Total number of organisms in the inoculum	Total number of -SH groups in the inoculum	Equivalent number of molecules of HgCl <sub>3</sub> required	B'static concn. of HgCl <sub>2</sub> in micromoles	Total number of HgCl, molecules (× 10 <sup>17</sup> )	Excess molecules of HgCl <sub>1</sub> (× 10 <sup>17</sup> )	Per cent of HgCl <sub>s</sub> theoretically utilised
$ \frac{3.62 \times 10^{7}}{9.25 \times 10^{5}} \\ \frac{4.1 \times 10^{2}}{10^{2}} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 3.62 \times 10^{13} \\ 9.25 \times 10^{13} \\ 4.1 \times 10^{10} \end{array} $	$ \frac{1.81 \times 10^{15}}{4.62 \times 10^{13}} \\ 2.05 \times 10^{10} $	0-800 0-525 0-310	4-816 3-1605 1-8662	4·7979 3·16004 1·86619	0·376 0·0146 0·000011

Attempts to confirm the quoted sulphydryl content of cells of the test organism were made. Washed aqueous suspensions of *E. coli* were prepared from 24-hour slope cultures on peptone agar. The viable count of a portion of the suspension was determined and the remainder was used for the sulphydryl estimations. By titration of the suspension with potassium iodate in acid conditions, the mean value obtained for the sulphydryl content was  $1.67 \times 10^7$  -SH radicals per cell. Similar values were obtained when the suspension was titrated with mercuric chloride

#### MERCURIC CHLORIDE AND BACTERIAL -SH GROUPS

solution, using diphenylcarbazone as the indicator. Further determinations were made using 0.001M sodium p-chloromercuribenzoate and diphenylcarbazone as the indicator. This method gave a mean value. with standard deviation, of  $1.14 + 0.28 \times 10^8$  –SH radicals per cell.

#### DISCUSSION

Figure 1 shows that the amount of mercuric chloride combining with the -SH groups of the bacteria is very small in comparison with the total amount of bacteriostat in the system. From these results it is assumed that most of the mercuric chloride present in these systems probably enters into combination with constituents of the medium or other molecules of the cells. However, it might be argued that a constant amount of the mercuric salt would combine with the media constituents. Such results do not necessarily indicate that the action of mercuric chloride is not on sulphydryl groups but rather that mercuric chloride is not a specific sulphydryl reactant. This view was held by Haarman<sup>6</sup> who considered mercuric chloride combined with some -COOH and -NH<sub>2</sub> groups of proteins, but no definite conclusions can be reached in this matter until further work on the availability of sulphydryl, amino and possibly other groupings in the medium, which could combine with the mercuric chloride, has been carried out. Extension of these investigations to more specific mercuric compounds might provide more valuable information.

The much higher values obtained for the sulphydryl content of cells of E. coli when p-chloromercuribenzoate was used suggest that many of the sulphydryl groups present in the cells were not capable of reacting with mercuric chloride or of being oxidised by potassium iodate under the conditions used. This may be due to stereochemical factors such that they were masked by other groups, hidden in the folding and co-ordination of the peptide chains or were in close proximity to groups capable of combining with the reactants. Further possibilities are the failure of reactions to occur, or be detected, with the low concentrations of reactants and the poor sensitivity of the indicators. The advantages of using p-chloromercuribenzoate for the determination of sulphydryl groups has been discussed by Olcott and Fraenkel-Conrat<sup>7</sup>.

#### REFERENCES

- Cook and Steel, J. Pharm. Pharmacol., 1959, 11, 729. 1.
- Poole and Hinshelwood, J. chem. Soc., 1940, 1565.
   McCalla, J. Bact., 1940, 40, 23.
- Loureiro and Lito, J. Hyg., Camb., 1946, 44, 463.
   Cook and Steel, J. Pharm. Pharmacol., 1959, 11, 666.

- Haarman, Bicchem. Z., 1943, 314, 18.
   Olcott and Fraenkel-Conrat, Chem. Rev., 1947, 41, 151.

# THE PHENOLIC ACIDS OF URINE—A STUDY OF METHYLATION

# By S. L. Tompsett

#### From the Biochemical Laboratory, Northern General Hospital, Edinburgh, Scotland

#### Received September 22, 1959

Normal human urine contains methanol largely as methoxylated compounds; a small quantity of free methanol is also present. The methoxylated compounds exist partly as ether-soluble compounds, for example methylated phenolic acids, and partly as methoxylated compounds not extracted by ether from acid solution. The latter may be related chemically to quercitrin. Feeding experiments suggest that 3,4-dihydroxyphenolic substances are largely methylated while with other phenolic substances methylation is minimal.

THE present communication is an extension of previous studies.<sup>1,2</sup>. It has been shown that, in man tannic and 3,4-dihydroxybenzoic acids are largely methylated to 4-hydroxy-3-methoxy derivatives. The present paper is concerned with an examination of the nature, in very general terms, of methoxy compounds in human urine and also of the extent to which phenols and phenolic acids, other than those with an *ortho* dihydroxy structure, are methylated.

#### METHODS

The general principles of the techniques employed have been described<sup>2</sup>. The following fractions have been determined.

(a) Free methanol. 10 ml. of urine diluted to 15 ml. with water was heated to boiling in a 100 ml. R.B. flask attached to a water cooled condenser and 10 ml. of distillate collected.

(b) Methanol liberated by the action of hot strong sulphuric acid on methoxylated compounds present in untreated urine. Into a 100 ml. R.B. flask attached to a water cooled condenser (all glass equipment) were introduced 10 ml. of urine and 5 ml. of concentrated sulphuric acid. The mixture was heated to boiling and the distillate collected. Heating was continued until the sulphuric acid reached the fuming stage after which the mixture was allowed to cool. After the addition of 5 ml. of water, the mixture was again heated, the sulphuric acid being allowed to reach the fuming stage. This part of the procedure was repeated, so that three distillates in all were collected. A knife point of sodium bicarbonate was added to the combined distillates. The mixture was heated in apparatus similar to that described above and 10 ml. of distillate collected.

(c) Methanol liberated by the action of hot strong sulphuric acid on the acidic fraction of urine. 10 ml. of urine and 1 ml. of 10N hydrochloric acid in a test tube were heated in a boiling water bath for 1 hour. After cooling, the urine was extracted three times with 40 ml. quantities of redistilled ether. The combined ether extracts were evaporated to dryness.

#### PHENOLIC ACIDS OF URINE

10 ml. of water and 5 ml. of concentrated sulphuric acid were added to the residue, the procedure as described in (b) being then carried out.

Methanol was determined in the distillate<sup>2</sup>.

# RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The results obtained from the examination of 10 urines are shown in Table I.

#### TABLE I

Free "methanol" and methoxylated compounds in human urine as Mg. of  ${\tt methanol/day}$ 

		Methoxy con	pounds		
	Free "methanol"	ree "methanol" Untreated urine (b)		Phenolic and acidic fraction (c)	
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10	6.4 9-1 1.3 4.6 4.8 7.2 8.2 4.6 3.8 4.2	33·2 26·6 63·0 28·4 38·6 18·8 46·8 23·6 38·4 28·6	20-0 15-9 25-0 18-6 28-4 11-6 31-8 18-4 31-2 18-2	(100) (80) (125) (93) (142) (58) (159) (92) (156) (91)	

The figures in brackets refer to the vanillic acid (4-hydroxy-3-methoxybenzoic acid) equivalents

Normal human urine contains a small amount of free methanol. The values are about the same as those obtained by Leaf and Zatman<sup>3</sup>. The origin of urinary methanol is obscure but it may be derived from the *in vivo* hydrolysis of methoxy compounds. Leaf and Zatman found that

#### TABLE II

The urinary excretion of methoxy compounds (mg. of methanol/8 hours) after the oral ingestion of 1 g. of some phenolic and related compounds

			Methoxy compounds Phenolic and acidic fraction		
Compound			After compound	Control	
Salicylic acid Salicylic acid Salicylic acid m-Hydroxybenzoic acid m-Hydroxybenzoic acid p-Hydroxybenzoic acid p-Hydroxybenzoic acid g-Hydroxybenzoic acid 3,4 Dihydroxybenzoic acid 3,4 Dihydroxybenzoic acid 3,4 Dihydroxybenzoic acid	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	10.3 9.8 8.7 11.2 10.4 8.6 12.4 11.8 8.6 24.8 29.8 26.8	5-1 4-8 4-6 6-3 5-8 5-5 5-6 4-9 4-9 5-1 4-6	

the percentage recovery from urine of orally administered methanol was extremely low, which suggests that appreciable quantities of methanol may be metabolised. Normal urine appears to contain methylated phenolic acids and also methoxylated substances which are not readily extracted by ether from acid solution. Although the metabolites of adrenaline

#### S. L. TOMPSETT

are methoxylated compounds<sup>4,5</sup>, the methoxylated compounds encountered in urine are probably mainly of dietary origin. The ether insoluble compounds are probably related chemically to quercitrin.

The urinary excretion of methoxylated compounds after the oral administration of some phenolic substances was studied. The night urine (8 hours) was used to minimise the effect of dietary intake. The results are shown in Table II. Methylation of o-, m- and p-hydroxybenzoic acids and resorcinol does appear to take place but not on the same scale as occurs with the 3,4-dihydroxyphenolic acids.

Substances containing a catecholic structure, for example, tannic acid, are widely consumed by man, and as a result are assumed to be non-toxic. There are, however, reports of liver damage<sup>1</sup>, and hepatoma<sup>6</sup> by tannic acid. The position is therefore anomalous.

#### REFERENCES

- Tompsett, J. Pharm. Pharmacol., 1958, 10, 157.
   Tompsett, *ibid.*, 1959, 11, 32.
   Lead and Zatman, Brit. J. industr. Med., 1952, 9, 19.
- Armstrong, McMillan and Shaw, Biochem. Biophys. Acta., 1957, 25, 422.
   Kirschner, Goodall and Rosen, Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N.Y., 1958, 98, 627.
   Korpassy and Mosanyi, Brit. J. Cancer, 1950, 4, 411.